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THIS ANNOUNCEMENT IS NOT FOR RELEASE, PUBLICATION OR DISTRIBUTION 
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JAPAN 

 
19 March 2012 
 
 

AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC 
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011 

  
 

 
AFI Development PLC (ñAFI Developmentò or the ñCompanyò), a leading real estate company focused 
on developing property in Russia and the CIS, has today announced its preliminary audited financial 
results for the year ended 31 December 2011.  
 
Financial Highlights:  

¶ Revenues for the year 2011, including net proceeds from the sale of trading properties, 
increased by 79% year-on-year to US$134 million driven by higher rental income. The 
contribution of AFIMALL City was US$65 million. Revaluation gain (before tax)  in 2011 was 
US$269 million, compared to US$76 million in 2010. The revaluation gain was mainly driven 
by the launch of AFIMALL City shopping mall operations, the acquisition of the 25% stake in 
AFIMALL as well as general improvement in the Moscow real estate and investments markets 
during the year.  

¶ Net profit for the year 2011 was US$172 million compared to US$26 million in 2010, driven by 
revaluations and increased rental activity which resulted in US$45 million NOI, representing a 
78% increase compared to 2010 .Strong cash position with US$84.8 million in cash and cash 
equivalents as at 31 December 2011. 

¶ Asset Value, based on the valuation of our projects portfolio independently verified by Jones 
Lang LaSalle LLC, is US$2.68 billion as at 31 December 2011, up 25% from US$2.15 billion 
as at 31 December 2010.  

¶ Net Asset Value (after taking into account portfolio valuation and project level loans and 
excluding cash and other assets and liabilities) is US$1.9 billion as at 31 December 2011, up 
8% from US$1.7 billion as at December 2010. 

¶ During 2011 the Company received US$ 49 million VAT reimbursements from the Russian 
tax authorities on VAT previously incurred during project construction. 

 
Operational Highlights: 

¶ AFIMALL City became fully operational following the "grand opening" on 22 May 2011 . On 
December 2011 the average daily footfall in the mall already reached 30,000.  During 2011  
the Company consolidated full control of the centre, following acquisition of the 25% stake of 
the City of Moscow and acquisition of 2,700 parking spaces under the centre. The company is 
currently negotiation the disposition of 665 parking spaces to VTB.  

 

¶ Significant progress was made on the Tverskaya projects in the form of an agreement with 
the City on the compensation mechanism for the termination of the Tverskaya Zastava 
shopping centre. Under a non-binding agreement, the City of Moscow will re-approve and 
renew the Companyôs development rights and leasehold interests in land plots at the Plaza Ic 
(part of Plaza I), Plaza IIa and Plaza IV projects (which were subject to termination at the end 
of 2011) with a total gross buildable area of approximately 170,000 sq. m. In addition, the City 
will not charge AFI Development municipal development rights costs of approximately US $95 
million, which the Company had expected to pay in the course of the initial construction. The 
City of Moscow has also confirmed that the land plots can be developed as office space.  

 
Based on the Jones Lang LaSalle LLC, valuation report as at 31 December 2011, this 
settlement represents full compensation for the book value of Tverskaya Zastava shopping 
centre project. 
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¶ Significant progress was made on the Ozerkovskaya Embankment III project (Class A office 
buildings located within the Garden ring with a total GBA of 78,700 sq.m), which is very close 
to construction completion. The Company started to market the project to potential tenants 
and end users, planning to dispose of it in full or in part and/or lease it to high quality tenants. 

 

¶ On 16 August 2011 the Company announced that, together with its partner, ZAO Snegiri 
Development, it had successfully refinanced the existing loan facility at its 4 Winds project 
with Nordea Bank. Under the refinancing terms, the existing MDM Bank credit line of US$ 143 
million was refinanced with a US$170 million facility reducing the interest rate by 5.5%, 
compared to the previous 10.5% rate at MDM bank. The transaction will strengthen the 
Company cash flows from this project and improve its equity position.  
The transaction demonstrates the growing confidence of the international finance community 
in Russian real estate and proves the Company's ability to achieve the best possible financing 
terms for its projects. 
 

¶ As announced on 23 March 2011, the Paveletskaya office complex was completed and 
leased to a single tenant, ZAO GREENATOM, a subsidiary of the State Atomic Energy 
Corporation ROSATOM. With a total lettable area of 13,500 sqm, the Paveletskaya complex 
is expected to yield a stabilised NOI of approximately US$3.8 million (excluding VAT). 

 
 
Key highlights since financial year end: 

¶ On 22 February, 2012, the Company announced that its subsidiary Bellgate Construction Ltd 
("Bellgate") has obtained a loan facility from VTB Bank OJSC to finance Bellgate's recent 
acquisition of the parking area under AFIMALL City (this acquisition was announced on 16 
December 2011). 

¶ In February 2012 the Company received a US$21 million VAT reimbursement from the 
Russian tax authorities on VAT incurred during the 25% acquisition of AFIMALL City which 
was recorded as a revaluation profit (before tax) in Q4 2011.  

¶ On 2 March, 2012, the Company announced that Bellgate had successfully registered the 
mortgage related to the loans provided by VTB Bank OJSC over the premises of AFIMALL 
City (excluding the parking). Under the existing loan facility agreements with VTB Bank 
OJSC, registration of the mortgage triggers an immediate decrease of about 2% in the 
interest rates charged on loans taken out on the Mall and its parking (terms of very significant 
bank loans are disclosed in Annex B to Management Discussion and Analysis). 

¶ In March 2012 the Company completed the disposal of the Ozerkovskaya Phase IV project 
for a total consideration of US$6 million (before minor adjustment for completion balance 
sheet accounts). The project consists of freehold title to an office building with a total area of 
1,864.3 sq.m. and leasehold rights to underlying land plot, located at 3, Ozerkovsky Lane, 
Moscow.  

 
Commenting on today's announcement, Lev Leviev, Chairman of AFI Development, said: 
 
ñThe year 2011 was one of significant achievements for AFI Development. The "grand opening" of our 
flagship project, the AFIMALL City shopping centre, in May was followed by the acquisition of a 25% 
share held by the City of Moscow in this project in September and by the acquisition of parking space 
under the mall in December. Obtaining full control over AFIMALL City and its parking space enables 
us to meet our goal of creating the best retail centre in Russia, unrivalled in the quality of service and 
customer experience. 
 
During 2011 we made significant progress on our Ozerkovskaya III office project in central Moscow, 
enabling us to complete construction and start operations in the first half of 2012. Ozerkovskaya III is 
one of the few class A office complexes currently available in central parts of the city and we are 
experiencing significant demand from potential tenants and end-users both for sale and lease of this 
complex. Its favourable location combined with high construction and fit-out quality make it a highly 
demanded product on the growing Moscow office market.  
 
During this year our negotiations with the City of Moscow on the Tverskaya Zastava area reached a 
very favourable result. AFI Development has achieved a green light for new office construction in 
central Moscow at a time when the City's policy is not to allow new office construction in the area. The 
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Company has also received full compensation from the City of Moscow for the Cityôs decision to 
terminate the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project.  
 
We look forward to 2012 with confidence. The Moscow real estate and financial markets have fully 
recovered from the financial crisis of 2008 and 2009 and demonstrate strong growth trends in terms of 
commercial rents, prices for residential space, investment properties values and available financing. 
We expect AFIMALL City to reach its full footfall and turnover capacity towards the end of the year, 
while the parking facility is expected to become operational in phases throughout 2012.  We also 
expect to lease or partially sell our Ozerkovskaya III complex during 2012. Focusing on optimisation 
and operational profitability of AFIMALL City and Ozerkovskaya III, we plan to selectively activate new 
projects within our pipeline while maintaining a positive cash flow. We also plan to restructure our 
major development loans to investment loans on favourable terms. We believe AFI Development will 
retain its leadership positions on the Moscow real estate market and will continue to deliver value to 
shareholders.ò 
 
For further information, please contact: 
 
AFI Development        +7 495 796 9988 
Alexander Adadurov 
Ilya Kutnov 
 
Citigate Dewe Rogerson, London                                                                       +44 20 7638 9571 
David Westover  
Sean Bride 
 
About AFI Development 
 
AFI Development is one of the leading real estate development companies operating in Russia. 
Established in 2001, AFI Development is a publicly traded subsidiary of Africa Israel Investments Ltd.  
 
AFI Development is listed on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange and aims to deliver 
shareholder value through a commitment to innovation and continuous project development, coupled 
with the highest standards of design, construction, and quality and customer service. 
 
AFI Development focuses on developing and redeveloping high quality commercial and residential 
real estate assets across Russia, with Moscow being itsô main market. The Companyôs existing 
portfolio comprises commercial projects focused on offices, shopping centers, hotels and mixed-use 
properties, and residential projects. AFI Developmentôs strategy is to sell the residential properties it 
develops and to either lease the commercial properties or sell them for a favorable return. 
 
AFI Development is a leading force in urban regeneration, breathing new life into city squares and 
neighborhoods and transforming congested and underdeveloped areas into thriving new 
communities. The Companyôs long-term, large-scale regeneration and city infrastructure projects 
establish the necessary groundwork for the successful launch of commercial and residential 
properties, providing a strong base for future.  
 
 
Forward-looking Statements 

This document and the documents following may contain certain ñforward-looking statementsò with 
respect to the Companyôs financial condition, results of operations and business, and certain of the 
Companyôs plans and objectives with respect to these items. 

Forward-looking statements are sometimes, but not always, identified by their use of a date in the 
future or such words as ñanticipatesò, ñaimsò, ñdueò, ñcouldò, ñmayò, ñshouldò, ñexpectsò, ñbelievesò, 
ñintendsò, ñplansò, ñtargetsò, ñgoalò or ñestimates.ò By their very nature forward-looking statements are 
inherently unpredictable, speculative and involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events 
and depend on circumstances that will occur in the future. 

There are a number of factors that could cause actual results and developments to differ materially 
from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are 
not limited to, changes in the economies and markets in which the Company operates; changes in the 
regulatory and competition frameworks in which the Company operates; changes in the markets from 



4 
 

which the Company raises finance; the impact of legal or other proceedings against or which affect 
the Company; and changes in interest and exchange rates. 

Any written or verbal forward-looking statements, made in this document or made subsequently, 
which are attributable to the Company or persons acting on their behalf are expressly qualified in their 
entirety by the factors referred to above. The Company does not intend to update any forward-looking 
statements.  
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Chairman and Executive Directorôs Joint Statement 
 
 
2011 was a very important year for AFI Development. Our flagship project, AFIMALL City shopping 
centre opened its doors to customers in the first half of the year, while in the second half we 
completed the acquisition of the 25% City share and acquired the underground parking space. 
AFIMALL City has solidified our companyôs presence in the heart of Moscow and we are very pleased 
that footfall in AFIMALL City has continued to improve. We remain on track to reach our target for full 
footfall and turnover capacity by the end of 2012.  
 
We also made significant progress on the development of our Ozerkovskaya III office project and on 
Kalinina hotel. This is further evidence of our ability to progress projects across the breadth of our 
portfolio. Confirmation that land plots on the Tverskaya project can be developed as office space, at a 
time when the Cityôs policy is not to allow new office construction in the area presents a considerable 
opportunity for AFI Development. This is another example of a project with a strong position in the 
Moscow market and shows how AFI Development is able to benefit from demand for properties that 
remain in short supply. 
 
The recovery of the Moscow property market continued into 2011 as Russian GDP increased by 4.3% 
and inflation fell to 6.1%

1
. The recovery of the Russian economy has had a direct influence on the 

Moscow property market and rental levels have continued to rise. Rents for retail properties increased 
by 15% in 2011 and prime office rents increased by 33% year-on-year to reach 1,200 US$ / annum / 
sq. m in the final quarter of 2011. Prime yields decreased to 9%. Growth in credit and an improving 
labour market have had a positive influence on activity in Moscow shopping centres and a 
combination of growing retail sales and a lack of supply continued to push rental rates upwards, while 
keeping downward pressure on vacancy

2
. At the same time, domestic and international real estate 

investors showed more interest in the Moscow and other Russian real estate markets. 
 
Our financial performance reflects the success of our initiatives during 2011. The Company's revenue 
increased by 79% to US$134 million and the net profit for 2011 was US$172 million. With a strong 
cash position of approximately US$85 million at the year-end and the recovery in the real estate 
sector reflected in a 8% increase of Net Asset Value we are well positioned for the coming year. 
 
AFI Development is well placed among Russian developers, with its ability to realise major projects in 
the heart of Moscow. In 2010, we obtained a Premium Listing for the Company on the London Stock 
Exchange, becoming the only company focused on Russian real estate development to have such a 
listing. During 2011 AFI Development made significant progress in corporate governance by 
addressing all outstanding compliance issues and is now fully compliant with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.  
 
As part of our commitment to strengthen our corporate governance, we have significantly 
strengthened our internal controls and procedures for risk management. We have appointed 
dedicated corporate governance and internal control personnel, implemented internal controls and 
internal audit processes and improved the general quality of management and supervision across the 
AFI Development group.  
 
Strategic Update 
 
Managementôs priority is to generate a return for shareholders through the development of Moscow 
real estate projects. Our key strategic goal remains ensuring the highest efficiency of the AFIMALL 
City operations. An intensive marketing campaign is beginning to generate results and we expect to 
significantly increase footfall to the mall. While our focus is the optimization and operational 
profitability of AFIMALL City and Ozerkovskaya III, we are in a position to activate new projects in our 
pipeline on a selective basis that will enable us to maintain a positive cash flow.  
 
 
Management Update 
 
On 21

st
 December 2011, the Company announced that it has accepted the resignation of Mr. 

Alexander Khaldey from the Board of Directors, effective on 31 December 2011. The Board of 

                                                           
1
 Source: EIU 

2
 Based the market review prepared by Jones Lang LaSalle Moscow 
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Directors appointed Mr. Mark Groysman, CEO of AFI RUS LLC, to the Board of Directors as 
Executive Director, effective from 1 January 2012.  
 
As announced on 14 July 2011, Mr. Alexander Khaldey, who at the time was acting as executive 
director of the Company and Chairman of AFI Rus and Stroyinkom-K, the Company's subsidiaries, 
ceased performing his executive positions with the Company and stepped down from his positions as 
Chairman of AFI Rus and Stroyinkom-K, effective as from 1 August 2011. Mr. Mark Groysman, CEO 
of AFI RUS since May 2011, assumed Mr. Khaldey's executive functions at the Companyôs 
subsidiaries.  
 
Mr. Khaldey, as announced previously, committed to continue to serve the Company as a non-
executive director on the Board until the end of 2011. During this period he has been fully engaged in 
transferring his duties and responsibilities as well as his business contacts to Mr. Groysman. With Mr. 
Khaldey resignation from the Board and the appointment of Mr. Groysman as Executive Director of 
the Company, the change of executive leadership at AFI Development was completed. 
 
 
Valuation 
 
As at 31 December 2011, based on Jones Lang LaSalle LLC (ñJLLò) independent appraisersô report, 
the value of our portfolio of yielding properties stood at US$1.4 billion, our portfolio of commercial and 
residential projects under development - at US$1.3 billion, our portfolio of residential properties - at 
US$52 million and our hotel portfolio - at $105 million

3
. 

 
Consequently, the total value of our portfolio, as valued by JLL, as at 31 December 2011, is US$2.83 
billion. This figure represents a 23% increase in the value of our portfolio since the valuation by JLL 
as at 31 December 2010 totaling US$2.31 billion.  
 
The major driver for the positive revaluation was the acquisition of the 25% share in AFIMALL City, 
which together with the effect of the VAT reimbursement has resulted with a positive revaluation gain 
of US$133 million in 2011. Additional positive trends were due to the launching of operations of 
AFIMALL City in the first half of  2011, while the full ownership and the acquisition of the underlying 
parking has improved overall asset quality.  The Four Winds office and Ozerkovskaya III projects, 
representing Class A office properties in our portfolio, increased their value due to the improvement of 
market conditions in terms of rental rates, demand for quality offices and declining yields. The 
restructuring of the Tverskaya Zastava group of projects had almost no effect on total portfolio ï the 
termination of the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project was offset by increased values of the 
surrounding Tverskaya projects, mainly due to the restricted office supply in the Centre of Moscow 
and the reduced development costs (according to the non binding understanding the City will not 
charge AFI Development municipal development rights costs).   
 
For additional information refer to the "Portfolio Valuation" section in the Management Discussion and 
Analysis (the ñMD&Aò)   
 

Liquidity 

We completed 2011 with a strong liquidity position of approximately US$84.8 million cash and cash 
equivalents on our balance sheet (as at 31 December 2011) and a debt

4
 to equity level of 34%. This 

is due to the Companyôs ability to balance liquidity from a number of sources, including cash proceeds 
from the IPO and sales of completed projects and residential units, as well as development bank 
loans. 

Our financing strategy is to maximize the amount of debt financing for projects under construction 
while maintaining healthy loan-to-value levels. After delivery and commissioning we aim to refinance 
the properties at more favorable terms, including longer amortization periods, lower interest rates and 
higher principal balloon payments. In general, collateral for the debt are property rights and shares of 
property holding companies. 

                                                           
3
 The figures present the results of year end appraisal performed by Jones Lang LaSalle. For additional 

information refer to the "Portfolio Valuation" section in the Management Discussion and Analysis (the 

ñMD&Aò) 
4
 Debt includes all loans and borrowings. For further details please see note 23 to the Financial Statements. 
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For additional information refer to the ñLiquidityò section in the MD&A. 

Portfolio Update 
 
Current projects  
 
AFIMALL City 
Our major accomplishment in 2011 was the start of operations of AFIMALL City, the Company 
flagship project. With a total GBA of nearly 170,000 sqm (excluding parking), and GLA of nearly 
107,000 sqm, the project envisages a shopping gallery of nearly 400 shops and an 11-screen movie 
theatre with a number of additional outstanding leisure facilities. AFIMALL City is one of Europeôs 
largest and most ambitious retail developments in recent years. The Mall introduces a new standard 
of quality to the Russian retail sector and offers visitors a combined shopping, food and entertainment 
experience unmatched in any other retail scheme in Moscow. 
 
The shopping and entertainment centre is strategically located at the heart of the Moscow City area, 
the Russian capitalôs newest business district, which is the first of its kind in Russia and a unique 
project comprising innovative architectural approaches and multi-functional infrastructure. Moscow 
City forms part of an evolving upscale district, with a concentration of consumer spending power. 
 
On 30 September 2011 the Company announced that it had completed the acquisition of the 25% 
stake in AFIMALL City, held by the City of Moscow for a total consideration of RUR5 billion 
(approximately US$157 million), including VAT of around US$ 24 million. Following the payment, 
Bellgate Construction Ltd, an AFI Development subsidiary, is entitled to 100% of the areas in 
AFIMALL City, in line with the Investment Contract. The transaction was financed in full by an 
additional facility with VTB Bank OJSC, of RUR 5 billion (approximately US$157 million) provided on 
the same terms as the existing AFIMALL City loan (of RUR 8.4 billion, approximately US$ 263.5 
million, with an interest rate of 11.5% p.a. prior to mortgage registration, 9.5% p.a. after the mortgage 
registration in Rouble terms, straight bullet in August 2013).  
 
Following the completion of the transaction, and based on the fair value of the assets as of 30 
September 2011 which, according to the opinion of independent appraiser, was US$1,076 million for 
100% of the asset, the Company recorded a profit (before tax) on revaluation of approximately 
US$112 million (US$90 million after tax). 
 
On 11 February 2012 the Company received a US$21 million VAT reimbursement from the Russian 
tax authorities on VAT incurred during the 25% acquisition of AFIMALL City which was recorded as a 
revaluation profit (before tax) in Q4 2011.  
 
 
Ozerkovskaya Embankment Phase III 
 
Ozerkovskaya Embankment Phase III is a high quality office development in the city centre. 
Occupying a total area of nearly 79,000 sqm, it consists of 4 class A office buildings. It is part of the 
Companyôs mixed-use Ozerkovskaya Embankment development, consisting of office, residential and 
hotel zones. 
 
The Ozerkovskaya Embankment Phase III is advancing on track and is expected to be completed at 
Q1 2012. The Company is now considering several options for disposal of this project in full, building 
by building, or leasing it in full or in part. 
 
Tverskaya Zastava Projects 
 
On 29 November 2011 the Company announced that it has made progress in its negotiations with the 
City of Moscow regarding the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project. This followed an earlier 
release (25 March 2011), when the Company confirmed that the City had decided not to proceed with 
plans to build the shopping centre. 
 
Under a non-binding agreement, the City of Moscow will re-approve and renew the Companyôs 
development rights and leasehold interests in land plots at Plaza Ic (part of Plaza I), Plaza IIa and 
Plaza IV projects (which were partly subject to termination at the end of 2011) with total gross 
buildable area of approximately 170,000 sq. m. This compares to the previous area of approximately 
192,000 sq. m. In addition, the City will not charge AFI Development municipal development rights 
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costs of approximately US$95mn, which the Company had expected to pay in the course of the initial 
construction. The City of Moscow has also confirmed that the land plots can be developed as office 
space. To enable the City to prepare approval documentation for the Plaza IV project, the Company 
has to waive itsô ownership to seven land plots with total area of 2,145 sq. m. at 11, Gruzinsky Val, in 
favour of the Moscow municipality. 
 
Based on the Jones Lang LaSalle LLC valuation report as at 31 December 2011, this settlement 
represents full compensation for the book value of the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project. 
 
The other projects in the Tverskaya Zastava area (Plaza II and Plaza Ib, totalling approximately 
111,500 sq. m. of gross buildable area) are not affected by the agreement and remain in the 
Companyôs land bank unchanged. 
 

According to the agreement, the Company should transfer the unfinished construction of the shopping 

centre to the City of Moscow. As of the date of this announcement, the Company is in the process of 

this transfer. 

Based on the aforementioned non-binding agreement the Company has written-off Tverskaya 
Zastava shopping centre from its balance sheet in Q4 2011.  
 
Paveletskaya Business Park 
The Paveletskaya Business Park is located in a fast-growing commercial district in South-Central 
Moscow.  
 
As announced on 23 March 2011, the Paveletskaya office complex was completed and leased to a 
single tenant, ZAO GREENATOM, a subsidiary of the State Atomic Energy Corporation ROSATOM. 
With a total lettable area of 13,500 sqm, the Paveletskaya complex is expected to yield a 
representative NOI of approximately US$3.8 million (excluding VAT). 
 
Kalinina Hotel 
Inspired by the success of Plaza Spa in Kislovodsk, the Company started the development of another 
similar project in Russiaôs southern region in the city of Zheleznovodsk. The project envisages a 
renovation of an existing building to a 3-star hotel with sanatorium facilities. The hotel is envisaged to 
occupy a site of approximately 0.1 hectares and will include 175 guest rooms, of which 14% are 
expected to be suites. A spa area will occupy approximately c. 1,100 sqm, which will include 45 
treatment rooms, two saunas, a jacuzzi, an indoor swimming pool and extensive medical and 
diagnostic facilities.  
 
During 2011, AFI Development made significant progress in construction works. The project is 
expected to start operations in H1 2012.  
 
Completed projects 
 

  Type  Ownership Completed 
(year)  

GLA/GSA 
unsold  
(sqm)  

Average rent 
per sqm per 
year/average 

sale price  

Comments 

AFIMALL City Retail 100% 2011 107 121 $1 147 Average 2011 

H2O Office  100% 2006 8 996 $404  Average 2011 

Four Winds Office  Office  50% 2008 18 225 $1 468  Average 2011 

Berezhkovskaya  Office  74% 2006 11 378 $544  Average 2011 

Paveletskaya I Office  100% 2011 13 615 $416  Average 2011 

Four Winds 
Residential 

Residential  100% 2008 611 13 000 Estimated by JLL 

Ozerkovskaya II Residential  100% 2008 1 629 13 500 Estimated by JLL 

Aquamarine  Hotel  100% 2009 159 keys  ADR 201 Estimated by JLL 

Plaza Spa  Hotel  50% 2006 274 keys  ADR 104 Estimated by JLL 

 
 
Kossinskaya  
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In August 2009, AFI Development sold the Kossinskaya project to a third party for US$195 million and 
by December 2009, the Company had received approximately US$72 million of this consideration. 
During 2010, the buyer of the Kossinskaya development served AFI Development with a warrant for 
indictment, submitted in the District Court of Nicosia, Cyprus, and demanded, inter alia, repayment of 
approximately US$25 million from the consideration that had already been paid, and approximately 
US$47 million of the purchase price, reimbursement of approximately US$17 million for damages and 
additional reimbursement of US$2.5 million for each month of delay in the payments to be made to it 
under its claims.  
 
In December 2011 AFI Development reached a final settlement agreement with the buyer and agreed 
to settle all mutual claims by paying an amount of US$44 million.  This will be paid in 10 tranches with 
the final tranche payable on July 1, 2012. The Settlement and Release Agreement was executed by 
the parties and was approved by a decision of the District Court of Nicosia, Cyprus.  The settlement 
did not have  an effect on the Company's financial results. As of 31.12.2011 the outstanding amount 
payable equalled to US$ 22 million. 
 
Land bank 
In addition to yielding assets and projects under development, AFI Development has an extensive 
land bank, or projects that the Company is currently not developing. 
 
Whilst retaining full flexibility regarding future development of these projects, the Company remains 
well placed to benefit from further recovery in the regional real estate markets. Given its strong track 
record in bringing projects to completion, this represents a significant competitive advantage for AFI 
Development. 
 
The Companyôs strategy with respect to its land bank is to activate projects upon securing necessary 
financing and gaining full confidence in the levels of demand from prospective tenants or buyers. 
 
For detailed information on our portfolio updates refer to the "Key Portfolio Updates" and ñResults of 
Operationsò section in the MD&A  
 
 
 
Board of Directors 
The Directors of AFI Development as at the date of this announcement are as set out below: 
 
Mr. Lev Leviev, Chairman of the Board 
Mr. Mark Groysman, Executive Director 
Mr. Izzy Cohen, Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Christakis Klerides, Senior Non-Executive Independent Director   
Mr. Moshe Amit, Non-Executive Independent Director;  
Mr. John Porter, Non-Executive Independent Director 
Mr. Michael Sarris, Non-Executive Independent Director 
Mr. Panayiotis Demetriou, Non-Executive Independent Director 
 
 
Lev Leviev 
Chairman of the Board 

Mark Groysman 
Executive Director 

 
 
19 March 2012 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Overview 
 
As at 31 December 2011, we had a portfolio of 6 yielding properties, 11 investment and trading 
projects under development, 2 trading properties, 4 land bank projects and 5 hotel projects at various 
stages of development in Russia and Ukraine. These comprise commercial projects focused on 
offices, shopping centres, hotels, mixed-use properties and residential projects in prime locations in 
Moscow and other locations.  As at 31 December 2011, JLL valued our beneficial interest in the 
projects in our current portfolio, in their existing state of development, at approximately US$2.68 
billion. 
 
In 2011 we recognized a net profit of US$171.5 million, up from US$25.9 million in 2010. The 
substantial upturn in profits was derived primarily from the revaluation of our investment portfolio. In 
total we recognized US$268.0 million as an appreciation of projects value, while US$248 million of 
revaluation gain (93% of total) relates mainly to investment property and investment property in 
progress. The major driver of value increase among the completed properties is AFIMALL City, mainly 
due to the acquisition of the 25% share owned by the City of Moscow and  VAT reimbursement,  
which resulted in revaluation gain of US$133 million. The launch of its operations as well as the 
general improvement in the Moscow real estate and investments markets during the year also 
contributed to the portfolio appreciation.  
 
Our total operational profits before administrative expenses and bad debt provisions increased in 
comparison to our 2010 results. In 2011, we recognized US$51.0 million versus US$36.2 million in 
2010. The high potential for operational profits from AFIMALL City project was not realized in full in 
2011 due to expenses incurred for the  "grand opening" on 22 May 2011. The rental revenue in the 
early days of its operation was offset by the increased operational costs. With the opening AFIMALL 
City project the share of yielding assets in the portfolio has grown significantly whichresulted in an 
increase in rental revenues of US$73.0 million up to US$117.0 million. 
 
The operational profits were supported by sales of several remaining residential premises at Four 
Winds and Ozerkovskaya Embankment Phase II projects for a total amount of US$15.9 million. This 
compares with US$30.2 million in 2010. Due to the improved market conditions in 2011 and the small 
amount of outstanding premium residential units, the Company adopted a price oriented strategy, 
which resulted in a slower rate of sales, but at a higher average price. 
 
Key Factors Affecting our Financial Results 
 
Our results have been affected, and are expected to be affected in the future, by a variety of factors, 
including, but not limited to, the following:  
 
Macroeconomic Factors 
 
Our properties and projects are mainly located in Russia. As a result, Russian macroeconomic trends 
and country-specific risks significantly influence our performance. 
 
The following table sets out certain macroeconomic information for Russia as of and for the dates 
indicated: 
 

 
Year ended 31 
December 2011 

Year ended 31 
December 2010 

Real Gross Domestic Product growth 4.3% 4.3% 

Consumer prices 6.1% 8.8% 

 
Source: European Intelligence Unit, State Statistics Agency of the Russian Federation 
 
Company Specific Factors  
 
The following factors affected our performance in 2011: 
 

¶ The Company started the operations of AFIMALL City shopping centre, acquired 25% city 
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share in the centre and the parking area under the centre, while the two acquisitions were 
financed by loan facilities from VTB Bank OJSC. AFIMALL City operations made a strong 
contribution to rental revenue, but the loan facilities increased the overall Company debt and 
interest expenses. 

¶ Paveletskaya I office complex was fully leased to ZAO Greenatom (the subsidiary of the 
Russian Atomic Agency) and a number of smaller occupiers. The lease transaction was the 
largest in Moscow in Q1 2011.  

¶ Significant progress on development at the fully-financed Ozerkovskaya Embankment Phase 
III project was achieved which remains on track for completion in H1 2012.  

¶ Significant progress on development of Kalinina Hotel in Zheleznovodsk which is planned to 
start operating in H1 2012. 

 
 
Key Portfolio Updates 
 
The Company had the following updates to its portfolio:  
 
Current projects  
 
AFIMALL City 
In 2011 the AFIMALL City, the Companyôs flagship project, successfully opened its doors to 
customers. With a total GBA of nearly 170,000 sq. m (excluding parking), and GLA of nearly 107,000 
sq. m, the project envisages a shopping gallery of nearly 400 shops and 11-screen movie theatre with 
a number of additional outstanding leisure facilities. AFIMALL City is one of Europeôs largest and most 
ambitious retail developments in recent years. The Mall introduces a new standard of quality to the 
Russian retail sector and offers visitors a combined shopping, food and entertainment experience 
unmatched in any other retail scheme in Moscow. 
 
On 30 September 2011 the Company announced that it had completed the acquisition of the 25% 
stake in AFIMALL City, held by the City of Moscow for a total consideration of RUR5 billion 
(approximately US$157 million), including VAT of around US$ 24 million. This left AFI Development 
with sole ownership.  The transaction was financed in full by an additional facility with VTB BANK, of 
RUR 5 billion (approximately US$157 million) provided on the same terms as the existing AFIMALL 
City loan (of RUR 8.4 billion, approximately US$ 263.5 million, with an interest rate of 11.5% p.a. prior 
to mortgage registration, 9.5% p.a. after the mortgage registration in Rouble terms, straight bullet in 
August 2013).  
 
Following the completion of the transaction, and based on the fair value of the assets as of 30 
September 2011 which, according to an independent appraiser was US$1,076 million for 100% of the 
asset, the Company recorded a profit (before tax) on revaluation of approximately US$112 million, 
(US$90 million after tax). 
 
In February 2012 the Company received US$ 21 million VAT reimbursement from the Russian tax 
authorities on VAT incurred during the 25% acquisition of AFIMALL City, which recorded as a 
revaluation profit (before tax) at Q4 2011.  
 
On 16 December 2011 the Company announces that it has signed a binding contract with the 
Moscow municipal organization GUP "Tsentr-City" relating to the acquisition of the parking area under 
AFIMALL City. The Company will pay a total consideration of RUR 4 billion, including VAT (circa 
US$126 million, including VAT) for the parking complex, the construction of which was approximately 
65% completed. The consideration is being paid in four tranches:  RUR 700 million (including VAT) 
paid on 12th January 2012; RUR 633.333 million (including VAT) paid on 29th February 2012; RUR 
1.333 billion (including VAT) payable on 28th February 2013; and RUR 1.333 billion (including VAT) 
payable on 28th February 2014. 
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Ozerkovskaya Embankment 
 
The Ozerkovskaya Embankment Phase III office project

5
 is advancing as planned and is expected to 

be operational in H1 2012. During 2010, the Company secured financing for the final stages of the 
project in the form of a loan from Sberbank of US$74 million. The Company is now considering 
several options of disposal of this project in full, building by building, or leasing it in full or in part. 
 
The Aquamarine Hotel continued its operations in 2011 and proved to be very successful with 
business travellers and tourists due to superb location, high fit-out quality and professional service. As 
a four star hotel in a central location, it has seen occupancy levels of up to 70% for its 159 rooms and 
is positioned in the upper mid-scale segment, the fastest growing sector of the Moscow hotel market.   
 
Tverskaya Zastava Projects 
 
On 29 November 2011 the Company announced that it has made progress in its negotiations with the 
City of Moscow regarding the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project. This followed an earlier 
release (25 March 2011), when the Company confirmed that the City had decided not to proceed with 
plans to build the shopping centre. 
 
Under a non-binding agreement, the City of Moscow will re-approve and renew the Companyôs 
development rights and leasehold interests in land plots at Plaza Ic (part of Plaza I), Plaza IIa and 
Plaza IV projects (which were partly subject to termination at the end of 2011) with total gross 
buildable area of approximately 170,000 sq. m. This compared to the previous area of approximately 
192,000 sq. m. In addition, the City did not charge AFI Development municipal development rights 
costs of approximately US$95mn, which the Company had expected to pay in the course of the initial 
construction. The City of Moscow also confirmed that the land plots can be developed as office space. 
To enable the City to prepare approval documentation for the Plaza IV project, the Company had to 
waive itsô ownership to seven land plots with total area of 2,145 sq. m. at 11, Gruzinsky Val, in favour 
of the Moscow municipality. 
 
Based on Jones Lang LaSalle LLC, valuation report as at 31 December 2011, this settlement 
represented full compensation for the book value of the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project. 
 
The other projects in the Tverskaya Zastava area (Plaza II and Plaza Ib, totaling approximately 
111,500 sq. m. of gross buildable area) are not affected by the agreement and remain in the 
Companyôs land bank unchanged. 
 
Based on the aforementioned non-binding agreement the Company has written-off Tverskaya 
Zastava shopping centre from its balance sheet in Q4 2011.  
 
Paveletskaya Business Park 
 
On March 22, 2011, AFI Development announced it had leased the Paveletskaya office complex to a 
single tenant ZAO GREENATOM, a subsidiary of the State Atomic Energy Corporation, ROSATOM. 
An 11-month lease agreement was signed with ZAO GREENATOM, which would roll over a 3-year 
period once the ownership certificate has been obtained. The lease is expected to yield 
representative NOI of US$3.8million, excluding VAT. 
 
Kalinina Hotel 
In 2010, the Company started the development of the Kalinina hotel project in the Russiaôs southern 

                                                           
5
  The land lease with respect to Ozerkovskaya Embankment Phase III project initially provided that 

construction on the plot was to have been completed as of 31 December 2006. However, in April 2009, the 
City of Moscow adopted a resolution according to which Krown Investments, a 50% subsidiary of the 
Company had until 28 February 2011 to complete construction and until 30 September 2011 to put the 
facilities into operation. The supplement to the land lease envisages the same deadlines. As at the date of 
this preliminary statement, this project is under construction, and as the construction is almost completed, the 
Company does not expect that the City will take any negative actions in relation to the project or to the land 
lease under the project at this advanced stage.  

 
It is noted that the design documentation for Ozerkovskaya III has been amended to change the designation 
of the project to office use only. The Company aims to approve the amended design documentation with 
Mosgosekspertiza and other Moscow state and local authorities. 
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region in the city of Zheleznovodsk.  
 
The project involves the renovation of an existing building to a 3-star hotel with sanatorium facilities 
on a site of approximately 0.1 hectares with 175 guest rooms, of which 14% are expected to be 
suites. A spa area will occupy approximately c. 1,100 sqm, which will include 45 treatment rooms, two 
saunas, a jacuzzi, an indoor swimming pool and extensive medical and diagnostic facilities.  
 
During 2011 the Company made significant progress on the construction of this project, which is 
scheduled to start operations in H2 2012. 
 
Kossinskaya  
In August 2009, AFI Development sold the Kossinskaya project to a third party for US$195 million and 
by December 2009, the Company had received approximately US$72 million of this consideration. 
During 2010, the buyer of the Kossinskaya development served AFI Development with a warrant for 
indictment, submitted in the District Court of Nicosia, Cyprus, and demanded, inter alia, repayment of 
approximately US$25 million from the consideration that had already been paid, and approximately 
US$47 million on of the purchase price, reimbursement of approximately US$17 million for damages 
and additional reimbursement of US$2.5 million for each month of delay in the payments to be made 
to it under its claims.  
 
In December 2011 AFI Development reached a final settlement agreement with the buyer and agreed 
to settle all mutual claims by paying an amount of US$44 million.  This will be paid in 10 tranches with 
the final tranche payable on July 1, 2012. The Settlement and Release Agreement was executed by 
the parties and was approved by a decision of the District Court of Nicosia, Cyprus.  The settlement is 
not expected to have an effect on the Company's financial results. As of 31.12.2011 the outstanding 
amount payable equalled to US$22 million. 
 
Land bank 
  
The Companyôs land bank projects remained unchanged during 2011.  
 
Key Events Subsequent to 31 December 2011 
 
Following the year-end the following key events occurred: 

¶ On 22 February, 2012, the Company announced that subsidiary Bellgate Construction Ltd 
("Bellgate") has obtained a loan facility from VTB Bank OJSC to finance Bellgate's recent 
acquisition of the parking area under AFIMALL City. The loan, which totaled RUR 4 billion 
(approximately US$134 million), was provided on terms essentially similar to those on the 
existing AFIMALL City loans provided by VTB Bank OJSC. By 28 February 2012, Bellgate 
had drawn down the first tranche of the loan, in the amount of RUR 1.333 billion 
(approximately US$46 million).  

¶ On 2 March, 2012, the Company announced that Bellgate had successfully registered the 
mortgage, related to the loans provided by VTB Bank OJSC, over the premises of AFIMALL 
City (excluding the parking). Under the existing loan facility agreements with VTB Bank 
OJSC, registration of the mortgage triggered an immediate decrease of about 2% in the 
interest rates charged on loans taken out on the Mall and its parking (terms of very significant 
bank loans are disclosed in Annex B to Management Discussion and Analysis). 

¶ In March 2012, the Company disposed of its subsidiary, Roppler Engineering Inc. and its 
Russian subsidiary Tsentr Dosuga Molodezhi LLC, which were part of ñKuntsevoò project, for 
nominal value to a third non-related party. The disposal was driven by cost cutting 
considerations, as the Russian subsidiary was part to an expensive lease contract of a 
building in ñKuntsevoò area of Moscow. Following the decision of the Moscow government 
dated 20 September 2011 to cancel the reconstruction programme of transportation hub near 
ñKuntsevskayaò metro station, the Company did not see further possibilities to secure any 
development rights to the disposed subsidiaries.   

¶ In March 2012 the Company completed the disposal of ñOzerkovskaya Phase IVò project for 
total consideration of US$6 million (before minor adjustment for completion balance sheet 
accounts). The project consists of freehold title to an office building with a total area of 
1,864.3 sq.m. and leasehold rights to underlying land plot, located at 3, Ozerkovsky Lane, 
Moscow.  
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Disposals and Acquisitions   
 
There were no disposals made by the Company in 2011.   
 
During 2011 the Company made the following acquisitions: 
 
Acquisition of 25% stake at AFIMALL City from the City of Moscow 
On 30

th
 September 2011 the Companyôs subsidiary, Bellgate Construction Limited (ñBellgateò), 

completed the acquisition of the 25% stake at AFIMALL City, held by the City of Moscow.   
 
Acquisition of parking area under AFIMALL City from Moscow municipal organisation 
On 16

th
 December 2011 the Company announced that Bellgate signed a binding contract with the 

Moscow municipal organisation GUP "Tsentr-City" ("Tsentr-City") relating to the acquisition of the 
parking area under AFIMALL City.    

 
Presentation of Financial Information 
 
Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (ñIFRSò), as adopted by the European Union (ñEUò), which were in effect at the 
time of preparing our consolidated financial statements. IFRS differs in various material respects from 
US GAAP and UK GAAP.  
 
Financial policies and practices 
 
Revenue Recognition 
The key elements of our revenue recognition policies are as follows: 
 

¶ Rental income. We recognise rental income from investment properties leased out under 
operating leases in our income statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 
 

¶ Construction consulting and construction management fees. We recognise revenues 
from construction consulting and construction management services in our income statement, 
in proportion to the stage of the project as at the relevant reporting date. We assess the stage 
of completion by reference to the amount of work performed. 
 

¶ Sales of trading properties. We recognise revenue from the sale of trading properties in our 
income statement when the risks and rewards of ownership of the property are transferred to 
the buyer. When we receive down payments in connection with the sale of trading property 
that is under construction, we record this figure in the current liabilities on our balance sheet 
at the time of sale. 

 
 
Operating expenses 
 
Operating expenses consist mainly of employee wages, social benefits and property operating 
expenses, which are directly attributable to revenues. As substantially all of our activities to date have 
involved real estate development projects that are still in the pre-construction or construction phase, 
we have historically capitalized the great majority of our overall costs.  We recognise as expenses in 
our income statement the costs of those employees who have provided construction consulting and 
construction management services to third parties or, with respect to a portion of such costs, to our 
50-50 joint ventures. We also recognise property operating costs (including outsourced building 
maintenance), utilities, security and other tenant services related to our properties that generate rental 
income, as expenses on our income statement. 
 
Administrative expenses 
Our administrative expenses comprise primarily of general and administrative expenses such as office 
rental costs, audit, marketing costs, travelling and entertainment, office equipment as well as 
depreciation expenses related to our office use motor vehicles, bad debt provisions and write-offs. 
 
Profit on disposal of investment in subsidiaries 
We recognise profit or loss from the sale of interests in our subsidiaries when the risks and rewards of 
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ownership are transferred to the buyer in the transaction. 
 
Revaluation of investment property 
An external, independent valuation company, having appropriate recognised professional 
qualifications and recent experience in the location and categories of properties being valued, values 
the Companyôs investment property portfolio every six months. The fair values are based on market 
values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of the 
valuation in a transaction between a willing buyer and a willing seller after proper marketing, wherein 
the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The difference between 
revalued fair value of investment property and its book value is recognised as revenue in the income 
statement. 
 
Operating profit before net finance costs 
Operating profit before net finance costs is calculated by adding revenue, other income, profit on 
disposal of investment in subsidiaries and valuation gains on investment property, and subtracting 
operating expenses, administrative expenses and other expenses. 
 
Finance income 
Our finance income comprises net foreign exchange gain, if any, and interest income. We recognise 
foreign exchange gains and losses, principally in connection with US Dollar denominated payables 
and receivables of our Russian subsidiaries, whose functional currency is the Rouble. Our interest 
income is derived primarily from interest on our bank deposits which primarily include proceeds from 
our May 2007 IPO and interest on loans to our joint ventures, including Westec and Krown 
Investments. 
 
Finance expenses 
Our finance expense comprises net foreign exchange loss, if any, and interest expense on 
outstanding loans less interest capitalised. We recognise foreign exchange gains and losses 
principally in connection with US Dollar denominated payables and receivables of our Russian 
subsidiaries, whose functional currency is the Rouble. We capitalise our interest expense with respect 
to our development projects that are under construction, for which amounts are not reflected as 
expenses in our income statement. When funds are borrowed specifically for a particular project, we 
capitalize all actual borrowing costs related to the project less income earned on the temporary 
investment of such borrowings and when funding for a project is obtained from our general funds, we 
capitalise only funding costs related to the particular project based on the weighted average of the 
borrowing costs applicable to our general funds.  
 
Income tax expense 
Income taxes are calculated based on tax legislation applicable to the country of residence of each of 
our subsidiaries and, as a company based and organised in Cyprus, we are subject to income tax in 
Cyprus. We and our Cypriot subsidiaries are currently subject to a statutory corporate income tax rate 
of 10% in Cyprus. Our Russian subsidiaries were subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20%. 
Profits on revaluation gains of investment property in companies based in Russia, from which we 
have derived the vast majority of our profits to date, are subject to deferred income tax at a rate of 
20%. 
 
Capitalisation of Costs for Properties under Development  
We capitalise all costs directly related to the purchase and construction of properties being developed 
as both investment properties and trading properties, including costs to acquire land rights and 
premises, design costs, permit costs, costs of general contractors, costs relating to the lease of the 
underlying land and the majority of our employee costs related to such projects. 
 
In addition, we capitalise financing costs related to development projects only during the period of 
construction of the projects. We do not, however, commence the capitalising of financing costs related 
to expenditures on a project until construction on each project begins. As the majority of our 
development projects are still in the pre-construction or construction phases, to date we have 
capitalised the great majority of the overall costs related to our business activities. Since the 
Companyôs adoption of IAS 40 from 1 January 2009, upon completion of construction works, property 
classified as investment property under development (which are those properties that are being 
constructed or developed for future use to earn rental income or for capital appreciation) is appraised 
to market value and reclassified as an investment property and any gain or loss on appraisal is 
recognised in our income statement. Trading properties, which include those projects where we 
intend to sell the entire project as a whole or in part (this principally includes our residential 
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development projects), are represented on our balance sheet at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value, which is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and sale. As a rule, once construction works on investment properties and trading 
properties 
 
Exchange Rates 
Our consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is our functional currency. 
The functional currency of our Russian subsidiaries and joint ventures is the Rouble. The balance 
sheets of our Russian subsidiaries are translated into US Dollars in accordance with IAS 21, whereby 
assets and liabilities are translated into US Dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance 
sheet date and income and expense items are translated into US Dollars at the average exchange 
rate for the period. All resulting foreign currency exchange rate differences are recognised directly in 
our shareholders' equity under the line item ñtranslation reserve.ò When a foreign operation is sold, 
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences deferred in the separate component of equity 
relating to that foreign operation is recognised in our income statement when the gain or loss on 
disposal of the foreign operation is recognised. The monetary assets and liabilities of our Russian 
subsidiaries that are denominated in currencies other than Roubles are initially recorded by our 
subsidiaries at the exchange rate between the Rouble and such foreign currency prevailing at such 
date. Such monetary assets and liabilities are then retranslated into Roubles at the exchange rate 
prevailing at each subsequent balance sheet date. We recognisse the resulting exchange rate 
differences between the dates at which such assets or liabilities were originally recorded and at 
subsequent balance sheet dates as foreign exchange losses and gains in our income statement. In 
particular, during the period under review, we have recognised foreign exchange rate gains and 
losses in connection with US Dollar denominated payables and receivables of our Russian 
subsidiaries. As most of our projects are still in the preyield stage, our Russian subsidiaries have 
historically had higher levels of US Dollar denominated payables, including interest on loans and 
general contractor fees, than US Dollar denominated receivables, such as rental payments, with the 
result that we have historically recorded foreign exchange gains when the Rouble appreciates against 
the US Dollar, thus reducing the US Dollar denominated liabilities of our Russian subsidiaries when 
translated into Roubles and foreign exchange losses when the US Dollar appreciates against the 
Rouble. 
 
Recovery of VAT 
We pay VAT to the Russian authorities with respect to construction costs and expenses incurred in 
connection with our projects, which, according to Russian tax law, can be recovered upon completion 
of construction. We have accordingly included recoverable VAT as an asset on our balance sheet, the 
size of which we expect will increase as the development of our projects advances. 
 
Deferred Taxation 
As we continue to advance the development of our projects, we also expect to record higher deferred 
tax liabilities and assets. Under Russian tax law, we are not allowed to capitalise certain of the costs 
in relation to the design, construction and financing of projects that we capitalise for the purposes of 
our consolidated financial statements under IFRS. As a result, our tax bases in the related assets may 
be lower than our accounting bases for IFRS purposes, which would result in deferred tax liabilities. 
However, the recognition of such costs as expenses may result in accumulated tax losses for Russian 
tax purposes that we may be able to carry forward against estimated future profits, resulting in 
deferred tax assets. We expect these deferred tax liabilities and assets to grow as our major projects 
reach more advanced stages. However, such tax losses may only be carried forward to offset gains 
for a ten-year period under Russian tax law and they may only be utilised in the Russian subsidiary in 
which such tax losses were generated. 
 
Fair Value Calculation  
 
Our future results of operations may be affected by our measurement of the fair value of our 
investment properties and changes in the fair value of such properties. Upon completion of 
construction, the projects that we have classified as investment property under development are 
reassessed at fair value and reclassified as investment property, and any gain or loss as a result of 
reassessment is recognised in our income statement.  
 
Any change in fair value of the investment property under development is thereafter recognised as a 
gain or loss in the income statement. Accordingly, fair value measurements of investment properties 
under development may significantly affect results of operations even if the Company does not 
dispose of such assets. Specifically, in May 2008 the International Accounting Standards Board 
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issued its latest standard, titled óImprovements to International Financial Reporting Standards, 2008.ô 
Amendments to IAS 40 óInvestment propertyô under this standard had a significant impact on the 
Companyôs financial statements in 2010 and will continue to do so in 2011. 
 
Results of Operations  
 
 
Description of Income Statement Line Items  
 

Summary of income statement for 2011 and 2010 
 

USD mn 2011 2010 Change 2011 /  
2010 

Revenue      

Construction consulting/management services  1.0 0.9 0.1 15% 

Rental income 117.0 44.0 73.0 166% 

Sale of residential 15.9 30.2 (14.2) -47% 

  133.9 75.0 58.9 79% 

Expenses     

Other income 0.7 0.2 0.5 209% 

Operating expenses (72.1) (18.7) (53.4) 286% 

Administrative expenses (17.0) (13.2) (3.8) 29% 

Bad debt provisions and write-offs (13.3) - (13.3) n/a 

Cost of sales of residential (10.4) (20.2) 9.8 -48% 

Other expenses (2.3) (7.9) 5.5 -70% 

  (114.4) (59.7) (54.7) 92% 

      

Gross profit 19.5 15.3 4.2 27% 

     Impairment of prepayment for investments (1.2) - (1.2) n/a 

Valuation gains on investment property 268.0 76.2 191.7 251% 

Negative goodwill - - - n/a 

Impairment loss for trading property and hotels 1.0 (18.1) 19.1 n/a 

      

Results from operating activities 287.3 73.4 213.9 291% 

     n/a 

Finance income 8.2 13.7 (5.4) -40% 

Finance expense (43.3) (8.8) (34.4) 390% 

FX Gain/( Loss) (5.6) (8.0) 2.4 -30% 

Impairment of financial asset - - - n/a 

Net finance income/(costs) (40.6) (3.1) (37.5) 1194% 

      

Profit before income tax 246.6 70.3 176.4 251% 

      

Income tax expense (75.1) (44.4) (30.7) 69% 

      

Profit from continuing operations 171.5 25.9 145.7 563% 

 
 
Revenue ï General Overview 
 
To date, we have derived revenues from three sources: construction consulting and construction 
management fees, rental income and sale of residential properties. During the period under review, 
we derived considerable amounts of revenue from such rental income and sale of residential 
properties, unlike in the previous reporting period. We expect that our revenue from rental income will 
increase further in the future once we have completed the construction of the commercial properties 
we are currently developing for lease. As we no longer provide construction consulting and 
construction management services to third parties, other than our joint ventures, we do not expect 
construction consulting and construction management fees to contribute a significant amount to our 
revenue in the future. 
 
Construction consulting and construction management fees 
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We derive construction consulting and construction management fees from project management 
services we provide to our partners in joint ventures. We typically charge a fixed percentage of the 
total costs related to the projects for which we provide such services. Mainly we provide such services 
to (i) our 50% owned joint venture Westec Four Winds Ltd., (ñWestecò), which owns the Four Winds 
project; and (ii) our 50% owned joint venture Krown Investments, which is developing the 
Ozerkovskaya Phase II and Phase III projects. 
 
Rental income  
 
We derive rental income from our core assets that we acquired or developed in the past. A less 
significant rental income and from non-core assets, i.e. existing real estate on land sites where we 
plan to develop new projects. In 2011 we evidenced putting into operation of two completed projects ï 
AFIMALL City shopping mall and Paveletskaya I office center which was reflected in the in the 
increase of rental revenues. 
 

USD 'thousands  
For the year ended 
31 December 2011 

For the year ended 
31 December 2010 

Change 2011/2010 

USD %%  

Core assets 

AFIMALL City 65,058 - 65,058 - 

4 Winds office building 17,212 15,904 1,308 8% 

4 Winds street retail 1,609 543 1,066 196% 

H2O office building 2,770 2,454 316 13% 

Berezhkovskya office building 4,883 4,650 233 5% 

Paveletskaya I 2,942 - 2,942 - 

Aquamarine hotel 9,266 6,054 3,212 53% 

Plaza Spa Hotel 4,071 4,316 (245) -6% 

Non-core assets 

Ozerkovskaya IV 654 520 134 26% 

Premises at  Bolshaya 
Pochtovaya 

5,351 5,019 332 7% 

Premises at Plaza IV (Gruzinsky 
Val) 

208 159 49 31% 

Premises at Tverskaya Zastava 
Square 

2,775 1,162 1,613 139% 

Other land bank assets  190 3,165 (2,975) -94% 

          

Total  116,989 43,946 73,043 166% 

 
 
Sale of residential properties  
 

USD 'thousands  
For the year ended 
31 December 2011 

For the year ended 
31 December 2010 

Change 2011/2010 

USD 
%% 

'thousands 

Revenue         

Ozerkovskaya II 13,184 17,008 (3,824) -22% 

4 Winds residential 2,745 13,162 (10,417) -79% 

Total  15,929 30,170 (14,241) -47% 

 
Operating expenses. Our operating expenses tripled with a net change of US$53.4 from US$18.7 
million in 2010 to US$72.1 million in 2011. The increase is mainly explained by putting into operation 
one of the largest yielding asset of the Company ï AFIMALL City shopping mall which contributes an 
increase of US$29.5 million to the operating expenses.  
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Administrative expenses. Our administrative expenses increased by US$17.1 million, or 130%, from 
US$13.2 million in 2010 to US$30.3 million in 2011. The increase was mainly due to bad debt 
provisions and write-offs in the amount of US$13.3 million (of which US$6.6 million related mainly to 
AFIMALL tenants). The amount was mainly recognized in Q4 2011. 
 
Other expenses. Other expenses decreased by US$5.5 million, or 70%, from US$7.9 million in 2010 
to US$2.3 million in 2011. This decrease is explained by high extraordinary costs of 2010 for 
obtaining Premium listing on LSE of US$2.19 million, writing off non-recoverable VAT (older than 3 
years) and of US$3.34 million and the reclassification explained above.  
 
Net valuation gain/(losses) on investment property.  Net result of investment property valuation 
increased from a gain of US$93.9 million in 2010 to a gain of US$268.0 million in 2011 mainly due to 
improved market conditions and opening and ownership consolidation of the AFIMALL project. In 
accordance with the revised IAS 40, which became effective on 1 January 2009, we disclose 
investment property under development on a fair value basis and respectively reflect appropriate 
revaluations and impairments. 
 
Net finance costs. Net finance costs are finance income less finance expense. Our net finance costs 
increased heavily following the launch of AFIMALL City. During construction the interest expense on 
the project loan was being capitalized and affected income statement through revaluation gain on the 
project. Upon reclassification of the AFIMALL into the investment properties in March 2011 the 
interest expense has been shown under finance expense item.  Thus net finance expenses grew by 
US$37.5 million YoY from US$3.1 million in 2010 to US$40.6 million in 2011. 
  
Income tax expense. Our income tax expense accruals increased to US$75.1 million in 2011 
(US$61.5 million of which was deferred tax) correlating with the increase in revaluation gain ï the 
main driver for income tax accruals. The second, less important reason for this increase is the higher 
levels of income generated from rental activity of income producing assets. The Cypriot corporate 
income tax accrued remained unchanged during 2010 and 2011 equaling to c.US$5 million per 
annum. 
 

Profit/Loss for the year. Due to the factors described above, we recorded a US$171.5 million profit 
for 2011 compared to US$25.9 million for 2010.  
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Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 
Cash flows  

Summary of cash flows for 2011and 2010 
 

  
Net cash used in operating activities 
Net cash used in operating activities increased to US$27.8 million in 2011 from US$22.97 million in 
2010. This increase was primarily attributable to the increase in profit to US$171.5 million followed by 
adjustments for non-operational and non-cash items totaling negative US$53.8 million. The major 
drivers for adjustments are add-back of US$40.1 million finance expenses and deduction of US$193.8 
million of eliminating profit from fair value adjustment netted with tax expense add-back. 
 
Net cash used in investing activities 
Net cash used in investing activities amounted to US$179.6 million reflecting the acquisitions in 
course of AFIMALL project consolidation. The Company acquired the 25% city share in the project 
and the underneath parking facility. In addition a part of the investment activities cash outflows were 
ongoing investments into Ozerkovskaya III and Kalinina projects construction. 
 
Net cash used in financing activities 
Net cash sourced from financing activities increased to positive US$118.2 million from positive 
US$2.85 million in 2010.  The Company increased its net borrowings by US$179.0 million in 2011 as 
opposed to US$52.6 million upturn in 2010. The prevailing part of debt increase relates to the loan for 
25% city share acquisition at AFIMALL City project ï US$155.3 million. The remainder relates to 
Ozerkovskaya III and Kalinina projects further construction financing.  In addition, the net effect of 
Four Winds office project refinancing contributed US$13.5 million through extension of the investment 
loan balance for 50% Companyôs share. 
 
Capital Resources  

Capital Requirements 

We require capital to finance capital expenditures, consisting of cash outlays for capital investments in 
active real estate development projects; repayment of debt; changes in working capital; and general 
corporate activities.  
 
Real estate development is a capital-intensive business, and we expect to have significant ongoing 
liquidity and capital requirements in order to finance our active development projects. 
For the foreseeable future, we expect that we will continue to rely on our financing activities to support 
our investing and operating activities. We also expect that our capital expenditures in connection with 
the development of real estate properties will comprise the majority of our cash outflows for the 
foreseeable future. 
 
We completed 2011 with a strong liquidity position comprising US$84.8 million cash and cash 
equivalents on our balance sheet as at 31 December 2011. The liquidity position is supported by the 
increased rental revenues after the start of operations for the AFIMALL City and Paveletskaya 
projects. 
 
Our financing strategy is to balance the amount of debt financing for projects under construction while 
maintaining healthy loan-to-value levels. After delivery and commissioning we refinance the properties 

USD 'thousands  
For the year ended 
31 December 2011 

For the year ended 
31 December 2010 

Net cash from operating activities  27,821 22 969 

Net cash used in investing activities  -179,555 148 083 

Net cash flows from financing activities  118,246 2 854 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations  -11,531 2 024 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   -45,019 (120 236) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  129,839 210 830  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  84,820 129 839 
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at more favourable terms including longer amortization periods, lower interest rates. 
In general collateral for this debt are property rights and shares of property holding companies. 
 
As of December 31, 2011 our debt portfolio was as follows:  
 

Project 
Lending 

bank 

Max 
debt 
limit 

Principal 
balance 

as of 
Dec-31, 

2011 
LTV% 

Available 
(US$  mn) 

Nominal 
Interest 

rate 
Currency 

Maturity 

(US$  
mn) 

(US$ mn) (dd.mm.yy) 

AFIMALL 
(construction 

loan) 
VTB 262 262 

40% 

- 9.5%** RUB 23.08.2013 

AFIMALL 25% 
share buyout 

VTB 155 155 - 9.5%** RUB 23.08.2013 

AFIMALL 
parking buyout* 

VTB 124* 41* - 10.8%** RUB 23.08.2013 

Tverskaya Mall Sberbank 73 73 n/a 0 

(6-month 
LIBOR, 

min 1,5% 
+ 9,5%) 

USD 16.08.2014 

Ozerkovskaya 
III (50%) 

Sberbank 37 23 13% 16 13.0% RUB 17.06.2015 

Kalinina Hotel Sberbank 20 12 89% 8 6.75% RUB 20.12.2014 

Four Winds 
(50%) 

Nordea 
Bank 

83 83 62% 0 
3-month 
LIBOR + 

4,5% 
USD 13.07.2018 

* The AFIMALL parking buyout loan was obtained at in February 2012 and thus it is not recorded in the Company's balance 
sheet as at 31.12.11 

** The presented interest rate is effective started from March 1, 2012 

.  
The total balance of borrowings presented in the balance sheet as of December 2011 is US$627.1 
million. The amount of US$612.5 million represents bank loans ï the principal of US$609.7 million 
and US$2.8 million of accrued interest expense. In addition to the bank loans the borrowings item in 
the balance sheet also comprises US$14.5 million of third party shareholder loans received by 
subsidiaries before being acquired by the Company. 

For more detail see notes 23 and 24 to our consolidated financial statements. 
 

As at 31 December 2011, our loans and borrowings were payable as follows: 
 

 

 
Portfolio Valuation  
 
As at 31 December 2011, based on Jones Lang LaSalle LLC (ñJLLò) independent appraisersô report, 
the value of our portfolio of yielding properties stood at US$1.4 billion, our portfolio of commercial and 
residential projects under development  - at US$1.3 billion, our portfolio of residential properties - at 

USD 'million 
As at  31 

December 2011 
As at 31 

December 2010 

Less than one year  98,973    33,883 

Between one and five years  469,254    380,352 

More than five years  58,862 54,000 

Total  627,089    468,235 
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US$52.0 million and our hotel portfolio - at $105 million
6
.  

 
Consequently, the total value of our portfolio, as valued by JLL, as at 31 December 2011, is US$2.83 
billion. This figure represents a 22% increase in the value of our portfolio since the last valuation by 
JLL as of 31 December 2010 totaling US$2.31 billion.  
 
Major drivers of the portfolio revaluation were the following:  

¶ Opening of the Companyôs largest project ï AFIMALL City shopping centre in March 2011 
was followed by the planned 100% ownership consolidation through buyout of 25% city share 
in September 2011 and underground parking facility in December 2011. The overall 
revaluation effect of these actions amounted to US$211 million of valuation gain through total 
year 2011. 

¶ Due to further improving macroeconomic conditions in Russia in general and in real estate 
market in particular, yield compression and rent increases are observed, due to which JLL 
concluded higher values for most of the Companyôs Moscow projects.   

¶ The updated status of Tverskaya projects was reflected in the financial statements. Under the 
non-binding agreement with the City of Moscow: 

ü The City agreed to re-approve and renew the Companyôs development rights and 
leasehold interest in land plots in Plaza Ic (part of Plaza I), Plaza IIa and Plaza IV projects 
with total gross buildable area of approximately 170 thousand sqm (GLA total ï 108 
thousand sqm).  

ü The City has also agreed not to charge the Company for municipal development rights 
costs, which the Company had expected to pay during initial development period.  

ü The other two Plazas (Plaza Ib and II) are left unchanged and remain in the Company 
land bank for further development or potential disposal. 

ü These factors, in addition to the restricted supply of office construction in the Centre of 
Moscow, have been reflected in revised values for the Tvesrskaya pool projects which 
reflect full compensation for the book value of  Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre 
project. 

 

According to the agreement, the Company should transfer the unfinished construction of the shopping 

centre to the City of Moscow. As of the date of this announcement, the Company is in the process of 

this transfer. 

 

# Property  
Valuation 
31/12/2010 

Valuation 
31/12/2011 

Change in 
valuation, 
% 

Balance sheet 
value 
31/12/2010 

Balance sheet 
value 
31/12/2011 

Income yielding properties         
 1 H2O 15,200,000 18,550,000 22% 15,200,000 18,550,000 

2 Ozerkovskaya IV  2,550,000 2,850,000 12% 2,550,000 2,850,000 

3 Four Winds Office  119,300,000 137,500,000 15% 119,300,000 137,500,000 

4 Berezhkovskaya  24,600,000 28,000,000 14% 33,243,243 37,837,838 

5 AFI Mall City  732,400,000 1,160,000,000 58% 732,400,000 1,160,000,000 

6 Paveletskaya  21,600,000 27,750,000 28% 21,600,000 27,750,000 

  Total  915,650,000 1,374,650,000 50% 924,293,243 1,384,487,838 

Active Projects Under Development     
 

  
 7 Tverskaya Zastava  74,800,000 n/a - 74,800,000 0 

8 Plaza I  133,700,000 139,700,000 4% 133,700,000 139,700,000 

9 Plaza II  72,800,000 76,900,000 6% 72,800,000 76,900,000 

10 Plaza IIa 12,200,000 34,700,000 184% 12,200,000 34,700,000 

11 Plaza IV  105,000,000 156,400,000 49% 110,526,316 164,631,579 

12 Paveletskaya Phase II   47,800,000 -   11,475,117 

13 Ozerkovskaya Phase III 140,450,000 177,600,000 26% 140,450,000 177,600,000 

14 Kosinskaya 144,250,000 146,120,000 1% 144,250,000 146,120,000 

15 AFIMALL parking for sale (665 lots)   50,100,000 -   23,173,759 

  Total  683,200,000 829,320,000 21% 688,726,316 774,300,455 

Residential Projects Under 
Development** 

    

 

  

 16 Otradnoye 104,000,000 105,300,000 1% 105,962,436 106,424,570 

                                                           
6
 The assets are grouped according to management classification. The numbers provided take into 
account values of five minor land bank and hotel projects which didnôt progress in 2011 and were not 
subject to full scope revaluation but a desktop appraisal analysis conducted by JLL. All trading 
properties and hotels are valued at cost. 
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17 Botanic Garden 64,000,000 68,300,000 7% 68,841,949 66,220,728 

  Total  168,000,000 173,600,000 3% 174,804,385 172,645,298 

Completed Residential Properties     
 

  
 18 Four Winds Residential (incl. fitness 

& retail) 
28,100,000 22,000,000 -22% 26,723,248 22,000,000 

19 Ozerkovskaya II 30,000,000 30,000,000 0% 17,342,984 8,145,002 

  Total  58,100,000 52,000,000 -10% 44,066,232 30,145,002 

Land Bank Properties     
 

  
 20 Kuntsevo 77,200,000 n/a - 0 0 

21 Ruza* 63,700,000 63,700,000 0% 4,108,753 3,921,763 

22 St. Petersburg* 1,850,000 1,850,000 0% 1,850,000 1,850,000 

23 Volgograd 2,950,000 n/a - 0 0 

24 Bolshaya Pochtovaya 212,400,000 213,200,000 0% 212,400,000 213,200,000 

25 Boryspol (Ukraine)* 13,500,000 13,500,000 0% 13,500,000 13,500,000 

26 Zaporozhie (Ukraine) 5,050,000 n/a - 0 0 

27 Old Lake (Kislovodsk) 9,200,000 n/a - 0 0 

  Total  385,850,000 292,250,000 -24% 231,858,753 232,471,763 

Hotels**     
 

  
 28 Aquamarine Hotel 42,800,000 45,000,000 5% 35,584,021 33,179,320 

29 Plaza Spa Hotel in Kislovodsk 30,600,000 29,550,000 -3% 26,786,827 25,253,993 

30 Kalinina Hotel in Zheleznovodsk 7,600,000 13,500,000 78% 8,200,000 13,800,000 

31 Park Plaza hotel developments in 
Kislovodsk* 

10,000,000 10,000,000 0% 8,386,050 8,979,629 

32 Versailles project in Kislovodsk* 6,900,000 6,900,000 0% 7,980,000 8,800,000 

  Total  97,900,000 104,950,000 7% 86,936,898 90,012,941 

  Grand Total  2,308,700,000 2,826,770,000 22% 2,150,685,826 2,684,063,298 

 
 
* The projects did not progress through 2011 and we did not initiate full revaluation. The desktop 
valuation was conducted by JLL, following which the appraiser provided us with the comfort letter 
confirming that the last year valuation is still valid as of 31.12.2011. 
 
**The valuation presented above relating to residential projects under development and land bank 
includes developerôs profit (which is being eliminated for the impairment test of these projects) 
 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties Affecting the Company 
 
This section presents information about the Companyôs exposure to each of the risks listed below, the 
Groupôs objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risks.  

 
Risk management framework 

 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Companyôs 
risk management framework and is responsible for developing and monitoring the Companyôs risk 
management policies.  
 
The Companyôs risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 
the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions 
and the Companyôs activities. The Company, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations. 
 
The Companyôs Audit Committee overseas how management monitors compliance with the 
Companyôs risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Companyôs Audit Committee 
is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc 
reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit 
Committee. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to AFI Development if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Companyôs 
receivables from customers and investment securities. 
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Trade and other receivables 
 
Financial assets that are potentially subject to credit risk consist principally of trade and other 
receivables. The carrying amount of trade and other receivables represents the maximum amount 
exposed to credit risk. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures 
with respect to rental customers, including outstanding receivables. The Company has policies in 
place to ensure that, where possible, rental contracts are made with customers with an appropriate 
credit history. Cash transactions are limited to high-credit-quality financial institutions. The utilisation 
of credit limits is regularly monitored.  
 
AFI Development has no other significant concentrations of credit risk. Although collection of 
receivables could be influenced by economic factors, the management team believes that there is no 
significant risk of loss to the Company. 
 
Investments 

 
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in liquid securities and only with 
counterparties that have a high credit rating. Management actively monitors credit ratings and given 
that the Group only has invested in securities with high credit ratings, management does not expect 
any existing counterparty to fail to meet its obligations, except as disclosed in note 29 to the 
Company's Audited Financial Statements for year 2011. 

 
Guarantees 

 
The Companyôs policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. As at 31 
December 2011 there was one guarantee outstanding under two separate non-revolving credit lines 
from VTB Bank OJSC for total value of RUR 13.448 billion. As at 31 December 2010 there was one 
guarantee outstanding under the non-revolving credit line from VTB Bank OJSC for RUR 8,448 billion. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. AFI Developmentôs approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Companyôs reputation. 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. 
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Company aims to maintain flexibility in its 
funding requirements by keeping cash and committed credit lines available.  
 
AFI Developmentôs liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis by the management, which takes 
necessary actions if required. The Company structures its assets and liabilities in such a way that 
liquidity risk is minimised. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and equity prices will affect the Companyôs income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimising the available returns for shareholders. We are exposed to 
market risks from changes in both foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. We do not use 
financial instruments, such as foreign exchange forward contracts, foreign currency options and 
forward rate agreements, to manage these market risks. To date, we have not utilised any derivative 
or other financial instruments for trading purposes. 
 
Interest rate risk 
We are subject to market risk deriving from changes in interest rates, which may affect the cost of our 
current floating rate indebtedness and future financing. As of 31 December 2011, 61% of our 
indebtedness was fixed rate. For more detail see note 29 to our consolidated financial statements.  
 
Currency risk 
The Company is exposed to currency risk on future commercial transactions, recognized monetary 
assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currencies of AFI Developmentôs entities, primarily the US Dollar 
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and Russian Rouble. The currency in which these transactions are primarily denominated is the Euro. 
 
Operational risk 
 
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated 
with the Companyôs processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors 
other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory 
requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from 
all of the Groupôs operations. 
 
The Companyôs objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the need to avoid financial 
losses and damage to the Groupôs reputation with overall cost effectiveness. 
 
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational 
risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by 
the development of overall Company standards for the management of operational risk. Compliance 
with Company standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by way of 
internal audits. The results of the internal audit reviews are discussed with the management of the 
business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted to the Audit Committee and senior 
management of the Company. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies  
 
Critical accounting policies are those policies that require the application of our management's most 
challenging, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about 
the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. Critical 
accounting policies involve judgments and uncertainties that are sufficiently sensitive to result in 
materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. We believe that our most 
critical accounting policies are those described below.  
 
A detailed description of certain of the main accounting policies we use in preparing our consolidated 
financial statements is set forth in note 3 to our consolidated financial statements. 
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Estimates regarding fair value 
 
We make estimates and assumptions regarding the fair value of our investment properties that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the amounts of assets and liabilities on our balance 
sheet. In particular, our investment properties under development (which currently comprise the 
majority of our projects) are remeasured at fair value upon completion of construction and the gain or 
loss on remeasurement is recognised in our income statement, as appropriate. In forming an opinion 
on fair value, we consider information from a variety of sources including, among others, the current 
prices in an active market, third party valuations and internal management estimates.  
 
The principal assumptions underlying our estimates of fair value are those related to the receipt of 
contractual rentals, expected future market rentals, void/vacancy periods, maintenance requirements 
and discount rates that we deem appropriate. We regularly compare these valuations to our actual 
market yield data and actual transactions and those reported by the market. We determine expected 
future market rents on the basis of current market rents for similar properties in the same location and 
condition.  
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
We recognise impairment losses with respect to financial assets, including loans receivable and trade 
and other receivables, in our income statement if objective evidence indicates that one or more 
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. We test significant 
financial assets for impairment on an individual basis and assess our remaining financial assets 
collectively in groups that share similar credit characteristics. Impairment losses with respect to 
financial assets are calculated as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset discounted at the original effective interest rate of 
that asset. 
 
Estimating the discounted present value of the estimated future cash flows of a financial asset is 
inherently uncertain and requires us both to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from 
the asset and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows. Changes in one or more of these estimates can lead us to either recognizing or avoiding 
impairment charges 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
We recognise impairment loss with respect to non-financial assets, including investment property 
under development and trading properties under construction, if the carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, we discount estimated future cash flows 
of the asset to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The carrying amounts of 
impaired non-financial assets are reduced to their estimated recoverable amount either directly or 
through the use of an allowance account and we include the amount of such loss in our income 
statement for the period. 
 
We assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-financial asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, we then estimate the recoverable amount of the asset. 
Estimating the value in use requires us to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from 
the asset and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 
cash flows. The development of the value in use amount requires us to estimate the life of the asset, 
its expected cash flows over that life and the appropriate discount rate, which is primarily based on 
our weighted average cost of capital, itself subject to additional estimates and assumptions. Changes 
in one or all of these assumptions can lead to us either recognizing or avoiding impairment charges 
 
Deferred income taxes 
 
We are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This 
process involves a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction estimation of actual current tax exposure and the 
assessment of the temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as 
capitalization of expenses, among others, for tax and financial reporting purposes. These differences 
result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. 
We must assess, in the course of our tax planning process, our ability and the ability of our 
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subsidiaries to obtain the benefit of deferred tax assets based on expected future taxable profit and 
available tax planning strategies. If, in our managementôs judgment, the deferred tax assets recorded 
will not be recovered, a valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the deferred tax asset.  
 
Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, deferred 
tax assets, deferred tax liabilities and valuation allowances to reflect the potential inability to fully 
recover deferred tax assets. In our consolidated financial statements the analysis is based on the 
estimates of taxable income in the jurisdictions in which we operate and the period over which the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities will be recoverable. 
 
If actual results differ from these estimates, or we adjust these estimates in future periods, we may 
need to establish an additional valuation allowance which could adversely affect our financial position 
and results of operations. 
 
Share-based payment transactions  
 
The fair value of employee stock options is measured using a binomial lattice model. The fair value of 
share appreciation rights is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement inputs include 
share price on the measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on 
weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available 
information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historic experience and 
general option holder behaviour), expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate (based on 
government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are 
not taken into account in determining fair value. 
 
 
Related Party transactions  
 
On 1 July 2011 the Companyôs major shareholder, Africa Israel Investments Ltd. ("Africa Israel 
Investments"), completed the purchase of Company shares from companies wholly-owned by Mr. 
Alexander Khaldey, (the "Sellers"). In this final stage of the transaction the Sellers have transferred 
to Africa Israel Investments equity and voting rights in the Company constituting 5.14% of the equity 
and voting rights in the Company, for a consideration of approximately US$64 million. In the earlier 
stages of this transaction, the Sellers have transferred to Africa Israel Investments approximately 
2.96% of the total equity and voting rights in the Company for a consideration of approximately 
US$45 million, which was set-off against a previous loan, and approximately 1.61% of the equity 
and voting rights in the Company for a consideration of US$20 million. Following the completion of 
the transaction, Africa Israel Investments now holds approximately 64% of the equity and voting 
rights in AFI Development.  
 
Save as set out above, there were no other related party transactions in the financial year ended 31 
December 2011 which could have a material effect on the financial position or performance of the 
Company, nor were there any such transactions since 31 December 2011. 
 
Corporate governance  
 
Although the Company is incorporated in Cyprus, its shares are not listed on the Cyprus stock 
exchange, and therefore it is not required to comply with the corporate governance regime of 
Cyprus. However, pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Company is required to comply with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code as updated in 2010 (the ñCodeò) or explain its reasons for non-
compliance. The Company's policy is to achieve best practice in its standards of business integrity in 
relation to all activities. This includes a commitment to follow the highest standards of corporate 
governance throughout the AFI Development group.  

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the main provisions of the Code 
throughout the year ended 31 December 2011.During this period the Company has specifically 
addressed the provisions, which the Company was not in compliance with, as mentioned in the 
previous annual report.   These provisions are as follows:  

1. The Chairman is not independent (as required by section A.3.1 of the Code) as he is a 
major shareholder of the Company.   Mr. Leviev also holds a controlling stake in Africa Israel 
Investments Ltd., the major shareholder of the Company.  

Nonetheless, the Directors consider Mr. Leviev to be a key member of the Company's leadership 
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and are of the opinion that his oversight, management role and business reputation are important to 
the Company's success. The Directors therefore consider that Mr. Leviev should remain as 
Chairman of the Board and are of the view that this will be beneficial for the Company.  

2. The Company did not previously undertake an annual evaluation of the Chairmanôs 
performance and the Chairmanôs performance was not subject to a formal appraisal by the Board 
(as required by section B.6.3 of the Code).  

Actions taken by the Company: During 2011 the Board conducted an appraisal of the Chairmanôs 
performance, which was led by Senior Independent Director, Mr. Christakis Klerides. The Board will 
conduct annual Chairman appraisals at the final Board meeting of each calendar year.   

3. Until 2011 the Company did not have a formal performance appraisal process in place for 
the Board and its committees (as required by section B.6.1 of the Code).  

Actions taken by the Company: During 2011 the Company completed performance evaluations for 
the Board and its committees. These were conducted in-house using the ñBoard Governance 
Analysisò package of the UK Institute of Directors. The Company will conduct in-house performance 
evaluations for the Board and its committees annually.  

4. The Directorsô letters of appointment did not set out the expected time commitment or 
contract period (as required by sections B.2.3 and B.3.2 of the Code).  

Actions taken by the Company: During 2011 the Board approved a new version of the standard 
letter of appointment for non-executive directors and all non-executive directors have signed new 
letters of appointment. The new letters of appointment specify the time commitment required from 
non-executive directors to effectively perform their duties and a three years contract period (subject 
to re-election at the annual shareholders meeting).  

5. Until 2011 the Company did not have a formal induction process in place for newly 
appointed Directors (as required by section B.4.1 of the Code).   

Actions taken by the Company: During 2011 the Board approved an induction process for all newly 
appointed directors. Each newly appointed director will receive an induction letter signed by the 
Chairman, an induction pack consisting of Company policies and codes, a summary of directorsô 
duties under Cypriot and UK law, general information on current Company business activities and a 
contact list of Board Members, senior management and representatives of the major Company 
shareholder, Africa Israel Investments Ltd. The Chairman and Company Secretary will ensure that 
every new director receives a full and tailored induction based on his or her background and level of 
familiarity with the Companyôs business environment.  

6. The Company did not have a formal performance-related remuneration scheme for the 
Directors, nor was a full remuneration policy implemented (as required by section D.2 of the Code).  

Actions taken by the Company: The remuneration committee of the Company designs remuneration 
packages for executive directors individually and while doing so it applies the provisions of Schedule 
A to the Code. The Company currently has only one executive director. During 2011 the Board 
appointed Mr. Mark Groysman as executive director (effective from 1 January 2012) and his 
remuneration package was designed by the remuneration committee. The remuneration scheme for 
non-executive directors is approved by the Board and is reviewed by the remuneration committee 
from time to time. It does not include share options or other performance-related elements and is, in 
the opinion of the Directors, fully compliant with the Code.  

7. The Board did not have in place a process to formally review the effectiveness of the 
systems of risk management and internal control (as required by section C.2.1 of the Code).  

Actions taken by the Company: During 2011 the Company finalized, with the assistance of Africa 
Israel Group's internal control team, the establishment of its systems of risk management and 
internal control, and performed the assessment of the effectiveness of such systems. The systems 
of risk management and internal control are designed, inter alia, to provide a reasonable amount of 
confidence as to the reliability of the Companyôs Financial Reporting; to insure that the Financial 
Reports are prepared in accordance with the requirements of the law; and to ensure that the 
information that the Company is required to disclose in its reports and announcements is gathered, 
processed, summarized and reported on time and in the format set forth in the DTR and listing rules. 

The main steps taken to establish the control systems, as well as, the results of the testing of the 
effectiveness of such controls, were presented to the Board, and the Board has reached the opinion 
that, for the period ending on 31 December 2011, the risk management and internal control systems 
at the Company are effective.  
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Going forward, the Board, at least annually, will conduct a review of the effectiveness of the 
company's risk management and internal control systems. 

It should be noted that during 2011, in cooperation with Africa Israel's head office and finance and 
control department, AFI RUS has significantly strengthened the risk management and internal 
controls, by, inter alia, appointing dedicated corporate governance and internal control personnel, 
implementing internal controls and internal audit processes and improving the general quality of 
management and supervision.  

During 2012 AFI Rus management intends to focus its efforts on further improving and expanding 
the risk management and internal control systems in AFIMall City, which is the Company's flagship 
project currently in its initial operational stage.        

8. Until 2011 the Company did not have a formal whistleblowing policy in place. 

Actions taken by the Company: In 2011 the whistleblowing policy of the Company was approved by 
the Board and introduced across all companies in the AFI Development group. 
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Annex A to the Management Discussion and Analysis7 

 
Below is additional information regarding the Company's business and portfolio. Terms not 
expressly defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the MD&A.  
 
 
Real Estate Development  

 
General Information on this Area of Activities 
 
The Company's group plans, develops and constructs residential units held for sale. The 
Company's revenues from real estate development in Russia derived, mainly, from the 
development, renovation and sale of residential units and/or properties designated for 
residential purposes, alone or together with partners in joint ventures. 
 
Products and Services of the Company's group 

 
A. General ï the projects the Group plans and constructs in Russia are mostly zoned for mixed 

uses and/or commercial use, while some also include residential units intended for sale. The 
following tables present the Groupôs projects including, among others, construction for 
residential purposes. During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company decided to change its 
strategy in light of the economic situation. The Company is focusing on the construction and 
completion of a number of projects and it will decide on the construction of additional projects 
out of its inventory of projects based on the situation prevailing in the market. With respect to 
these projects, the Company will formulate a business plan including a forecast relating to the 
project budget and its completion date (and obviously relating to additional project components) 
when a decision to begin its construction is made. Therefore, the tables do not include any 
forecasts in connection with these projects. 

 It is noted that based on Russian law, upon completion of the construction of projects, the 
owner of the building (the construction of which was completed) is permitted to receive 
long-term lease rights for the land on which the said building stands and that is needed for 
purposes of its use, generally for 49 years. In order to realize the right to the long-term lease 
rights as stated, the owner of the building must submit a request to the relevant authority 
including the required documents, and within about one month from the submission date of the 
said request, the relevant authority will make a decision regarding provision of the lease rights. 
It is noted that under the new long-term lease agreement to be signed between the parties, the 
lessee of the land (who up until now had been merely the owner of the building) to pay the City 
lease fees (generally on a quarterly basis)

8
. 

  

                                                           
7
 Annex A and Annex B to the MD&A are included into financial reports of AFI Development Plc due to disclosure requirements 

applicable to its parent company, Africa Israel Investment Ltd. The disclosed information is regulated, structured and calculated 
according to Israeli law. 
8
  It is noted that as part of the valuations of the Companyôs properties in CIS, account was taken of the value of the 

Company groupôs rights in the various projects, whether if rights under a development or investment agreement, ownership 
rights in the land, or rights under a long-term lease were involved. 
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B. Set forth below are details in connection with the Companyôs projects in CIS, which include residential areas, the execution of which had not 
yet been started as at December 31, 2011:  

 As stated, execution of these projects has been frozen at this stage and, therefore, forecasted data has not been included in the following table, such 
as, estimated project cost, expected gross profit percentage, expected construction commencement year, expected duration of the construction in 
years and planned additional number of residential units.  

    Date of         
    acquisition        Cost of 
    of the    Additional   Write- land 
   Rate of rights in  Recorded  primary   downs  per 
   holdings the land/ Type of in the Expected  area Original  made books 
   in project in the rights real Amount of  commercial cost of Costs up to as at 

Project Project Holding (of the 
holding  

holding in the estate Residential  or for the land accrued 31/12/.2011  31/12/2011 

name location company company) company project register
9
 Units offices (USD '000) (USD '000) (USD ó000) (USD ó000) 

             
Otradnoye

10
 Odintsovo, 

Moscow 
Region 
(residential) 

RAPO 
LLC 

90-94%
11

 2004
12

 Rights under 
investment 
agreement, 
decisions of the 
municipal 
authority, 
ownership (of a 
small part of the 
land) and a 
lease up to 
2014

13
 
14 

Recorded 5,988
15

  30,960 USD68,151 38,274
16

 
 

ï 106,425
17

 
 

                                                           
9
  It is noted that long-term leases, which are for a period of at least one year, as well as ownership rights, are to be registered in the Real Estate Register, whereas investment agreements 

were not subject to recording in the Real Estate Register, and were recorded with the relevant local authorities (for example, investment agreements with respect to lands in Moscow were recorded 
with the Tenders Committee of the City of Moscow). 
10

  As at the date of this statement, planning documents were prepared and approved for construction of a residential building project (one building out of 9 residential buildings planned in the 
project, constituting about 30% of the residential areas in the project ï more than 1,800 residential units). Regarding the other buildings planned in the project, as at the date of this statement, the 
Group is making efforts in connection with preparation of the appropriate planning documents. 
As at the date of this statement, the design documentation was prepared and approved for construction of one residential building (out of 9 residential buildings planned in the project), a permit for 
fencing and certain utility works in connection with this building was issued ï which expired during 2008. Regarding the other buildings planned in the project, as at the date of this statement, the 
Company is making efforts in connection with preparation of the appropriate design documentation. 
11

  Pursuant to investment contract (from 2004) between the Ministry of Construction of the Moscow Region, the Municipal Authority of the Odintsovo District and the company holding the 
project as stated, the company holding the project will be entitled to 94% of the total residential premises and about 13,400 sq. m. of apartment space, while the Municipal Authority of the Odintsovo 
will be entitled to receive the balance of the areas (including the school, kindergarten and the health center). The company holding the project will be entitled to 90% of the total non-residential 
premises. In addition, the holding company has an option (the period of which is not defined in the said investment agreement) to buy out the Odintsovo Municipal Authorityôs share (all or part of it) 
in the residential premises, for a price to be agreed to between the parties. Pursuant to the investment agreement, the project company is not entitled to sell residential units in the project until 
delivery of the part the Local Authority is entitled to under the agreement. In the opinion of AFI Development, the intention of the prohibition is to prevent delivery of the possessory interest and 
transfer of the ownership of the residential units up to the said date, however it does not prevent it from signing agreements for sale of residential units with purchasers and collecting payments in 
respect of these agreements. 
12

  It is noted that the Company groupôs rights in the property company were acquired during 2005, whereas the investment agreement in connection with the project (which was assigned to 
the Company) is from 2004, as noted in the table above. 
13

  Regarding the investment agreement, it is noted that this agreement serves as the basis for development of the project by the Group (including financing and development of the project by 
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    Date of         
    acquisition         
    of the        Cost of 
    rights    Additional   Write- Land 
   Rate of in the  Recorded  primary   downs  Per 
   holdings land/ Type of in the Expected area Original  made Books 
   in project in the rights real Amount of  commercial cost of Costs up to as at 

Project Project Holding (of the 
holding  

holding in the estate Residential or for the land accrued 31/12/11 31/12/11 

name location company Company) company project register Units  offices (USD ó000) (USD ó000) (USD ó000) (USD ó000) 

             
Botanic  
Gardens

18
 

Serebryakova 
11ï13,  
Moscow 
(residential) 

Nordservice 
LLC

19
 

 

60%-100% 
 

2007 Land lease 
rights until 
31 
December 
2010, 
rights 
under 
investment 
agreement 
and 
decisions 
of the Local 
Authority

20
 

Land lease 
rights are 
recorded,  
investment 
agreements 
are not 
subject to 
recording 

21
700 None 57,883 

 
37,413

22
 (29,075) 66,221 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
the Group and receipt of the rights therein at the rates of holdings as shown in this table). Regarding decisions of the Municipal Authority of the Odintsovo District it is noted that the decisions are 
from 2005, 2007 and 2008, which served as the basis for preparation of the design documentation and the land allocation in the project. Regarding the long-term lease, there are 38 land lease 
agreements with the holding company, as stated, with respect to an area of about 317,000 sq. m. needed for purposes of execution of the project. These agreements were signed in May 2009, after 
completion of the legal processes (mainly technical) initiated by the holding company against the Municipal Authority of the Odintsovo District for enforcement of its rights to enter into these 
agreements. Regarding ownership of the land it is noted that ownership of a limited area is involved (only about 8,400 sq.m.) required for execution of the project. 
14

  Based on the investment agreement, up to the second quarter of 2010, the Group was required to construct a school and kindergarten on the project site intended for use by the projectôs 
residents. Since as at the date of this statement, the Group has decided, at this stage, not to commence execution of the project, the Group is endeavoring to postpone the relevant dates as stated. 
As of the date of this statement, the Group is planning to negotiate with municipality regarding the prolongation of the investment contract. It is further noted that this project includes removal of 
existing tenants (including owners) from the project site (in the connection, it is noted that preliminary agreements for acquisition with some of the existing owners in the project site have been 
signed by the Group). 
15

  Upon completion, the project is expected to include 9 residential buildings, along with social infrastructure, including commercial space, school and kindergarten, health center and an art 
school. The number of residential units and the building areas is forward-looking information, which may change significantly based on changes made to the projectôs design documentation, based 
on the Groupôs activities and/or the Moscow Region or Odintsovo District's requirements. 
16

  The costs accrued as stated include mainly infrastructure work and performance of work for the benefit of the Local Authority. 
17

  The Company examined the need to make a provision for decline in the value of the property by using a 3
rd
 party valuation which was conducted as of December 31,  2010.  

18
  As of the date of this statement, a permit had been issued for fencing off the project site. 

19
  AFI Development holds 90% in the holding company and 10% is owned by the third party.  

20
  With respect to this property it is noted that Nordservice LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bioka Investments Ltd., in which AFI Development owns 90% stake, referred to in the table is a 

co-investor in the project by virtue of its being a party to the investment agreement signed in December 2005 with the City and a third party that is a wholly owned subsidiary of the City (which to the 
best of the Groupôs knowledge was set up by the City for purposes of development of real estate projects in the area in which the project is located and which held the long-term lease rights in the 
real estate, hereinafter ï the ñThird Partyò). Under a co-investment agreement dated April 2007, the Third Party assigned to Nordservice LLC most part of its rights in the project (which was allotted 
to the Third Party pursuant to the investment agreement as stated), and accordingly it was determined that after completion of the project, Nordservice LLC will receive 100% of the residential areas 
in the project, 60% of the non-residential areas in the project and 75.4% of the parking areas in the project (including the areas needed for operation of the parking areas in the project). Pursuant to 
the investment agreement (as amended), the project should have been completed in 2009. As at the date of this statement, the completion date set for the project as stated was postponed up to 
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December 2010.  
Pursuant to the investment agreement (as amended), the completion date set for the project as stated is during the fourth quarter of 2010, and at this time the rights of the parties in the real estate 
will be recorded. As at the date of this statement, the Group entered into negotiations with the City of Moscow to postpone the completion date under the project until the end of 2014. After 
amending the investment contract, the Third Party and the Group is planning to enter into negotiations with the City of Moscow on the relevant extension of the land lease and in the meantime the 
Third Party continues to pay the rent under the land lease and the landlord does not object, under such circumstances the land lease should be deemed to be extended for an indefinite period of time. 
Regarding the decisions of the City of Moscow (as noted in the table), it is noted that decisions from 2003, 2005, 2007 and 2009 are involved in connection with allocation of land in the project and 
the preliminary design documentation for the project.  
21

  Based on the decision of the City of Moscow, the total area for construction in the project is equal to 192,555 sq. m. The Company will be endeavouring to increase the total area up to 
249,000 sq. m. in new approvals. 
22

  The costs accrued as stated include, mainly, excavation and infrastructure work, and payment of fees to the Local Authority. 



34 
 

It is noted that the Botanic Gardens project, detailed in the table above, is in concept stage and the 
Otradnoye project, also described in the table above, is at the design stage of development, that is, 
after receipt of certain permits relating to their construction and execution agreements have also been 
signed (in one of the projects, the execution agreement as stated was signed with Danya Cebus). 
However, following the effects of the financial Crisis the Company's group has decided, at this stage, 
not to commence execution of these projects, and to continue monitoring, from time to time, the 
feasibility of their construction. It is further noted that these two projects detailed in the table above are 
not subject to liens. It is also noted that in the investment contract relating to the Otradnoye project, 
the holding company is required to construct a school and a kindergarten by mid-2010; as the project 
has been suspended, it does not intend to construct these facilities within the time frame originally 
contemplated and accordingly is in breach of the contract after mid-2010. The holding company for the 
Otradnoye project, paid rent for the fourth quarter 2009 and the first quarter of 2010, after the due 
dates under its land lease contracts.  Due to such delay in making lease payments, the Municipal 
Authority of the Odintsovo District might seek terminating the lease contracts. Termination of the lease 
agreements will mean that the holding company will not be able to obtain the construction permits 
required to complete this project. Although the construction deadline under the Botanic Gardens 
investment contract was extended until December 2010, the holding company is still in breach of 
certain interim construction deadlines under the Botanic Gardens investment contract and is in breach 
of the contract.  

As at the date of this statement, the Company's group is running negotiations with the Municipal 
Authority of the Odintsovo District regarding the prolongation of the investment contract under the 
Otradnoye project and is in advanced negotiations with the City of Moscow to postpone the completion 
date under the Botanic Gardens project until the end of 2014. 

C. Set forth below are details in connection with projects the Company has executed in CIS, 
which include residential areas, and which were completed as at December 31, 2011: 

(1) As at the date of this statement, the Company's group holds the rights in residential units in 
projects that have been completed in Moscow ï ñThe Four Winds IIò and ñOzerkovskaya Phase 
IIò. The residential units as stated are held, partly, through the Company's groupôs associated 
companies (which also have activities in the rental properties area) and, partly, through wholly 
owned companies (indirectly) of AFI Development. 

(2) As at December 31, 2011, AFI Development holds (indirectly) all the rights in 3 residential units 
in ñThe Four Winds IIò project and 10 residential units in ñOzerkovskaya Phase IIò project. 

 
Customers 
  
In its residential real estate development activities in Russia, the Groupôs target group is mainly private 
customers with a high socio-economic background. 
 
Marketing and Distribution 
  
In this area of activities, the Group markets its projects through independent agents as well as by means of 
Company employees. 

 
 
Income Yielding Properties  

 
General Information regarding the Activity Segment 

  
The Company's group plans, develops and constructs commercial properties held for rent. The groupôs 
revenues from its activities in the rental property area in Russia derive mainly from the development, 
re-development and sale of commercial properties, alone or together with partners in joint ventures, as well 
as from rental of the groupôs rental properties. In addition, in the past the Company's group had insignificant 
revenues from management of projects not owned by it.  
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(a) General Parameters Regarding the Russian Market: 
 

Macro-economic parameters: 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 

Gross domestic product (USDUS billion) 1,850 1,487 1,223 

Per capita product (PPP) 16,746 15,788 14,947 

Rate of growth in domestic product 4.3% 4.3% -7.8% 

Rate of growth in per capita product 6.1% 5.6% -6.9% 

Rate of inflation (end period) 6.1% 8.8% 8.8% 

Rate of return of long-term local government bonds 4.55% 4.65% 5.37% 

Rating of long-term government bonds BBB (S&P) BBB (S&P) BBB (S&P) 

Rate of exchange of the local currency in relation to the 
dollar (or the euro or the shekel) on the last day of the 
year 32.2 36.5 30.2 

 

 

Products and Services 
  
The following tables present information in connection with the Groupôs projects included in its propertiesô 
portfolio. Certain information included in the tables includes estimates and forecasts relating to projects in the 
advanced stages of the development, that is, the concept or design stages. Such information is ñforward 
lookingò information based on the existing data and facts in the Companyôs possession as of the date of this 
statement. It is hereby clarified that the estimates and forecasts in connection with each of the Groupôs 
projects may change in the future. 
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1. Summary of Aggregate Results of the Investment Properties Activity 

 
(a) Summary of Results 

 

000'USD 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 

Total operating income (consolidated)      

Income from rent 95,129 24,071 22,803 

Income from non-core assets 8,523 9,505 9,577 

Total income 103,652 33,576 32,380 

Valuation profit (loss) 247,664 29,506 (50,531) 

Operation profit       

Profit from rental activity 49,979 19,170 19,809 

Profit from non-core (8,237) 3,050 2,149 

Total profit 41,742 22,220 21,958 

NOI from identical properties (consolidated)       

NOI from rental activity 14,496 19,170 19,809 

NOI from non-core (8,237) 3,050 2,149 

Total 6,259 22,220 21,958 

NOI from identical properties (company share)       

NOI from rental activity 13,569 18,265 18,884 

NOI from non-core (8,237) 3,050 2,149 

Total 5,332 21,315 21,033 

Total NOI Consolidated 41,742 22,220 21,958 

Total NOI Company share 40,816 21,315 21,033 

 
 
 
 
(b)  Breakdown of the rental property areas  based on regions and uses as at 12.31.11 (sq.m.) 

 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial 
Parking 
facilities Total 

Percentage 
of the areas 

Russia  
  

Consolidated 53,759 0 115,586 13,008 182,353 100% 

company 
share 44,646 0 111,354 10,416 166,416 100% 

Total 
  

Consolidated 53,759 - 115,586 13,008 182,353 100% 

company 
share 44,646 - 111,354 10,416 166,416 100% 

Percentage of the 
total area 

Consolidated 29% 0% 63% 7% 100% 
 company 

share 27% 0% 67% 6% 100% 
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c)  Breakdown of the rental property areas  based on regions and uses as at 12.31.10 (sq.m.) 
 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial 
Parking 
facilities Total 

Percentage 
of the 
areas 

Russia  
  

Consolidated 30,656 - 3,545 3,710 37,911 100% 

company 
share 27,698 - 3,545 3,710 34,953 100% 

Total 
  

Consolidated 30,656 - 3,545 3,710 37,911 100% 

company 
share 27,698 - 3,545 3,710 34,953 100% 

Percentage of the 
total area 

Consolidated 81% 0% 9% 10% 100% 
 company 

share 79% 0% 10% 11% 100% 
  

(d) Breakdown of the rental property areas based on regions and uses as at 12.31.09 (sq.m.) 
 
 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial 
Parking 
facilities Total 

Percentage 
of the 
areas 

Russia  
  

Consolidated 30,656 - 3,545 3,710 37,911 100% 

company share 27,698 - 3,545 3,710 34,953 100% 

Total 
  

Consolidated 30,656 - 3,545 3,710 37,911 100% 

company share 27,698 - 3,545 3,710 34,953 100% 

Percentage of 
the total area 

Consolidated 81% 0% 9% 10% 100% 
 company share 79% 0% 10% 11% 100% 
  

 
(e) Breakdown of the rental property value based on regions and uses as at 12.31.11 

 
 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial 
Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage 
of the total 
value of the 
properties 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated 224,488 - 1,179,692 - 1,404,180 100% 

Company share 214,406 - 1,179,692 - 1,394,098 100% 

Total  USD '000 
Consolidated 224,488 - 1,179,692 - 1,404,180 100% 

Company share 214,406 - 1,179,692 - 1,394,098 100% 

Percentage of the 
total value of the 
properties 

Consolidated 16% 0% 84% 0% 100% 
 Company share 15% 0% 84% 0% 99% 
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(f) Breakdown of the rental property value based on regions and uses as at 12.31.10 
 
 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial 
Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage 
of the total 
value of the 
properties 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated 170,293 - 22,680 - 192,973 100% 

company share 161,650 - 22,680 - 184,330 100% 

Total  USD '000 
Consolidated 170,293 - 22,680 - 192,973 100% 

company share 161,650 - 22,680 - 184,330 100% 

Percentage of the 
total value of the 
properties 

Consolidated 88% 0% 12% 0% 100% 
 

company share 88% 0% 12% 0% 100% 
 

 
(g) Breakdown of the rental property value based on regions and uses as at 12.31.09 

 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage 
of the total 
value of the 
properties 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated 140,476 - - - 140,476 100% 

company share 133,405 - - - 133,405 100% 

Total  USD '000 
USD '000  

Consolidated 140,476 - - - 140,476 100% 

company share 133,405 - - - 133,405 100% 

Percentage of the 
total value of the 
properties 

Consolidated 100% 0% 0% 0% 100% 
 

company share 100% 0% 0% 0% 100% 
  

(h) Breakdown of the NOI based on regions and uses for the year ended 12.31.11 
 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage 
of the total 
NOI of the 
properties 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated 16,062 - 33,917 - 49,979 261% 

company share 15,136 - 33,917 - 49,053 269% 

Total  USD '000 
USD '000  

Consolidated 16,062 - 33,917 - 49,979 261% 

company share 15,136 - 33,917 - 49,053 269% 

Percentage of the 
total value of the 
properties 

Consolidated 29% 0% 71% 0% 100% 
 

company share 27% 0% 73% 0% 100% 
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(i) Breakdown of the NOI based on regions and uses for the year ended 12.31.10 
 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage of 
the total NOI 

of the 
properties 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated 18,972 - 198 - 19,170 100% 

company share 18,067 - 198 - 18,265 100% 

Total  USD '000 
USD '000  

Consolidated 18,972 - 198 - 19,170 100% 

company share 18,067 - 198 - 18,265 100% 

Percentage of the 
total value of the 
properties 

Consolidated 99% 0% 1% 0% 100% 
 

company share 99% 0% 1% 0% 100% 
  

 

(j) Breakdown of the NOI  based on regions and uses for the year ended 12.31.09 
 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage 
of the total 
NOI of the 
properties 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated 19,809 - - - 19,809 100% 

company share 18,884 - - - 18,884 100% 

Total  USD '000 
USD '000  

Consolidated 19,809 - - - 19,809 100% 

company share 18,884 - - - 18,884 100% 

Percentage of the 
total value of the 
properties 

Consolidated 100% 0% 0% 0% 100% 
 

company share 100% 0% 0% 0% 100% 
  

 
(k) Breakdown of the revaluation income (losses) based on regions and uses for the year ended 12.31.11 

 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage 
of the total 
revaluation 

income 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated 39,684 - 207,980 - 247,664 100% 

company share 38,324 - 207,980 - 246,304 100% 

Total  USD '000 
USD '000  

Consolidated 39,684 - 207,980 - 247,664 100% 

company share 38,324 - 207,980 - 246,304 100% 

Percentage of the 
total value of the 
properties 

Consolidated 5% 0% 95% 0% 100% 
 

company share 4% 0% 96% 0% 100% 
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(l) Breakdown of the revaluation income (losses) based on regions and uses for the year ended 
12.31.10 

 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage 
of the total 
revaluation 

income 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated 30,792 - (1,285) - 29,506 100% 

company share 29,236 - (1,285) - 27,951 100% 

Total  USD '000 
USD '000  

Consolidated 30,792 - (1,285) - 29,506 100% 

company share 29,236 - (1,285) - 27,951 100% 

Percentage of the total 
value of the properties 

Consolidated 104% 0% -4% 0% 100% 
 company share 105% 0% -5% 0% 100% 
   

(m) Breakdown of the revaluation income (losses) based on regions and uses for the year ended 
12.31.09 

 

Region Uses Offices Industrial Commercial Parking 
facilities 

Total in 
USD '000 

Percentage 
of the total 
revaluation 

income 

Russia USD '000 
Consolidated (50,531) - - - (50,531) 100% 

company share (44,680) - - - (44,680) 100% 

Total  USD '000 
USD '000  

Consolidated (50,531) - - - (50,531) 100% 

company share (44,680) - - - (44,680) 100% 

Percentage of the total 
NOI revaluation 
income 

Consolidated 100% 0% 0% 0% 100% 
 

company share 100% 0% 0% 0% 100% 
  

(n) Breakdown of the actual average rent per sq.m. per year in the functional currency 
 

  For the year end 

Uses Offices Commercial Parking facilities 

Regions 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 

Russia - 
$/sq.m/annum 

800 848 809 91 35 N/A 3,021 5,983 5,856 

* The range of the office rents is:  

2011:min- 372, max-1325 $/sq.m/year 

2010:min- 372, max-1325 $/sq.m/year 

2009:min- 336, max-1272 $/sq.m/year 
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(o) Breakdown of the average rents per sq.m. (per year) for agreements signed during the period in 

the functional currency 

 

* The range of the office rents is:  

2011:min- 372, max-1325 $/sq.m/year 

2010:min- 312, max-636$/sq.m/year 

2009:min- 324, max-1044 $/sq.m/year 
 
(p) Breakdown of the average occupancy rates 

 
 

Offices Commercial 

As at 12.31.11 Year 2011 Year 2010 Year 2009 As at 12.31.11 Year 2011 Year 2010 Year 2009 

95% 96% 96% 90% 78% 77% 91% N/A 

 
(q) Number of properties based on regions and uses 
 

Uses Offices Commercial 

Regions 12.31.11 12.31.10 12.31.09 12.31.11 12.31.10 12.31.09 

 Russia            5            4            4            2            1           -    

 Total number of 
rental properties  

          5            4            4            2            1           -    

 
 
 (r) Breakdown of the actual average rates of return (based on year-end value) for regions and uses 
 

  For the year ended on (in %) 

Uses Offices Commercial 

Regions 12.31.11 12.31.10 12.31.09 12.31.11 12.31.10 12.31.09 

 Russia  6% 11% 14% 4% 1% N/A 

 

  For the year end 

Uses Offices Commercial Parking facilities 

Regions 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 

Russia - 
$/sq.m/annum 

603 523 718 100 N/A N/A 176 N/A N/A 
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(s) Expected revenues in respect of signed rental agreements 
 

  
Assuming tenant option periods not 

exercised 
Assuming tenant option periods are 

exercised 

Period of 
Recognition 
of Revenue 

Revenues 
from fixed 

components 
($ '000) 

Number of 
agreements 
completed 

Area of 
related 

agreements 
(sq.m. '000) 

Revenues 
from fixed 

components 
($ '000) 

Number of 
agreements 
completed 

Area of 
related 

agreements 
(sq.m. '000) 

Quarter 1/12     27,138        454      121,543     27,138        454       121,543  

Quarter 2/12     27,686        390      114,711     27,686        390       114,711  

Quarter 3/12     26,887        342      106,066     26,887        342       106,066  

Quarter 4/12     25,934        297        98,349     25,934        297         98,349  

2013     97,973        283        93,537     98,328        283         94,808  

2014     92,216        272        90,754     95,153        274         93,586  

2015     76,721        190        63,729     82,300        194         70,200  

Thereafter     67,921        177        61,630     78,482        181         68,101  

Total    442,476      2,403      750,319   461,909      2,413       767,364  
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2. Summary of aggregate assets designated for development of income yielding 
properties  

 
(a) Investment projects under development 
 

    Period (year ended on) 

Region Parameters 31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 

Russia- 
office 

Number of properties under construction at end of 
the period 

                                   
6  

                                  
6  

                                          
6  

Total areas under construction (planned) at end of 
the period (in sq.m. '000) 

                          
364,177  

                        
403,086  

                                 
403,086  

Total costs invested in current period 
(consolidated) (USD '000) 

24,479 
                          

26,143  
                                  

47,485  

The amount at which the properties are presented 
in the financial statements at the end of the period 
(consolidated) (USD '000) 

600,089 

                        
501,826  

                                 
433,193  

Construction budget in the succeeding period 
(estimate) (USD '000) 

104,337 
                        

141,219  
                                 

501,826  

Total balance of the estimated construction budget 
for completion of the construction work 
(consolidated) (estimate as at the end of the 
period) (USD '000) 

461,641 

                        
461,098  

                                 
399,465  

Rate of the built-up area regarding which lease 
agreements have been signed (%) 0% 

                                -                                             
-    

Annual income expected from projects to be 
completed in the succeeding period and regarding 
which agreements have been signed for 50% or 
more of the area (consolidated) (estimate) (USD 
'000) 

                                  
-    

                                -                                             
-    

Russia - 
Commercial 

Number of properties under construction at end of 
the period 2 4 6 

Total areas under construction (planned) at end of 
the period (in sq.m. '000) 558,892 829,969 1,512,962 

Total costs invested in current period 
(consolidated) (USD '000) 1,354 157,676 193,737 

The amount at which the properties are presented 
in the financial statements at the end of the period 
(consolidated) (USD '000) 353,062 1,153,300 979,209 

Construction budget in the succeeding period 
(estimate) (USD '000) 105,738 234,930 528,652 

Total balance of the estimated construction budget 
for completion of the construction work 
(consolidated) (estimate as at the end of the 
period) (USD '000) 909,471 1,191,494 2,165,029 

Rate of the built-up area regarding which lease 
agreements have been signed (%) 0% 15% 5% 

Annual income expected from projects to be 
completed in the succeeding period and regarding 
which agreements have been signed for 50% or 
more of the area (consolidated) (estimate) (USD 
'000) 0 100,395 97,594 
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(b) Land 
 

Russia 
  

The amount at which the land is presented in the financial statements at 
the end of the period (consolidated) (functional currency) 

31.12.09 9,301 

31.12.10 5,959 

31.12.11 17,246 

Total area of the land at the end of the period (sq.m. '000) 

31.12.09 3,961,232 

31.12.10 3,933,332 

31.12.11 3,933,332 

   

   
Ukraine 

  
The amount at which the land is presented in the financial statements at 
the end of the period (consolidated) (functional currency) 

31.12.09 9,072 

31.12.10 13,500 

31.12.11 13,705 

Total area of the land at the end of the period (sq.m. '000) 

31.12.09 1,310,000 

31.12.10 1,310,000 

31.12.11 1,310,000 
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3. Significant Investment Properties  
 

  
  
  

  Information Item Additional Data Required by Regulation 8B(I) (as 
applicable) 

Property name and characteristics Year Book 
value at 

end of the 
period 

(consolida
ted) $ 
'000 

Fair value at 
end of the 

period 
(consolidate

d) (in the 
functional 
currency) 

Rental income 
in the period 

(consolidated) 
(in the 

functional 
currency) 

Actual 
NOI in the 

period of 
the report 

- 
consolidat
ed - in the 
functional 
currency 

Yield 
(%) 

Adjuste
d 

yield(%
) 

Occupanc
y rate for 
the end of 

period 

Average rent 
$/sq.m/annum 

Identity of the 
appraiser 

(name and 
experience) 

Valuati
on 
model 
used by 
the 
apprais
er 

Additional assumptions 
serving as the basis for 
the valuation (discount 
rate, number of 
comparable properties, 
average price per sq.m. of 
the comparable 
properties) 

W4W Office 
building 
(presented data is 
for 50%) 

Region Russia 2011        
137,500  

         
137,500  

           18,822  8934*  4.8% 10.8% 100%  1,468  JLL Income 
Approa
ch 

Cap rate-9.5%; Discount 
rate-10.85%; Average  
market rent (after 
contracts renewal) - $900-
950 

Note functional 
currency 

$ 2010        
119,300  

         
119,300  

           16,447             
13,401  

11.2% 11.2% 100%  1,358  JLL Income 
Approa
ch 

Cap rate-10.0%; Discount 
rate-12.5%; Average  
market rent (after 
contracts renewal) - $850-
900 

Office Office 

2009 
       

100,150  
         

100,150  
           15,583  

           
14,044  

14.0% 14.0% 95%  1,276  JLL DCF 
Cap rate-10.5%; Discount 
rate-N/A; Average gross 
rent - $800-900 

Original cost / 
original 
construction cost 
(in the functional 
currency) 

     
30,789  

Company's 
share (%) 

50% 

Area (sq.m.)  -
GLA 

10,982 

               

Paveletskaya 
Embankment 
Phase II 
(presented data is 
for 100% of the 
asset)** 

Region Russia 2011          
11,475  

           
11,475  

 N/A   N/A  N/A N/A N/A  N/A  JLL Cadastr
al 
Value 

Based on the Project's 
development rights, 
according to the 
appraisals the price in a 
potential  arm's-length 
transaction should not be 
less than the cadastral 
value of the site 

Note functional 
currency 

$ 2010                -                     -     N/A   N/A  N/A N/A N/A  N/A  N/A N/A N/A 

Main use Office 
2009                -                     -     N/A   N/A  N/A N/A N/A  N/A  N/A     
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Original cost / 
original 
construction cost 
(in the functional 
currency) 

     
61,369  

Company's 
share (%) 

99.12% 
*** 

Area (sq.m.) -
GBA 

13,615 

*  The NOI includes extra ordinary expenses. Normalized NOI is 14,882 USD thousands  

** The Paveletskaya Embankment Phase II project relates to the renovation of a group of commercial buildings, which, together with Phase I, is expected to include 90,000 square meters of total gross leasable 
area upon completion. Paveletskaya Embankment Phase I is a single operating office building.  During the second quarter, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company recorded a revaluation gain at the amount 
of US$13,137 thousand for the Paveletskaya Phase II project. The cost of the project was written off in previous years due to the Moscow real estate market situation and the uncertainty of the project's 
development. With the improvement of the Moscow real estate market during the years 2010 and 2011, the Company reassessed the development of the project and it is now in the pre-development stage.  

***  With respect to this property it is noted that AFI Development owns 99.1% stake of MKPK, a Russian open joint stock company, which owns commercial buildings on and leasehold rights to a land plot at the 
Paveletskaya Embankment project. AFI Development holds MKPK through its wholly owned Cypriot subsidiary Severus Trading Ltd. During the second quarter, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company 
recorded a revaluation gain at the amount of US$13,137 thousand for the Paveletskaya Phase II project. The cost of the project was written off in previous years due to the Moscow real estate market situation 
and the uncertainty of the project's development. With the improvement of the Moscow real estate market during the years 2010 and 2011, the Company reassessed the development of the project and it is now 
in the pre-development stage.  
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4. Information Regarding a Very Substantial Investment Property ï AFIMALL City   

 
(a) Presentation of property: 

 

 Detail as at December 31, 2010 

Name of the property: AFIMALL CITY
23

 

Location of the property: Sites 6,7,8 b, MIBC 'Moscow City', Moscow  

Area of the property ï broken down by use 165,925 sq.m GBA and 2,035 underground parking 
units

24
 

Structure of holdings in the property  The Company holds the asset through a wholly-
owned Cypriot subsidiary, Bellgate Construction Ltd 

Effective share of the company in the property  The Company holds 100% in Bellgate which owns 
100% of the project 

State the names of the partners in the property  N/A 

Acquisition date of the property: July 2005  

Detail of the legal rights in the property (ownership, 
lease, etc.) 

Ownership 

Status of registration of the legal rights: Registered 

Special matters (significant non-conforming 
construction, ground contamination, etc.): 

The construction of the 2,035 parking spaces is 
approximately 65% completed. The Company plans 
to finalize construction and put the parking into 
operation during 2012. 

Method of presentation in the financial statements  Consolidation 

Details with respect to a property sold:** N/A 

 

                                                           
23

  The previous name of the project was the Mall of Russia. 
24

 The project presumes underground parking for 2,700 parking spaces (arranged in three underground levels), being under construction as at 31.12.11. There are ongoing negotiations regarding 

the sale of 665 parking spaces in the underground parking after it is completed.  As at 31.12.11 it is assumed that AFIMALL will have 2,035 parking spaces, while the additional 665 spaces were 
reclassified to trading property. 
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 (b) Significant Data: 

 

(Data based on 100%. 
Share of company 

in the property ï 100%) 
Q4-2011 Q3-2011 Q2-2011 Q1-2011 Year 2010  

On the 
acquisiti
on date 
of the 

property 

Fair value at end of period (USD ó000)  
1,160,600 

25
  

1,076,933
26

 
819,700

27
 797,026

28
 732,400

29
 

Cost 
acquisition/con
struction 
(USD ó000) 

600,585 

If the property is measured at cost ï 
impairment in value  

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Acquisition 
date 

July 2005 

Average occupancy rate (%)
30

 ï  79% 79% 77% 67% N/A   

Areas actually leased out (sq.m.)
 31

 75,799 74,522 74.633 65,035 N/A   

Total revenues (USD  ó000) 
      22,057  
 

20,729 
 

19,732 
 

2,540 
 

N/A   

Average rent per meter (per / per year) 
(USD ) 

1,147 1,159  1,080  1,096  N/A   

Average rent per meter in agreements 
signed in the period (USD ) 

1,622  1,326  1,211  1,474  N/A   

NOI (USD  ó000)       10,650  13,828 11,454 (373) N/A   

Adjusted NOI (USD  ó000)        10,650  13,828 11,454 (373) N/A   

Actual rate of return (%) 3.1% 3.1% 2.7% N/A N/A   

Adjusted rate of return (%) 4.2% 4.6% 5.6% N/A N/A   

Number of tenants at the end of the year of 

the report (#)
32

 
239 238 214 124 N/A   

 Average revenue ($ per square meter)
33

 4,508 3,179 N/A N/A N/A   

 
 

 

                                                           
25

 Represents 100% of the completed shopping centre and  2,035 underground parking spaces (completed by approximately 65%) 
26

 Represents 100% of the completed shopping centre and does not include underground parking.. 
27

 Represents 75% of  the completed shopping centre and does not include underground parking. 
28

 Represents 75% of  the completed shopping centre and does not include underground parking. 
29

 Represents 75% of  the completed shopping centre and does not include underground parking.  
30

 Calculated on the basis of shop area 
31

 Calculated on the basis of shop area 
32

 Operated shops excl. kiosks and terminals 
33

 The data which the Company considers reliable enough for disclosure is available for Q3 and Q4 2011 only and for a certain group of tenants which 
occupies 10,306 square meters of GLA, or 14% of the total area leased as of the reporting date. 
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C. Breakdown of the Structure of the Revenues and Expenses ï 
 
 

(Data based on 100%. 
Share of company 

in the property ï 100%) 

Year 2011 (year 
of the report)*, ** 

Year 2010 

Currency ï 90% of revenues are denominated in USD 

Revenues:  N/A 

From rents ï fixed 57,991 N/A 
From rents ï variable 2,774 N/A 
Management fees 0 N/A 
From operation of parking facilities 146 N/A 
Other 4,147 N/A 
Total revenues: 65,058 N/A 
Costs:  N/A 
Administration, maintenance and operation 29,498 N/A 
Depreciation (if recorded)  -  N/A 
Other expenses  -  N/A 
Total costs: 29,498 N/A 
Income:  N/A 
NOI 35,560 N/A 
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D. Major Tenants in the Property 
 

(Data 
based on 100%. 

Share of company 
in the property ï 

100%) 

Rate 
of 

prope
rty 

areas 
(%) 

Does 
the 

tenant 
consti
tute 
an 

ancho
r? 

Is the 
tenant 

expected to 
be 

responsible 
for more 

than 20% of 
the revenue 

from the 
property? 

Industry 
to 

which 
the 

tenant 
belongs 

Description of the rental property 

Entry date of 
tenants as 

agreed in the 
agreement 

Perio
d of 
the 

under
taking 
(years

) 

Option
s to 

extend 
(years) 

Linkag
e 

mecha
USD m 

Detail of 
guarantees (if 

any) 

Indicate 
special 
depend

ency 

Tenant 1 7.2% yes no cinema Centre 
Opening Date 

5 no 5% Security Deposit no 

Tenant 2 4.9% yes no fashion Centre 
Opening Date 

12 no 70% of 
CPI 

Mother company 
Guarantee 

no 

Tenant 3 3.4% yes no electroni
cs 

Centre 
Opening Date 

10 no step 
rent 

Bank Guarantee no 

Tenant 4 3.0% yes no entertain
ment 

Centre 
Opening Date 

10 no 5% Bank Guarantee no 

Tenant 5 2.6% yes no fashion Centre 
Opening Date 

10 yes CPI Mother company 
Guarantee 

no 

Tenant 6 2.6% yes no fashion Centre 
Opening Date 

10 no 5% Bank Guarantee no 

Tenant 7 2.4% yes no superma
rket 

Centre 
Opening Date 

10 yes 5% Bank Guarantee no 

Tenant 8 2.2% yes no fashion Centre 
Opening Date 

7 no 5% Bank Guarantee no 

Tenant 9 2.0% yes no fashion 17-Mar-11 7 no 5% Security Deposit no 

Tenant 10 1.3% yes no fashion Centre 
Opening Date 

5 no 7% Security Deposit no 

Tenant 11 7.2% yes no cinema Centre 
Opening Date 

5 no 5% Security Deposit no 

Tenant 12 4.9% yes no fashion Centre 
Opening Date 

12 no 70% of 
CPI 

Mother company 
Guarantee 

no 

Total major 
tenants 31.6%                   
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E. Projected Revenues in respect of Signed Lease Agreements
34

 
 

(Data based on 100%. 
Share of company 

in the property ï 100%) 

For the year 
ended 2012 

For the year 
ended 2013 

For the year 
ended 2014 

For the year 
ended 2015 

For the year 
ended 2016 

and 
thereafter 

 (USDó000) (Data based on 100%. Company share 100%) 

Fixed components 85,438 110,545 125,749 133,534 136,470 

Variable components (estimate)* 4,640 8,863 8,863 8,863 8,863 
Total 90,078 119,408 134,612 142,397 145,333 

      

 

F.  Planned Improvements and Changes for the Property 
Details:  

Nature of improvement Construction of underground parking 

Additional areas added (in  underground parking spaces) 2,035 

Statutory situation Ownership 

Construction budget (USD ó000)  Includes additional 
planning not yet actually 
invested 

19,162 

Rate of the areas with respect to which rental agreements have been 
signed out of the additional areas (Data based on 100%. Share of 
company in property ï 60%) 

The underground parking will serve 
the shopping mall 

Expected addition to NOI (USD ó000)  8,446
35

 

Execution status 65% completion 

Expected completion date Q4 2012 

 
 

(g) Specific Financing: 

 
Specific Financing Loan A: 

 
Balances in the 
statement of 
financial position 

31.12.2011 
(USD ó000) 

Presented as short-term 
loans: 

0  

Presented as long-term 
loans: 

420,191 

                                                           
34

 Based on JLL valuation reports as at 31.12.11. 
35

 Based on JLL valuation reports as at 31.12.11 
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31.12.2010 
(USD ó000) 

Presented as short-term 
loans: 

0  

Presented as long-term 
loans: 

278,983 

Fair value as at 31.12.2011 (end of the report year) 
(USD ó000) 

424,501 

Credit framework not yet used (USD ó000) 0 

Effective interest rate as at 31.12.2010 (%) 11.5%
36

  

Repayment dates principal and interest Quarterly interest; principle will be fully repaid 
on Aug, 28 2013 

Main financial conditions Banking accounts monthly turnover (only with VTB Bank 
OJSC) not less than 200 million RUB, starting from the 1st 
day of the month following the month after the date of  
AFIMALL City's premises (Complex) ownership right's state 
registration. Penalty: 1% per annum extra charge to the 
interest rate 

Other financial conditions  N/A 

State whether main conditions or financial covenants have 
been violated as at the end of the report year 

The Company is in line with all financial 
covenants 

Is it non-recourse  Corporate guarantee provided.  

 
(H) Liens and other Significant Legal Restrictions in the Property: 

 
Type Detail Amount secured by the lien 

(at the end of the report year) 
31.12.2011 
(USD ó000) 

                                                           
36

 As of March 1
st
 2012, the interest rate decreased to 9.5%. 
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Liens First 
priority 

On 28 August 2008, Bellgate Constructions Ltd. ("Bellgate"), the 
holding company under the project, and OAO VTB Bank ("VTB") 

entered into a credit facility agreement for a total principal amount of 
up to RUB 8,448 billion. 

On 30 September 2011 Bellgate Constructions Ltd. ("Bellgate"), the 
holding company under the project, and OAO VTB Bank ("VTB") 

entered into a credit facility agreement for a total principal amount of 
up to RUB 5,000 billion. The amount was drawn down in full on 
September 30 as a consideration for the acquisition of 25% share in 
the AFIMALL project. 

The total amount of outstanding liability as of 31.12.2011 is c.USD 
420 million. 

All mentioned loans are secured by: 

(i) a pledge of all of the shares in Bellgate;  

(ii) a corporate guarantee from AFI Development;  

(iii) direct debit rights in relation to the accounts of Bellgate held 
with VTB; and  

(iv) a mortgage of 100% of the premises of AFIMall City
37

. 

420,191 

Second 
priority 

  

   

Other  N/A  

 

                                                           
37

 The mortgage of 100% premises of AFIMALL City (excluding parking) in favour of VTB Bank was registered in February 2012.  



54 
 

 

(i) Details with respect to the Valuation: 
 

 
(Data based on 100%. Share of company in the property ï 100% in 

31.12.2011 and 75% in 30.60.2011 and 2010 r)
38

 

31.12.2011 
 

30.6.2011 2010 

Value determined (USD ó000) 1,160,600 819,700 732,400 
Identity of appraiser JLL JLL JLL 
Is the appraiser independent? Yes Yes Yes 
Is there an indemnification agreement? Yes Yes Yes 
Effective date of the valuation (the date to which the valuation relates) 31.12.11 30.6.2011 31.12.10 
Valuation model (comparison / income / other / cost) DCF DCF DCF 

 Main details used for purposes of the valuation 
(to be provided specifically based on the valuation provided) (the list is illustrative only): 

If the 
valuation is 
by the Sales 
Comparison 
Approach 

Gross leasable area used in the calculation (sq.m.)** N/A N/A N/A 

Sale price per sq.m. of leasable area used in the calculation 
(USD)** 

N/A N/A N/A 

Range of prices per sq.m. of leasable area of comparable 
properties used in the calculation (USD)** 

N/A N/A N/A 

Number of comparable properties (#) used in the calculation** N/A N/A N/A 

Regarding the main relevant properties used for comparison 
indicate: the name/identity of the property, location, area** 

N/A N/A N/A 

Net rate of return reflecting the propertyôs current NOI (current 
NOI divided by value of the property) 

N/A N/A N/A 

Other main parameters N/A N/A N/A 

If the 
valuation is 
by the Sales 
Income 
Approach 

Gross leasable area used in the calculation (sq.m.)** 107,121 107,132 107,080 

Occupancy rate in the year + 1 (%)** 65% 70% 74% 

Occupancy rate in the year + 2 (%)** 80% 75% N/A 

--    

Representative occupancy rate out of the leasable area for 
purposes of valuation (%)** 

97% 97% 97% 

Average annual rent per sq.m. leased for purposes of valuation 
in the year + 1 

1,227 1,270 1,256 

Average annual rent per sq.m. leased for purposes of valuation 
in the year + 2 

1,290 1,306 1,256 

    

Representative average annual rent per sq.m. leased for 
purposes of valuation (USD)** 

1,313 1,337 1,256 

Representative NOI for purposes of valuation (USDó000) 133,877 103,744 94,272 

Average periodic expenses for maintenance of the existing 
situation (USDó000) 

15,676 3,678 The NOI 
presented 

net of OPEX 

                                                           
38

 As of 31.12.11 the valuation report refers to 100% of the shopping centre and 2,035 underground parking spaces (completed by 65%). Valuations reports 
as of 30.6.2011 and before refer to 75% of the shopping centre and 100% of construction expenses. 
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Capitalization rate / rate of return / multiplier used for purposes 
of the valuation (%) 

Capitalization ï 
10.0% 

Discount rate ï 
11.1% 

Capitalization 
ï 11.0% 

Discount rate 
ï 11.9% 

Capitalization 
ï 11.5% 

Discount rate 
ï 11.96% 

Time until deemed realization 5 years 5 years 15 month 

Multiplier / reversionary rate*** N/A N/A N/A 

Other main parameters N/A N/A N/A 

     

Sensitivity analysis for value (based on the method chosen):  Change in USD ñ000 

Occupancy 
rates 

Increase of 2% 30,900 21,500 N/A* 

Decrease of 2% -30,800 -21,500 N/A* 

Capitalization 
rates 

Increase of 10% -72,200 -48,900 N/A* 

Decrease of 10% 88,400 59,700 N/A* 

Average rent 
per meter 

Increase of 5% 65,700 42,400 78,800  

Decrease of 5% -65,700 -42,400 -79,100  

* Due to the fact that the project was classified as the investment property under development as of 31/12/2010 the sensitivity for this parameter was not applied. 
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6. Information Regarding a Very Substantial Investment Property under Development ï Tverskaya Zastava Shopping Centre 
 
During Q4 2011, the Company reached a non-binding agreement with the City of Moscow to transfer its development rights in the Tverskaya Zastava 
shopping centre to the City of Moscow. In exchange, the City of Moscow will re-approve and renew the Companyôs development rights and leasehold 
interest in land plots at Plaza Ic (part of Plaza I), Plaza IIa and Plaza IV. In addition the City will not charge municipality development rights cost of 
approximately US$95 million which the Company had expected to pay in the course of initial construction.  
Due to the above mentioned agreement, the Company wrote off Tverskaya Zastava shopping center from its books, resulting with an amount of 
US$74.8 million. 
The Company, based on JLL appraisal as at 31.12.11  believes that this settlement represent full compensation for the book value write off of the  on 
the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project. 
 

7. Information Regarding a Very Substantial Investment Property under Development ï Tverskaya Plaza IV  
 
(a)  Presentation of property: 
 

 Details as at December 31, 2011 

Name of the property: Tverskaya Plaza IV 

Location of the property: Gruzinsky Val, 11 Moscow 

Area of the land: 1.33 hectars 

Areas of the property planned to be built up: GBA ï 108,000 sq.m   

Structure of holdings in the property 
(description of holding through investee 
companies, including the rates of holdings 
therein and the rates of their holdings in the 
property)

 
 

Beslaville Management Limited 
(ñBeslavilleò), a Cypriot corporation 
controlled by the Company by 95%, has a 
100% interest in OOO ñZheldoruslugiò, a 
Russian limited liability company. New 
development rights

39
 are expected to be 

granted to OOO ñAvtostoyanka Tverskaya 
Zastavaò (ñATZò), a Russian limited liability 
company, 100% owned by the Company.   

Effective share of the company in the 
property (if the property is held by an investee 
company ï multiplication of the companyôs 
share in the investee company by the share 
of the investee company in the property): 

95% in Beslaville, 100% in ATZ  

State the names of the partners in the N/A  

                                                           
39

  With respect to this property it is noted that OOO ñZheldoruslugiò, a Russian limited liability company which holds the rights to the land  on the Plaza IV project site, is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Beslaville Management Ltd., in which AFI Development PLC owns 95% stake. The Group has an option to acquire the remaining 5% in this stage of the project, for a price of about US$7.12 
million. It should be noted, that under the non-binding agreement between the Company and the City of Moscow, reached in November 2011, the City shall re-approve and renew the 
Companyôs development rights and leasehold interest to land plots in Tverskaya Plaza IV and other two projects. Since the agreement with the City deals with compensation by the City for 
termination of the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project, the development rights to Plaza IV shall be granted to OOO ñAvtostoyanka Tverskaya Zastavaò, the subsidiary, which held rights 
to the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre.   
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property (if the partners hold more than 25% 
of the rights in the property or if the partners 
are related parties as defined in this 
Directive): 

Acquisition date of the land (if relevant): 2006 

Commencement date of the construction 
work: 

N/A 

Detail of the legal rights in the property 
(ownership, lease, etc.): 

In November 2011 the Company has 
reached a non-binding agreement with the 
City of Moscow, according to which the City 
shall grant the Company development rights 
and secure leasehold rights to the Tverskaya 
Plaza IV project as part of the compensation 
for termination of Tverskaya Zastava 
shopping centre

40
. 

Status of registration of the legal rights
41

: Ownership to land plots and buildings 
registered. 

State whether there are sources of financing 
for continued construction of the property 
[included herein, note the main contingent 
conditions for provision of financing as stated, 
and whether the company is in compliance 
with these conditions as at the date of the 
report]: 

N/A 

Special matters (significant non-conforming 
construction, ground contamination, etc.): 

N/A 

Method of presentation in the financial 
statements [consolidation / proportionate 
consolidation / equity method]: 

Full consolidation  

Identity of the executing contractor: N/A 

Calculation method (fauschly / quantities 
certificate / other): 

N/A 

Details with respect to a property sold: N/A 

 
(b) Significant Data: 
 

                                                           
40

  To enable the City to prepare approval documentation for  Tverskaya Plaza IV, the Company has to waive itsô ownership to seven land plots with total area of 2,145 sq. m. at 11, Gruzinsky Val, 
in favour of the Moscow municipality. 

41
  It is noted that long-term lease agreements entered into for a period of one year or more as well as ownership rights are registered with the Real Estate Register and accordingly, all the said 

long-term lease agreements signed by the Group as specified in this table were registered as stated.  
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(Data based on 100%. Share of company in the property 
ï 95%) 

Year 2011 
(year of the 

report) 

2010 

Initial acquisition cost (USD ó000) 125,770 125,442 

Current cost invested during the period (USD ó000) 127 328 

Total accumulated cost as at the end of the period (USD 
ó000) 

125,897 125,770 

If the property is measured at cost ï impairment in value 
(cancellation of impairment in value recorded in the period) 
(USD ó000) 

N/A N/A 

Fair value at end of the period (USD ó000) 164,632 110,526 

Expected completion date (as reported at the end of each 
period) 

Dec-15 Dec-14 

Total expected cost of the investment (as reported at the 
end of each period) (USD ó000) 

365,349 426,459 

Cost of the investment not yet invested (as reported at the 
end of each period) (USD ó000) 

240,563 301,717 

Budgeted percentage of completion (%) 66% 71% 

NOI from interim uses (non-core) (USD) N/A N/A 
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(c) Details with respect to the Valuation: 
 

 

(Data based on 95%. Share of company in the property ï 95%) 
 

2011 
(report year)* 

2010 

Value determined (USD ó000) 156,400 105,000 
Identity of appraiser JLL JLL 
Is the appraiser independent? Yes Yes 
Is there an indemnification agreement? Yes Yes 
Effective date of the valuation (the date to which the valuation relates) 31.12.11 31.12.10 
Valuation model (residual / replacement cost / other) DCF DCF 

Main details used for purposes of the valuation 
(to be provided specifically based on the valuation provided) (the list is illustrative only): 

If the 
valuation 
is by the 
Residual 
Approach 

Constructio
n 

Estimated completion date of the construction taken into account in 
the valuation (date) 

Dec-15 Dec-14 

Total capital investment required for construction of the property, net 
yet expended (USD ó000) 

240,563 301,717 

Discount rate for purposes of discounting construction costs (%), up 
to completion of construction of the property (if it is different than the 
discount rate used after completion of the construction) 

N/A N/A 

Rate of developerôs margin (%)  22% 24% 
The costs regarding which the developerôs margin was taken 
[remaining costs / total construction costs / other] 

240,563 301,717 

Value after 
constructio
n (residual) 
(based on 
method) 

If the value 
after 
constructio
n is 
estimated 
by the Sales 
Comparison 
Approach 

Gross leasable area used in the calculation (sq.m.)** N/A N/A 
Sale price per sq.m. of leasable area used in the 
calculation (USD)** 

N/A N/A 

Range of prices per sq.m. of leasable area of 
comparable properties used in the calculation 
(USD)** 

N/A N/A 

Number of comparable properties (#) used in the 
calculation** 

N/A N/A 

Regarding the main relevant properties used for 
comparison indicate: the name/identity of the 
property, location, area** 

N/A N/A 

Other main parameters N/A N/A 
If the value 
after 
constructio
n is 
estimated 
by the 
Income 
Approach 
(Discounted 
Cash 

Gross leasable area used in the calculation (sq.m.) Office ï 65,550 
Retail ï 2,850 
parking ï 1,210 
spaces 

Office ï 80,397 
parking -32,668; 
hotel ï 10,502 
(GBA) sq.m 

Occupancy rate in the year + 1 (%) 50% 50% 
Occupancy rate in the year + 2 (%) 95% 95% 
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Flows) Representative occupancy rate out of the leasable 
area for purposes of valuation (%) 

95% 95% 

Average annual rent per sq.m. (USD) leased for 
purposes of valuation in the 1

st
 operation year 

963-office; 1,100- 
retail 

840 

Average annual rent per sq.m. (USD) leased for 
purposes of valuation in the year 2

nd
 operation year  

963-office; 1100- 
retail 

840 

--   
Representative average rent annual per sq.m. leased 
for purposes of valuation (USD)** 

963 -office; 1100- 
retail 

840 

Representative  NOI for purposes of valuation 
(USD ó000) 

69,744 68,843 

Average periodic expenses for maintenance of the 
existing situation (USD ó000) 

3,671 
 

The NOI 
presented net of 
OPEX 

Capitalization rate / discount rate / multiplier used for 
purposes of the valuation (%) 

Capitalization ï 
9.5% 
Discount rate ï 
14.1% 

Capitalization ï 
10.0% 
Discount rate ï 
13.7% 

Time until deemed realization*** 24 months 24 months 
Multiplier / reversionary rate*** N/A N/A 

Other main parameters N/A N/A 

If the valuation is by the 
Cost Approach 

Main parameters N/A N/A 

é N/A N/A 

If the valuation is by 
another approach 

Main parameters N/A N/A 

Sensitivity analysis for value (based on the method chosen): Change in USD ñ000 

Developerôs margin Increase of 10% -5,400 -6,900 

Decrease of 10% 5,400 7,000 

Construction costs Increase of 10% -20,300 -17,500 

Decrease of 10% 20,000 24,500 

Average rents per sq.m. Increase of 10% 35,200 30,700 

Decrease of 10% -35,200 -30,600 

Discount / yield rate Increase of 10% -19,535 -16,100 

Decrease of 10% 21,558 18,100 
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8. Information Regarding a Very Substantial Investment Property under Development ï Ozerkovskaya Embankment III   

 
(a)  Presentation of property:  

 
 Detail as at December 31, 2011 

Name of the property: Ozerkovskaya Phase III 

Location of the property: Ozerkovskaya Embankment, 22-24, Moscow 

Area of the land: 1.4474 hectars 

Areas of the property planned to be built up, 
broken down by use: 

GBA ï 78,647 sq.m  

Structure of holdings in the property 
(description of holding through investee 
companies, including the rates of holdings 
therein and the rates of their holdings in the 
property): 

100% is held by the Company's Russian 
subsidiary ï Krown investments LLC.  In 
September 2006 the Company entered into a 
participatory interest sale and purchase 
agreement with a third party, pursuant to 
which the Company agreed to a 50% 
participatory interest in the charter capital of 
Krown Investments, subject to the fulfillment 
of certain conditions precedent, for the 
purposes of cooperation in the development 
of the Ozerkovskaya Phase III project. As at 
the date of this statement the transfer of the 
participation interest has not been effected. 
  

Effective share of the company in the 
property

42
: 

50% 

State the names of the partners in the 
property  

Private investor  

Acquisition date of the land (if relevant): 2004  

Commencement date of the construction 
work: 

2006  

Detail of the legal rights in the property 
(ownership, lease, etc.) 

Construction of the residential part has been 
completed. The office building complex  

(Ozerkovskaya Phase III)  is in final construction 

stages.  The land lease (for 49 years) with respect 
to Ozerkovskaya Phase III project initially provided, 
as one of its conditions, that construction on the 
plot was to have been completed as of 31 
December 2006. In April 2009, the City of Moscow 

                                                           
42

  Pursuant to the Groupôs policies, commencing from January 1, 2008, investee companies held at the rate of 50% or less are no longer consolidated. 
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adopted a resolution according to which Krown 
Investments has until 28 February 2011 to 
complete construction and until 30 September 
2011 to put the facilities into operation. As at the 
date of this statement, the Ozerkovskaya Phase III 
is under construction, however, as the construction 
under the project is almost completed, the Group 
does not expect that the City will take any negative 
actions in relation to the project or to the land lease 
under the project at this advanced stage. Under the 
land lease agreement the City can impose a fine on 
the Company, however there is no risk to the lease 
agreement.  

Status of registration of the legal rights: Land lease rights registered. 

State whether there are sources of financing 
for continued construction of the property  

As of 31.12.11, outstanding development loan 
balance of USD16.0 million 

Special matters (significant non-conforming 
construction, ground contamination, etc.): 

The design documentation for Ozerkovskaya 
III has been amended to change the 
designation of the project to office use only. 
The Company aims to approve the amended 
design documentation with Mosgosekspertiza 
and other Moscow state and local authorities 
(if necessary). 

Method of presentation in the financial 
statements  

Proportionate consolidation  

Identity of the executing contractor: Danya-Cebus 

Calculation method (fauschly / quantities 
certificate / other): 

Quantities certificate  

Details with respect to a property sold N/A 

 
(b) Significant Data: 

 
(Data based on 50%. Share of company in the property ï

50%) 
Year 2011 (year 
of the report)* 

Year 2010 

Initial acquisition cost (USD ó000) 56,592 44,886 

Current cost invested during the period (USD ó000) 19,161 11,706 

Total accumulated cost as at the end of the period (USD 
ó000) 

75,753 56,592 

If the property is measured at cost ï impairment in value 
(cancellation of impairment in value recorded in the period) 
(USD ó000) 

N/A N/A 

Fair value at end of the period (USD ó000) 177,600 140,450 
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Expected completion date (as reported at the end of each 
period)

 
 

Mar-12 Sep-11 

Total expected cost of the investment (as reported at the end 
of each period) (USD ó000) 

191,840 (100%) 181,904 
(100%) 

Cost of the investment not yet invested (as reported at the 
end of each period) (USD ó000) 

37,058 (100%) 59,338 
(100%) 

Budgeted percentage of completion (%) 19% 69% 

NOI from interim uses (non-core) (USD) N/A N/A 

 
(b) Specific Financing: 
 

Specific Financing Loan A: 

 
Balances in the 
statement of 
financial position 

31.12.2011 
(USD ó000) 

Presented as short-term 
loans: 

2,551 

Presented as long-term 
loans: 

20,727 

 
31.12.2010 
(USD ó000) 

Presented as short-term 
loans: 

1,032 (50%) 

Presented as long-term 
loans: 

9,325 (50%) 

Fair value as at 31.12.2011 (end of the report year) 
(USD ó000) 

24,427 

Credit framework not yet used (USD ó000) As of 31.12.11, outstanding 
development loan balance of 
7,979 (50%)  

Effective interest rate as at 31.12.2011 (%) 11.75% 

Repayment dates principal and interest 17/06/2015  

Main financial conditions N/A  

Other financial conditions  N/A  

State whether main conditions or financial covenants have 
been violated as at the end of the report year 

N/A  

Is it non-recourse  non recourse 

 
 

(c) Liens and other Significant Legal Restrictions in the Property]: 
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Type Detail Amount secured by the 
lien 

(at the end of the report 
year) 

31.12.2011 
(USD ó000) 

Liens First priority On 18 June 2010 OOO Krown Investments  (ñKrown 
Investmentsò), the holding company under the project, entered 
into a non-revolving credit line agreement with the Savings 
Bank of the Russian Federation (ñSberbankò) for a principal 
amount of up to USUSD74 million (denominated in Roubles) 
maturing on 17 June 2015. 
The loan is secured by: 
(i) a pledge of 100% participation interest in the charter 

capital of Krown Investments;  
(ii) a mortgage of the lease rights in relation to the land plot 

with the total area of 14,474 sq. m. underlying the 
Ozerkovskaya Phase III project; 

(iii) direct debit rights with respect to the accounts of Krown 
Investments with Sberbank;  

(iv) a pledge of the Krown Investmentsôs property rights 
with respect to 100% of the premises under the 
Ozerkovskaya Phase III project; and  

a mortgage of 100% of the premises under the Ozerkovskaya 
Phase III project to be provided upon completion of the project 
and state registration of the ownership of Krown Investments to 
the premises of the Ozerkovskaya Phase III project. 

23,278 

Second 
priority 

  

   

Other    
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(d) Details with respect to the Valuation:  
 

(Data based on 50%. Share of company in the property ï 50%) 2011 
(report year)* 

2010 

Value determined (USD ó000) 177,600  140,450  

Identity of appraiser JLL JLL 

Is the appraiser independent? Yes Yes 

Is there an indemnification agreement? Yes Yes 

Effective date of the valuation (the date to which the valuation relates) 31.12.11 31.12.10 

Valuation model (residual / replacement cost / other) DCF DCF 

Main details used for purposes of the valuation 
(to be provided specifically based on the valuation provided) (the list is illustrative only): 

If the 
valuation 
is by the 
Residual 
Approach 

Construction Estimated completion date of the construction taken into account in the 
valuation (date) 

Mar-12 Sept-11 

Total capital investment required for construction of the property, net 
yet expended (USD ó000) ï the difference is explained by the change 
in methodology when the appraiser has included fit-out cost into the 
budget 

37,058 29,694 

Discount rate for purposes of discounting construction costs (%), up to 
completion of construction of the property (if it is different than the 
discount rate used after completion of the construction) 

N/A N/A 

Rate of developerôs margin (%)  - the difference is mainly due to 
different approach  

1% 2% 

The costs regarding which the developerôs margin was taken 
[remaining costs / total construction costs / other] 

37,058 29,694 

Value after 
construction 
(residual) 
(based on 
method) 

If the value 
after 
construction 
is estimated 
by the Sales 
Comparison 
Approach 

Gross leasable area used in the calculation (sq.m.) N/A N/A 

Sale price per sq.m. of leasable area used in the 
calculation (USD) 

N/A N/A 

Range of prices per sq.m. of leasable area of 
comparable properties used in the calculation (USD) 

N/A N/A 

Number of comparable properties (#) used in the 
calculation 

N/A N/A 

Regarding the main relevant properties used for 
comparison indicate: the name/identity of the property, 
location, area 

N/A N/A 

Other main parameters N/A N/A 

If the value 
after 
construction 
is estimated 
by the 
Income 
Approach 
(Discounted 
Cash Flows) 

Gross leasable area used in the calculation (sq.m.) ï
presented for 100% of the property 

Office ï 45,534; retail ï 
860; parking -557 units 

Office ï 45,534; retail ï 
860; parking -557 units 

Occupancy rate in the year + 1 (%) 60% 60% 

Occupancy rate in the year + 2 (%) 98% 98% 

Representative occupancy rate out of the leasable 
area for purposes of valuation (%) 

98% 98% 

Average annual rent per sq.m. (USD) leased for 
purposes of valuation in the 1

st
 operation year 

860 775 

Average annual rent per sq.m. (USD) leased for 
purposes of valuation in the year 2

nd
 operation year  

N/A N/A 

--   
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Representative average rent annual per sq.m. leased 
for purposes of valuation (USD) 

860 775 

Representative cash flow / representative NOI for 
purposes of valuation (USD ó000)* 

20,465 18,612 

Average periodic expenses for maintenance of the 
existing situation  

The NOI presented net of OPEX 

Capitalization rate / discount rate / multiplier used for 
purposes of the valuation (%) 

Capitalization ï 9.5% 
Discount rate ï 9.8% 

Capitalization ï 10.0% 
Discount rate ï 10.9% 

Time until deemed realization*** 24 months 15 months 

Multiplier / reversionary rate*** N/A N/A 

Other main parameters N/A N/A 

If the valuation is by the 
Cost Approach 

Main parameters N/A N/A 

é N/A N/A 

If the valuation is by 
another approach 

Main parameters N/A N/A 

Sensitivity analysis for value (based on the method chosen): Change in USD ñ000 

Developerôs margin Increase of 10% -50 -400 

Decrease of 10% +50 +400 

Construction costs Increase of 10% --50 -5,500 

Decrease of 10% +50 +5,500 

Average rents per sq.m. Increase of 10% +19,550 +34,000 

Decrease of 10% -19,600 -34,000 

Discount / yield rate Increase of 10% -3,428 -4,800 

Decrease of 10% +3,531 +4,800 

*The NOI refers only to commercial parts 
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Human Resources - Employees 
The following table details the number of employees in the Groupôs real estate operations in Russia, broken down by the business sectors in which they 
are employed:  

 Number of Employees as at 

31.12.11 31.12.10 31.12.09 

Management 7 6 8 

Financial 26 27 23 

Marketing and sales 5 4 14 

Business development, including 

 project management division 
52 77 43 

Legal 9 8 8 

Administrative 39 48 38 

Total 138
43

 170 134 

 

The decrease in the number of employees between 2011 and 2010, as shown in the table (mainly in the area of business development) was a result of 
completing the largest company project ï AFIMALL City shopping mall. The number of people in the project management team was reduced as year 
2012 doesnôt assume commencing of new extensive construction works comparing to AFIMALL scale. The reduction in the administrative personnel is 
explained by optimization and consolidation of the new management team led by the new CEO Mark Groysman. In addition, as at the date of this 
statement, AFI Ukraine employs 2 persons through subsidiaries in the Ukraine for maintaining the Ukranian projects. 

 

                                                           
43

 In addition to the number of employees mentioned above, as at December 31, 2011, Semprex had 117 hotel operational employees. Additional 46 employees were employed by the AFIMALL 

City by management Company of the mall.    
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Annex B to the Management Discussion and Analysis 

 
Below is additional information regarding the Company's very significant loans. Terms not expressly defined herein shall have the meaning 
ascribed thereto in the MD&A.  
 

Balance as of 

31.12.2011

Lender type: 

Bank, 

Institutional 

etc.

Indexation/ currency 

exposure & interest rate

Liens and material legal 

restrictions on the property
Covenants

Cross default 

mechanism

Any other 

covenants or 

restriction that 

might increases 

the cost of debt

In-case it is a 

credit line 

facility - what are 

the 

terms&condition

s for draw downs

The methods/way that the 

covenant is calculated
Covenant calculation results

The date of Q4 financial 

statement were reported

The date that the lender is 

chtcking the borrower is line 

with the covenants

262,392,029 USD  

(RUR 

8,448,000,000)

Specific 

project 

financed by 

Russian local 

bank (Bank 

VTB OJSC)

RUB loan bearing 11.5% 

interest per annum paid 

quarterly. Upon 

mortgage registration 

the interest rate is 

reduced to 9.5%. The 

principal is due to be 

fully repaid on August 

28th, 2013.  The interest 

rate may be unilaterally 

increased by Bank VTB 

OJSC should one of the 

interest indicators 

stipulated by the 

Russian Central Bank 

and specified in the loan 

agreement be increased; 

the interest rate will be 

increased by the amount 

of the interest indicator 

increase.

мΦ [ƛŜƴǎ ƻǾŜǊ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ .ŜƭƭƎŀǘŜΩǎ 

shares

2. AFI Development PLC 

company guarantee

3. Mortgage over the 

premises in the AFIMALL 

owned by Bellgate, upon 

ǊŜƎƛǎǘǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ .ŜƭƭƎŀǘŜΩǎ 

ownership right

4. Permission to debit 

.ŜƭƭƎŀǘŜΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘ ƘŜƭŘ ƛƴ 

Bank VTB OJSC           

(1) Borrower' constituent documents (legalized and with notarized translation into 

Russian) if amended, in 30 days following the date of state registration of amendments. 

Penalty: penalty on the amount of 10 000 RUB per each event of default; 

(2) IFRS Financials for the last Year audited, each year not later than 210 Days from the 

beginning . Penalty: penalty on the amount of 10 000 RUB per each event of default; 

(3) Appraisal Report of the independent appraisal company acceptable for VTB Bank OJSC 

referring market value of 100% Complex' premises, in 60 days following the date of 

ownership' right state registration. Penalty: Early Repayment in full; 

(4) Conclusion of the 100% Complex's premises Mortgage Agreement, in 60 days following 

the date of ownership' right state registration. Penalty: Early Repayment in full; 

(5) Submission of the 100%-premises Mortgage Agreement registered, no later than 90 

days following the date of  ownership right state registration. Penalty: Early Repayment in 

full; 

(6) Submission of the Insurance Agreement for the Complex and relevant documents for 

the insurance premium paid, in 10 days after the day the 100% Complex's premises 

Mortgage Agreement is concluded. Penalty: Early Repayment in full; 

(7) Late payment interest of 0.03% per each day of delay for the late payment of the 

principal amount; 

(8) Late payment interest of 0.06% per each day of delay for the late payment of interest.

N/A N/A N/A

(1) The definitions of loan and 

value are as follows: Loan = 

principal + 6 months interest; 

Value = market value as it is 

being determined by the bank

(1) LTV = is calculated for the 

first time upon mortgage 

registration of the property (2)  

Banking account turnover = in 

line with the covenant

19 March 2012
LTV is checked twice a year, on 

28 February and on 22 August. 

155,298,313 USD  

(RUR 

5,000,000,000)

Specific 

project 

financed by 

Russian local 

bank (Bank 

VTB OJSC)

RUB loan bearing 11.5% 

interest per annum paid 

quarterly. Upon 

mortgage registration 

the interest rate is 

reduced to 9.5%. The 

principal is due to be 

fully repaid on August 

28th, 2013.  The interest 

rate may be unilaterally 

increased by Bank VTB 

OJSC should one of the 

interest indicators 

stipulated by the 

Russian Central Bank 

and specified in the loan 

agreement be increased; 

the interest rate will be 

increased by the amount 

of the interest indicator 

increase.

мΦ [ƛŜƴǎ ƻǾŜǊ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ .ŜƭƭƎŀǘŜΩǎ 

shares

2. AFI Development PLC 

company guarantee

3. Mortgage over the 

premises in the AFIMALL 

owned by Bellgate, upon 

ǊŜƎƛǎǘǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ .ŜƭƭƎŀǘŜΩǎ 

ownership right

4. Permission to debit 

.ŜƭƭƎŀǘŜΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘ ƘŜƭŘ ƛƴ 

Bank VTB OJSC               

(1) Banking accounts monthly turnover (only with VTB Bank OJSC) not less than 80 million 

RUB, starting from the 1st day of the month following the month when the Loan Facility 

was signed (the additional loan signed on 30.9.11). Penalty: 1% per annum extra charge to 

the interest rate applicable under the loan agreement; 

(2) Banking accounts monthly turnover (only with VTB Bank OJSC) not less than 200 million 

RUB, starting from the 1st day of the month following the month after the date of  AFIMALL 

City's premises (Complex) ownership right's state registration. Penalty: 1% per annum 

extra charge to the interest rate applicable under the loan agreement; 

(3) Borrower' constituent documents (legalized and with notarized translation into 

Russian) if amended, in 30 days following the date of state registration of amendments. 

Penalty: penalty on the amount of 10 000 RUB per each event of default; 

(4) IFRS Financials for the last Year audited, each year not later than 210 Days from the 

beginning . Penalty: penalty on the amount of 10 000 RUB per each event of default; 

(5) Appraisal Report of the independent appraisal company acceptable for VTB Bank OJSC 

referring market value of 100% Complex' premises, in 60 days following the date of 

ownership' right state registration. Penalty: Early Repayment in full; 

(6) Conclusion of the 100% Complex's premises Mortgage Agreement, in 60 days following 

the date of ownership' right state registration. Penalty: Early Repayment in full; 

(7) Submission of the 100%-premises Mortgage Agreement registered, no later than 90 

days following the date of  ownership right state registration. Penalty: Early Repayment in 

full; 

(8) Submission of the Insurance Agreement for the Complex and relevant documents for 

the insurance premium paid, in 10 days after the day the 100% Complex's premises 

Mortgage Agreement is concluded. Penalty: Early Repayment in full; 

(9) Late payment interest of 0.03% per each day of delay for the late payment of the 

principal amount; 

(10) Late payment interest of 0.06% per each day of delay for the late payment of interest.

N/A N/A N/A

(1) The definitions of loan and 

value are as follows: Loan = 

principal + 6 months interest; 

Value = market value as it is 

being determined by the bank 

(1) LTV = is calculated for the 

first time upon mortgage 

registration of the property (2)  

Banking account turnover = in 

line with the covenant

19 March 2012
LTV is checked twice a year, on 

28 February and on 22 August. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORSô REPORT 

 
 

The Board of Directors of AFI Development Plc (the ñCompanyò) presents to the members its 

annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the 

year ended 31 December 2011. 
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES  

 

The principal activities of the Group, which remained unchanged from last year, are real estate 

investment and development. The principal activity of the Company is the holding of investments 

in subsidiaries. 
 

EXAMINATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT, POSITION AND PERFORMANCE OF THE 

ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP  

 

AFI Development is one of the leading real estate development companies operating in Russia. 

Established in 2001, AFI Development is a publicly traded subsidiary of Africa Israel Investments 

Ltd. 

 

AFI Development is listed on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange and aims to deliver 

shareholder value through a commitment to innovation and continuous project development, 

coupled with the highest standards of design, construction, and quality and customer service. 

 

AFI Development focuses on developing and redeveloping high quality commercial and 

residential real estate assets across Russia, with Moscow being itsô main market. The Companyôs 

existing portfolio comprises commercial projects focused on offices, shopping centres, hotels and 

mixed-use properties, and residential projects. AFI Developmentôs strategy is to sell the residential 

properties it develops and to either lease the commercial properties or sell them for a favourable 

return. 

 

As at 31 December 2011, the Company had a portfolio of 6 yielding properties, 11 investment and 

trading projects under development, 2 trading properties, 4 land bank projects and 5 hotel projects 

at various stages of development in Russia and Ukraine. These comprise commercial projects 

focused on offices, shopping centres, hotels, mixed-use properties and residential projects in prime 

locations in Moscow and other locations. 

 

FINANCIAL RESULTS  

 

The Groupôs results are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 8. The profit of the 

Group for the year before taxation amounted to US$246,641 thousand (2010: US$70,294 

thousand). The profit after taxation attributable to the Groupôs shareholders amounted to 

US$170,870 thousand (2010: US$25,516 thousand), which the Board of Directors recommends to 

be transferred to the retained earnings. 
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DIVIDENDS  

 

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of a dividend and the net profit for the 

year is transferred to retained earnings.  
 

MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES  

 

The most significant risks faced by the Group and the steps taken to manage these risks are 

described in note 5 of the consolidated financial statements. 
 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT S  

 

The Group is one of the leading real estate development companies operating in Russia. It focuses 

on developing and redeveloping high quality commercial and residential real estate assets in 

Moscow and the Moscow Region.  The strategy during the reporting period and for the future 

periods is to sell the residential properties that the Group develops and to either lease the 

commercial properties that the Group develops or sell them if the Group is able to achieve a 

favourable return. 

 

SHARE CAPITAL  

 

There were no changes to the share capital of the Company during the year.  As at the year end the 

share capital of the company comprised: 

¶ 523,847,027 ñAò shares of US$0.001 and, 

¶ 523,847,027 ñBò shares of US$0.001 

 

All ñAò shares are on deposit with BNY (Nominees) Limited and each ñAò share is represented by 

one GDR listed on the London Stock Exchange (ñLSEò). 

 

All ñBò shares were admitted to a premium listing of the Official list of the UK Listing Authority 

and to trading on the main market of LSE.  

 

BRANCHES  

 

The Group operates seven branches and/or representative offices of Cypriot and BVI entities in the 

Russian Federation. These are Bellgate Construction Ltd branch, which operates AFIMALL City  

project. The Dulverton Ltd branch and the Westec Four Winds Ltd branch, which operate Four 

Winds I and II projects respectively. Amerone Ltd branch and Bugis Finance branch operating 

investment properties and Bastet Estates Ltd branch and Falgaro Investments Ltd branch acting as 

sale agents for residential properties. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

The members of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report are 

shown on page 1.  The directorsô date of appointment and resignation, if applicable, is indicated on 

page 1.  The term of those that have not resigned will expire on the date of the next annual general 

meeting of the shareholders but all of them are eligible for re-election. There were no significant 

changes in the assignment of responsibilities of the Board of Directors during the year. 

 

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

 

Events which took place after the reporting date and which have a bearing on the understanding of 

the financial statements are described in note 35 of the consolidated financial statements.  

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 

The independent auditors, KPMG Limited, have expressed their willingness to continue offering 

their services. A resolution reappointing the auditors and giving authority to the Board of Directors 

to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. 

 

 

 By order of the Board 

 

 

 Emerald Secretarial Services 

 Secretary 

Nicosia, 18 March 2012 
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DIRECTORSô RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

Each of the directors, whose names are listed below confirm that, to the best of their 

knowledge: 

¶ the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS as 

adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the 

consolidation as a whole; and 

¶ the adoption of a going concern basis for the preparation of the financial 

statements continues to be appropriate based on the foregoing and having reviewed 

the forecast financial position of the Group; and 

¶ the Board of Directorsô reports include a fair review of the development and 

performance of the business and the position of the Company and the undertakings 

included in the consolidation as a whole, together with a description of the 

principal risks and uncertainties that they face.  

The Directors of the Company as at the date of this announcement are as set out below: 

The Board of Directors 

Executive director 

Mark Groysman                              ............................................................. 

 

 

Non-executive directors 

 

Lev Leviev ï Chairman                 ............................................................. 

 

 

Izzy Cohen                                     ............................................................. 

 

 

Non-executive independent directors 

 

Moshe Amit                                   ............................................................. 

 

 

Christakis Klerides                        ............................................................. 

 

 

John Robert Camber Porter           ............................................................. 

 

 

Panayiotis Demetriou                    ............................................................. 

 

 

Michalakis Sarris                           ............................................................. 
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Independent Auditorsô Report 
 

 
To the Members of AFI Development Plc 

 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of AFI Development Plc 

(ñthe Companyò) and its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the ñGroupò), which comprise 

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated 

statements of income statement, comprehensive income and changes in equity and cash flows for 

the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information.  

 

Board of Directorsô Responsibility for the consolidated Financial Statements 
 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted by the European Union (EU) and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 

113, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.  

 

Auditorsô Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 

Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.  

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditorôs judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion.  
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Opinion 
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of the Group as at 31 December 2011, and of its financial performance and its cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by the EU and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. 

 

Report on Other Legal Requirements 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Auditors and Statutory Audits of Annual and Consolidated 

Accounts Law of 2009, we report the following: 

¶ We have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the 

purposes of our audit. 

¶ In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company. 

¶ The consolidated financial statements are in agreement with the books of account. 

¶ In our opinion and to the best of the information available to us and according to the 

explanations given to us, the consolidated financial statements give the information 

required by the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113, in the manner so required. 

¶ In our opinion, the information given in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent 

with the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Other Matter  

 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Companyôs members as 

a body in accordance with Section 34 of the Auditors and Statutory Audits of Annual and 

Consolidated Accounts Law of 2009 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, 

accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whose knowledge 

this report may come to.  

 

 

 

 

 

Marios G. Gregoriades 

Certified Public Accountant and Registered Auditor 

For and on behalf of 

 

KPMG Limited 

Certified Public Accountants and Registered Auditors 

 

 

Nicosia, 18 March 2012 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT  
 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 
 

 

  2011 2010 

 Note US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

    

Revenue    

Rental income  116,989 43,946 

Construction consulting/management fees      1,006        876 

  117,995 44,822 

    

Other income 7 754 231 

Operating expenses  (72,102) (18,660) 

Administrative expenses  (30,315) (13,178) 

Other expenses 8    (2,343)    (7,879) 

    13,989     5,336 

    

Impairment of prepayment for investments     (1,178) (17,676) 

    

Valuation gain on investment property 12,13 267,978 93,917 

Impairment loss on trading properties 18 (414) (1,251) 

Impairment loss reversal/(recognition) on property, 

plant and equipment 

 

14 

 

    1,320 

 

(16,893) 

Net valuation gain on properties  268,884  75,773 

    

Proceeds from sale of trading properties  15,929 30,170 

Carrying value of trading properties sold 18  (10,345) (20,173) 

Profit  on disposal of trading properties      5,584    9,997 

    

Results from operating activities  287,279  73,430 

    

Finance income  8,234 13,657 

Finance costs   (48,872) (16,793) 

Net finance costs 9  (40,638)   (3,136) 

    

Profit before tax  246,641 70,294 

Tax expense 10  (75,098) (44,416) 

    

Profit  for the year  171,543   25,878 

    

Profit attributable to:     

Owners of the Company  170,870 25,516 

Non-controlling interests          673        362 

Profit for the year  171,543  25,878 

    

Earnings per share     

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cent) 11     16.31       2.44 

    

 

 

The notes on pages 83 to 126 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME  
 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 
 

 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Profit  for the year 171,543 25,878 

   

Other comprehensive income:    

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations  (35,870)       109 

   

Total comprehensive income for the year 135,673 25,987 

   

   

Total comprehensive income attributable to:   

Owners of the parent 135,011 25,629 

Non-controlling interests        662      358 

 135,673 25,987 

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 83 to 126 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 
 

 

Attributable to the owners of the Company 

Non-

controlling   

interest 

 

Total 

 Share  Share  Translation Retained    

 Capital Premium Reserve Earnings Total   

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

        

Balance at 1 January 2010     524 1,763,933 (142,745)    80,949 1,702,661 2,867 1,705,528 

Total comprehensive income for the year        

Profit  - - - 25,516 25,516 362 25,878 

Other comprehensive income        

Foreign currency translation 

differences 

 

        - 

 

               - 

 

        113 

 

              - 

 

          113 

 

      (4) 

 

          109 

Total comprehensive income 

for t he year 

 

        - 

 

               - 

 

        113 

 

   25,516 

 

     25,629 

 

   358 

 

    25,987 

Transactions with owners of the Company, recognised directly in equity        

Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Company        

Issue of bonus shares 524 (524) - - - - - 

Share option expense          -               -              -         106           106         -           106 

Total transactions with 

owners of the Company, 

recognised directly in equity 

 

 

    524 

 

 

        (524) 

 

 

             - 

 

 

        106 

 

 

          106 

 

 

         - 

 

 

          106 

        

Balance at 31 December 2010  1,048 1,763,409 (142,632)  106,571 1,728,396  3,225 1,731,621 

        

Balance at 1 January 2011  1,048 1,763,409 (142,632) 106,571 1,728,396 3,225 1,731,621 

        

Total comprehensive income for the year        

Profit  - - - 170,870 170,870 673 171,543 

Other comprehensive income        

Foreign currency translation 

differences 

 

          - 

 

                - 

 

  (35,859) 

 

             - 

 

   (35,859) 

 

    (11) 

 

   (35,870) 

Total comprehensive income 

for the year 

 

          - 

 

                - 

 

  (35,859) 

 

170,870 

 

  135,011 

 

   662 

 

  135,673 

        

Transactions with owners of the Company, recognised directly in equity        

Share option expense           -                 -               -           62             62          -             62 

        

Balance at 31 December 2011   1,048 1,763,409 (178,491) 277,503 1,863,469 3,887 1,867,356 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 83 to 126 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011 
 

  2011 2010 

 Note US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Assets    

Investment property 12 1,403,580 192,973 

Investment property under development 13 983,598 1,674,585 

Property, plant and equipment 14 92,034 88,402 

Long-term loans receivable 15 34 38 

Inventory of real estate 16 66,221 68,842 

VAT recoverable 17 5,370 8,893 

Goodwill             153           153 

Non-current assets  2,550,990 2,033,886 
    

Trading properties 18 11,053 21,386 

Trading properties under construction 19 129,598 105,962 

Inventories  665 576 

Short-term loans receivable 15 786 79 

Trade and other receivables 20 107,170 136,706 

Current tax assets 10 - 689 

Cash and cash equivalents 21      84,820    129,839 

Current assets     334,092    395,237 
    

Total assets  2,885,082 2,429,123 
    

Equity    

Share capital 22 1,048 1,048 

Share premium 22 1,763,409 1,763,409 

Translation reserve 22 (178,491) (142,632) 

Retained earnings 22    277,503    106,571 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  1,863,469 1,728,396 

Non-controlling interests         3,887        3,225 

Total equity  1,867,356 1,731,621 
    

Liabilities     

Long-term loans and borrowings 23 528,116 434,352 

Long-term amounts payable 24 71,627 - 

Deferred tax liabilities 25   142,093      81,194 

Deferred income 27       22,622      28,239 

Non-current liabilities       764,458    543,785 
    

Short-term loans and borrowings 23 98,973 33,883 

Trade and other payables 26 154,092 119,834 

Current tax liabilities 10            203                 - 

Current liabilities      253,268    153,717 
    

Total liabilities   1,017,726    697,502 
    

Total equity and liabilities  2,885,082 2,429,123 

 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2012. 
 

 

........................  ............................... 

Lev Leviev Mark Groysman 

Chairman Director 
 

The notes on pages 83 to 126 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 
 

  2011 2010 

 Note US$ô000 US$ô000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit for the year  171,543 25,878 

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation  14 1,829 1,274 

Interest income 9 (8,234) (7,084) 

Interest expense 9 40,126 7,029 

Share option expense 22 62 106 

Fair value adjustments  (268,884) (75,773) 

Impairment of prepayments for investments  1,178 17,676 

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment  56 (36) 

Change in fair value of other investments 9 - (6,315) 

Unrealised loss on foreign exchange 9 6,154 7,977 

Tax expense 10   75,098     44,416 

  18,928 15,148 

Change in trade and other receivables  4,596 5,618 

Change in amounts receivable from  related companies 20 6,432 (3,749) 

Change in inventories  (89) (252) 

Change in trading properties under construction 19 9,507 17,027 

Change in trade and other payables 26 1,649 1,234 

Change in down payments received for construction  - (1,484) 

Change in amounts payable to related companies 26 5,142 (249) 

Change in deferred income 27    (5,617)           413 

Cash generated from operating activities  40,548 33,706 

Taxes paid   (12,727)    (10,737) 

Net cash from operating activities     27,821     22,969 
    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Receipts in advance for the sale of an investment  - 2,506 

Payment of expenses associated to the disposal of investments  - (1,950) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  39 98 

Interest received  677 2,429 

Cash received from investment portfolio  - 10,237 

Acquisition of other investments  - (208) 

Change in advances to builders  5,219 224 

Payments for construction of investment property under development 12,13 (66,463) (154,322) 

Acquisition of investment property 12 (113,922) - 

Change in VAT recoverable  4,541 (2,360) 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 14 (9,646) (4,734) 

Acquisition of intangible assets                -             (3) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (179,555) (148,083) 
    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Payments for loan  receivable  (740) - 

Proceeds from repayment of loans receivable  43 - 

Proceeds from loans and borrowings  268,251 130,820 

Repayment of loans and borrowings  (89,220) (78,163) 

Interest paid   (60,088)    (49,803) 

Net cash from financing activities   118,246       2,854 
    

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations   (11,531)        2,024 
    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (45,019) (120,236) 

Reclassification  to cash and cash equivalents  - 39,245 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   129,839   210,830 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 21    84,820   129,839 
 

The notes on pages 83 to 126 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY  

 

AFI Development PLC (the ñCompanyò) was incorporated in Cyprus on 13 February 2001 as a 

limited liability company under the name Donkamill Holdings Limited.  In April 2007 the 

Company was transformed into public company and changed its name to AFI Development PLC.  

The address of the Companyôs registered office is 25 Olympion Street, Omiros & Araouzos 

Tower, 3035 Limassol, Cyprus.  The Company is a 63.7% (2010: 54%) subsidiary of Africa 

Israel Investments Ltd (ñAfrica-Israelò), which is listed in the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange 

(ñTASEò). The increase in shareholding during the period was achieved through the acquisition 

of the shares representing 9.7%, held by Nirro Group S.A.. The remaining shareholding of ñAò 

shares is held by a custodian bank in exchange for the GDRs issued and listed in the London 

Stock Exchange (ñLSEò). On 5 July 2010 the Company issued by way of a bonus issue, 

523,847,027 ñBò shares, which were admitted to a premium listing on the Official List of the UK 

Listing Authority and to trading on the main market of LSE. On the same date, the ordinary 

shares of the Company were designated as ñAò shares.  

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 

2011 comprise of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ñGroupò and 

individually as óGroup entitiesô) and the Groupôs interest in jointly controlled entities. The 

principal activity of the Group is real estate investment and development. 

 

The principal activity of the Company is the holding of investments in subsidiaries and joint 

ventures as presented in note 34 ñGroup Entitiesò. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

Statement of compliance  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the 

requirements of the Companies Law of Cyprus, Cap. 113. 

 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 

March 2012. 

 

Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as 

modified, up to 31 December 2003, by the provisions of IAS 29 ñReporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economiesò which provides for the restatement of non-monetary assets and liabilities to account 

for the inflation. The historical cost basis is also modified in regard to investment property, 

investment property under development and other investments which are presented at fair value 

and Property, plant and equipment, trading properties and trading properties under construction 

which are presented net of any impairment to their value. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars which is the 

Companyôs functional currency.  All financial information presented in United States Dollars has 

been rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated. 

 

Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires 

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 

accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual 

results may differ from these estimates.  

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 

future periods affected. 

 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties and critical judgements in applying 

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes: 

 

¶ Note 10 ï provision for tax liabilities 

¶ Note 12 ï valuation of investment property 

¶ Note 13 ï valuation of investment property under development 

¶ Note 14 ï valuation of land and buildings and buildings under construction 

¶ Note 18 ï valuation of trading properties 

¶ Note 19 ï valuation of trading properties under construction  

¶ Note 20 ï recoverability of receivables 

¶ Note 25 ï utilisation of tax losses 

¶ Note 32 ï contingencies 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these consolidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by Group entities, 

except as explained in the note above which addresses changes in accounting policies.  

 

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current yearôs 

presentation. 

 

Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 

included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the 

date that control ceases. 

 

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the 

policies adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary 

are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests 

to have a deficit balance. 

 

Acquisitions from entities under common control 

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of 

the shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the 

beginning of the earliest comparative period presented or, if later, at the date that common 

control was established; for this purpose comparatives are restated. The assets and liabilities 

acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group controlling 

shareholderôs consolidated financial statements. The components of equity of the acquired 

entities are added to the same components within Group equity and any gain/loss arising is 

recognised directly in equity. 

 

Jointly controlled operations 

A jointly controlled operation is a joint venture carried on by each venturer using its own assets 

in pursuit of the joint operations.  The consolidated financial statements include the assets that 

the Group controls and the liabilities that it incurs in the course of pursuing the joint operation 

and the expenses that the Group incurs and its share of the income that it earns from the joint 

operation. 

 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-

group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Foreign currency  

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the 

Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency 

at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the 

difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, 

adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign 

currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.   
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Foreign currency (continued)  

Foreign currency transactions (continued) 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair 

value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value 

was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured based on historical 

cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency 

differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Foreign operations 

Each entity of the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the 

financial statements of each entity are measured using its functional currency. Where the 

functional currency of an entity of the Group is other than US Dollars, which is the presentation 

currency of the Group, then the financial statements of the entity are translated in accordance 

with IAS 21 óThe effects of changes in foreign exchange ratesô. Assets and liabilities of foreign 

operations, both monetary and non-monetary are translated to US Dollars at exchange rates at the 

reporting date. The income and expenses are translated to US Dollars at the exchange rate at the 

reporting date or average rate for the year for practical reasons. Foreign currency differences are 

recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the foreign currency translation 

reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly owned 

subsidiary, then the relevant proportion of the translation reserve is allocated to non-controlling 

interests.  When a foreign operation is disposed of (in part or in full) the cumulative amount in 

the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of 

the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary 

that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the 

cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the settlement of a 

monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in 

the foreseeable future, foreign currency gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are 

considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other 

comprehensive income, and presented in the translation reserve in equity. 

 

The table below shows the exchange rates of Russian Roubles which is the functional currency 

of the Russian subsidiaries of the Group: 

 

 Exchange rate 

 Russian Roubles 

As of: for US$1 % Change 

31 December 2011 32.1961 5.6 

31 December 2010 30.4769 0.8 

 

Average rate during:  

Year ended 31 December 2011 29.3760 (3.3) 

Year ended 31 December 2010 30.3785 (4.9) 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Financial Instruments 

 

Non derivative financial assets 

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated.  All 

other financial assets (including assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss) are 

recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.   

 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any 

interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised 

as a separate asset or liability. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and 

intends either to settle on a net basis or to realised the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss, loans receivable, trade and other receivables and cash and 

cash equivalents. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for 

trading or is designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair 

value through profit or loss if the Group manages such investments and makes purchase and sale 

decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Groupôs documented risk management 

or investment strategy. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes 

therein, which takes into account any dividend income are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Loans and receivables 

Loan and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 

in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, cash at banks and short-term highly liquid 

investments with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to 

an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management 

of its short-term commitments. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

Non derivative financial liabilities 

The Group initially recognises debt securities and subordinated liabilities on the date that they 

are originated. All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or expire. 

 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities 

category. Such financial liabilities are recognises initially at fair value less any directly 

attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. 

 

Share capital 

 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 

ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax 

effects. 

 

Investment Property 

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for 

both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods 

or services or for administration purposes.  Investment property is measured at fair value. The 

fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be 

exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an armôs 

length transaction after proper marketing, wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, 

prudently and without compulsion. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is 

recognised in profit or loss.  

 

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is 

remeasured to fair value and reclassified as investment property. Any gain arising on 

remeasurement is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment 

loss on the specific property, with any remaining gain recognised in other comprehensive income 

and presented in the revaluation reserve in equity. Any loss is recognised immediately in profit or 

loss. 

 

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, 

its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. 

 

When the Group begins to redevelop an existing property for continued use as investment 

property, the property remains an investment property, which is measured based on fair value 

model, and is not reclassified as property plant and equipment during the redevelopment. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Investment property under development 

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property is classified 

as investment property under development and accounted for at fair value until construction or 

development is complete, at which time it is reclassified as investment property.  

 

Certain development assets within the Groupôs portfolio that are in very early stages of 

development process were categorised as ñland bankò without ascribing current market value to 

them.  Any value ascribed to such land bank projects other that their cost, would result in a gain 

or loss to be recognised in profit or loss.  This approach was adopted due to abnormal market 

volatility and will be reviewed in the future once market conditions are more stable. 

 

All costs directly related with the purchase and construction of a property, land lease payments, 

and all subsequent capital expenditure for the development qualifying as acquisition costs are 

capitalised. 
 

Capitalisation of financing costs 

Financing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or production of 

a qualifying asset.  Capitalisation of financing costs commences when the activities to prepare 

the asset are in process and expenditures and financing costs are being incurred.  Capitalisation 

of financing costs may continue until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.  If 

the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 

recognised. The capitalisation rate is arrived at by reference to the actual rate payable on 

borrowings for development purposes or, with regard to that part of the development cost 

financed out of general funds, to the average rate. The capitalised financing cost is limited to the 

amount of borrowing cost actually incurred. 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses.  

 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 

self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 

attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of 

dismantling and removing the assets and restoring the site on which they are located, and 

capitalise borrowing costs. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related 

equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 
 

All hotels are treated as property, plant and equipment due to our significant influence on their 

management. 
 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 

accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the 

difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is 

recognised in profit or loss. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Subsequent costs 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 

associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing repairs and maintenance is 

expensed as incurred. 

 

Depreciation 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis in profit or loss 

over the estimated useful lives of each component. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter 

of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain 

ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.   

 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and 

are ready for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is 

completed and ready for use. 

 

The annual depreciation rates for the current and comparative years are as follows: 
 

 Buildings 1-2% 

 Office equipment 10-33ӎ% 

 Motor vehicles 33ӎ% 
  

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 

adjusted if appropriate. 

 

Intangible assets 

Goodwill 

Goodwill arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Goodwill 

arising on acquisition represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Groupôs interest in 

the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. 

When the excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted 

investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, 

and any impairment loss is allocated to the carrying amount of the equity-accounted investee as a 

whole. 

 

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests 

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their 

capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result. Adjustments to non-

controlling interests arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on 

a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Trading Properties 

Trading Properties are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes 

expenditure incurred in acquiring the properties and bringing them to their existing condition. In 

the case of constructed trading properties, cost includes an appropriate share of direct and 

financing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 
 

Trading properties under construction 

Trading properties are defined as projects in which the Group participates as a contractor or as a 

promoter, and which include construction work with the intention to sell the entire building as a 

whole or parts thereof. Each project represents one building or a group of buildings.  
 

A group of buildings is considered one project when the buildings at the same building site are 

being constructed according to one building plan and under one building license, and are offered 

for sale at the same time. Trading properties include cost of land or of rights to the land that 

constitutes the relative portion of the area, on which the construction work on projects is 

performed, plus the cost of the work executed on the projects as well as other costs allocated 

thereto, less the cumulative amounts recognised in profit or loss as cost of trading properties sold 

up to the end of the reported period. 

 

Direct costs and expenses are charged to projects on a specific basis, whereas borrowing costs 

are allocated among the projects based on the relative proportion of the costs. Nonïspecific 

borrowing costs are capitalised to such qualifying asset, or portion thereof which was not 

financed with specific credit, by weightedïaverage rate of the borrowing cost up to the amount of 

borrowing cost actually incurred. Where the estimated expenses for a building project indicate 

that a loss is expected, an appropriate provision is set up.  Buildings that are under construction 

are classified as trading properties under construction on the face of the balance sheet. 

 

Inventory of real estate 

Land for future development of trading properties is classified as ñInventory of real estateò as 

non-current asset when it is not expected to develop and sell the properties within the Company 

normal operating cycle. It is presented at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

 

Deferred income 

Income received in advance is classified under current liabilities as deferred income and 

comprise rental income received for future periods and amounts received in advance for the sale 

of trading properties, for which recognition of revenue has not yet commenced. 

 

Impairment 

Non-derivative financial assets 

A financial asset not classified as at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is 

impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that loss event(s) had an impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Impairment (continued) 

Non-derivative financial assets (continued) 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 

difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the assetôs original effective interest rate.  

 

Individually significant financial assets are assessed for specific impairment. The remaining 

financial assets are collectively assessed for impairment by Grouping together assets with similar 

risks characteristics. 
 

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Groupôs non-financial assets, other than investment property, 

investment property under development, VAT recoverable, inventories and deferred tax assets, 

are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 

any such indication exists then the assetôs recoverable amount is estimated.  Goodwill and 

intangible assets are tested annually for impairment. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 

sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset. 

 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  

 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, impairment losses 

recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss 

has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 

the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to 

the extent that the assetôs carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 

Assets held for sale or distribution 

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be 

recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for 

sale or distribution. Immediately before classification as held for sale or distribution, the assets, 

or components of a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance with the Groupôs accounting 

policies. Thereafter generally the assets, or disposal group, are measured at the lower of their 

carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group first is 

allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no 

loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets, 

investment property or biological assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the 

Groupôs accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale or 

distribution and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. 

Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 

expensed as the related service is provided. A liability  is recognised for the amount expected to 

be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to 

pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 

estimated reliably. 

 

Share-based payment transactions 

The grant-date fair value of share-based payment options granted to employees is recognised as 

an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the 

employees unconditionally become entitled to the options. The amount recognised as an expense 

is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest. 

 

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which 

are settled in cash, is recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over 

the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is 

remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the 

liability are recognised as personnel expenses in profit or loss. 

 

Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 

discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

 

Revenue 

Sale of trading properties 

Revenue from sale of trading properties is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks 

and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer.  

 

Construction Management fee 

Revenue from construction management is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage 

of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by 

reference to surveys of work performed. 

 

Rental income 

Rental income from investment property is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease. Lease incentives are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, 

over the term of the lease. 
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3.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Finance income and finance costs 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and fair value gains on financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or 

loss, using the effective interest method. 

 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, fair value losses on financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss and impairment losses recognised on financial assets.   

 

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method, net of 

interest capitalised. 

 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance 

cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position. 

 

Tax 

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in 

profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other 

comprehensive income. 

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 

using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 

payable in respect of previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  

 

Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or 

liabilities that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  

 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 

when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 

tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 

taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets 

on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 

The provision for taxation either current or deferred is based on the tax rates applicable to the 

country of residence of each subsidiary. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Discontinued operations 

 A discontinued operation is a component of the Groupôs business that represents a separate major 

line of business or geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or 

is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as a discontinued 

operation occurs on disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for 

sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative 

statement of comprehensive income is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued 

from the start of the comparative year.  

 

Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares.  Basic 

EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the owners of Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.  Diluted EPS is 

determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to the owners and the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, 

which comprise share options granted to employees. 

 

Segment reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from 

which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 

transactions with any of the Groupôs other components. All segments results are reviewed 

regularly by the Groupôs management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 

segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

 

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations 

As from 1 January 2011, the Company adopted all of the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) and International Accounting Standards (IAS), which are relevant to its 

operations. The adoption of these Standards did not have a significant effect on the financial 

statements of the Company. 

 

The following Standards, Amendments to Standards and Interpretations had been issued but are 

not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2011: 

 

Standards and Interpretations adopted by the EU  

¶ IFRS 7 (Amendments)   ''Financial Instruments Disclosures'' Transfers of Financial Assets 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011). 

 

Standards and Interpretations not adopted by the EU 

¶ IFRS 1 (Amendments) ''Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-Time 

Adopters'' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011). 

¶ IFRS 7 (Amendments) ''Financial Instruments'' Disclosures - ''Offsetting Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities'' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 

¶ IFRS 7 (Amendments) ''Financial Instruments'' Disclosures ï ''Disclosures on transition to 

IFRS 9'' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015). 
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¶ IFRS 9 ''Financial Instruments'' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2015).  

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations 

(continued) 

 

Standards and Interpretations not adopted by the EU (continued) 

¶ IFRS 10 ''Consolidated Financial Statements'' (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2013). 

¶ IFRS 11 ''Joint Arrangements'' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2013). 

¶ IFRS 12 ''Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities'' (effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2013). 

¶ IFRS 13 ''Fair Value Measurement'' (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2013). 

¶ IAS 1 (Amendments) ''Presentation of items of other Comprehensive Income'' (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012). 

¶ IAS 12 (Amendments) ''Deferred tax'' Recovery of Underlying Assets: (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012). 

¶ IAS 19 (Amendments) ''Employee Benefits'' (effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2013). 

¶ IAS 27 (Revised) ''Separate Financial Statements'' (effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2013). 

¶ IAS 28 (Revised) ''Investments in Associates and Joint ventures'' (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 

¶ IAS 32 (Amendments) ''Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities'' (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014). 

¶ IFRIC 20 ''Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine'' (effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 

 

The Board of Directors expects that the adoption of the above financial reporting standards in 

future periods will not have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Company 

except for:  

 

¶ The adoption of IFRS 9 could change the classification and measurement of financial assets.  

¶ The adoptions of IAS 28 (Revised) that would change the accounting and presentation of 

Joint ventures in the consolidated financial statements. 

¶ The adoption of IFRS 10 could affect the consolidated financial statements. 

 

The extent of the impact has not been determined. 
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4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 

 

A number of the Groupôs accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair 

value for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined 

for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, 

further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the 

notes specific to that asset or liability. 

 

4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES (continued) 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination 

is based on market values. The market value of items of property, plant and equipment is the 

estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a 

willing buyer and a willing seller in an armôs length transaction after proper marketing wherein 

the parties had each acted knowledgeably. The market value of land and building and buildings 

under development is based on the quoted market prices for similar items when available and 

replacement cost when appropriate. 

 

Investment property 

An external, independent valuation company, having appropriate recognised professional 

qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of property being valued, values 

the Groupôs investment property portfolio. As fair values have to be reported quarterly, 

commencing 2009, instead of performing a full revaluation of the property portfolio twice a year, 

a two-step approach to the valuation of the investment property portfolio and of the investment 

property under development portfolio has been adopted: first, at the end of every quarter, the 

independent valuation company reviews the investment property portfolio to determine whether 

there has been a significant movement in the propertiesô values compared with their current book 

value. Should the independent valuation company determine that there has indeed been a 

material change in the values of certain properties, these properties are revalued and their book 

values are adjusted accordingly. Where there has been no such change in the values, no 

revaluation is ordered and the corresponding book values remain intact.  

 

The aggregate portfolio will be, however, revalued once a year with the resulting valuation to be 

published with the annual results.  The fair values are based on market values, being the 

estimated amount, for which a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between 

a willing buyer and a willing seller in an armôs length transaction after proper marketing wherein 

the parties had each acted knowledgeably. 

 

In the absence of current prices in an active market, the valuations are prepared by considering 

the aggregate of the estimated cash flows expected to be received from renting out the property. 

A yield that reflects the specific risks inherent in the net cash flows is then applied to the net 

annual cash flows to arrive at the property valuation. 

 

Valuations reflect, where appropriate, the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible 

for meeting lease commitments or likely to be in occupation after letting vacant accommodation, 
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and the marketôs general perception of their creditworthiness; the allocation of maintenance and 

insurance responsibilities between the Group and the lessee; and the remaining economic life of 

the property. When rent reviews or lease renewals are pending with anticipated reversionary 

increases, it is assumed that all notices and when appropriate counter-notices have been served 

validly and within the appropriate time. 

 

4. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES (continued) 

 

Share-based payment transactions 

The fair value of the employee share options is measured using a binomial lattice model. The fair 

value of share appreciation rights is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement 

inputs include the share price on measurement date, the exercise price of the instrument, 

expected volatility (based on an evaluation of the Companyôs historic volatility, particularly over 

the historic period commensurate with the expected term), expected term of the instruments 

(based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and 

the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance 

conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value. 

 

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

Overview  

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

¶ credit risk 

¶ liquidity risk 

¶ market risk. 
  

This note presents information about the Groupôs exposure to each of the above risks, the 

Groupôs objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Groupôs 

management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Risk management framework 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 

Groupôs risk management framework and is responsible for developing and monitoring the 

Groupôs risk management policies.  

 

The Groupôs risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 

the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 

limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 

market conditions and the Groupôs activities. The Group, through its training and management 

standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in 

which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

 

The Companyôs Audit Committee overseas how management monitors compliance with the 

Groupôs risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk 

management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Companyôs Audit 

Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both 

regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are 

reported to the Audit Committee. 
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Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Groupôs 

receivables from customers and investment securities. 

 

 

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Credit risk (continued) 

Trade and other receivables 

Financial assets which are potentially subject to credit risk consist principally of trade and other 

receivables. The carrying amount of trade and other receivable represents the maximum amount 

exposed to credit risk. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit 

exposures with respect to rental customers and buyers of residential including outstanding 

receivables. Approximately 12 percent of the Groupôs rental revenue is attributable to revenue 

from a single customer. However, geographically there is no concentration of credit risk.   

 

The Group has policies in place to ensure that, where possible rental contracts are made with 

customers with an appropriate credit history. Cash transactions are limited to high-credit-quality 

financial institutions. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. 

 

The Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk. Although collection of 

receivables could be influenced by economic factors, management believes that there is no 

significant risk of loss to the Group.  

 

Investments 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in liquid securities and only with 

counterparties that have a high credit rating. Management actively monitors credit ratings and 

given that the Group only has invested in securities with high credit ratings, management does 

not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations, except as disclosed in note 35. 

 

Guarantees 

The Groupôs policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. At 31 

December 2011 there was one guarantee outstanding under the non-revolving credit line from 

VTB Bank for RUR 8,488 million and one under the Joint Stock Commercial Savings Bank of 

the Russian Federation (ñSberbankò) loan for US$20 million. At 31 December 2010 the same 

were outstanding. 

 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial 

obligations as they fall due. The Groupôs approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 

possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 

normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 

Groupôs reputation. 

 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of 

funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out 

market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group aims to 

maintain flexibility in its funding requirements by keeping cash and committed credit lines 

available. 
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The Groupôs liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis by the management which take 

necessary actions if required. The Group structures its assets and liabilities in such a way that 

liquidity risk is minimised. 

 

 

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Liquidity risk  (continued) 

The Group maintains the following lines of credit as at 31 December 2011: 

¶ A non-revolving credit line from VTB Bank for RUR 8,448 million. The funds drawn under 

this credit line are being used to finance the construction of the Moscow-City Mall project. 

¶ An additional agreement with VTB bank of RUR5 billion for the financing of the 25% buy-

out of AFIMALL City from Moscow Government. 

¶ A non-revolving credit line from the Joint Stock Commercial Savings Bank of the Russian 

Federation (ñSberbankò) for US$280,000 thousand. The funds drawn under the credit line 

were used to finance the construction of the Tverskaya Zastava Shopping Centre project. 

¶ A five year US$74 million loan from Sberbank, obtained during the period by the 50% 

owned subsidiary Krown Investments LLC. The loan will be used to complete construction 

works at the Ozerkovskaya Embankment project, Phase III. 

¶ An additional four year US$20 million loan from Sberbank was obtained during the period. 

The loan is denominated in Russian Rouble and will be used for the reconstruction of 

Kalinina project. 

¶ A credit line from Nordea bank for US$170 million (the Groupôs 50% share is US$85 

million), for the refinance of an existing loan facility by MDM bank. 

 

Market risk   

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest 

rates and equity prices will affect the Groupôs income or the value of its holdings of financial 

instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 

exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

 

Currency risk 

The Group is exposed to currency risk on future commercial transactions, recognised monetary 

assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations that are denominated in a 

currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily the United 

States Dollars and Russian Roubles. The currencies in which these transactions primarily are 

denominated are Russian Roubles, United States Dollars, Euro and Ukrainian Hryvnia.   

 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes 

associated with the Groupôs processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from 

external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and 

regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational 

risks arise from all of the Groupôs operations. 

 

The Groupôs objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial 

losses and damage to the Groupôs reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control 

procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. 
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Operational risk  (continued) 

 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address 

operational risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility 

is supported by the development of overall Group standards for the management of operational 

risk in the following areas: 

 

¶ requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation 

of transactions 

¶ requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions 

¶ compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements 

¶ documentation of controls and procedures 

¶ requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of 

controls and procedures to address the risks identified 

¶ requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action 

¶ development of contingency plans 

¶ training and professional development 

¶ ethical and business standards 

¶ risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective 

 

Compliance with Group standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken 

by Internal Audit. The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of 

the business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted to the Audit Committee and 

senior management of the Group. 

 

Capital management 

The Boardôs policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 

market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  

 

There were no changes in the Groupôs approach to capital management during the year. Neither 

the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

The Company is committed to delivering the highest standards in boardroom practice and 

financial transparency through: 

¶ clear and open communication with investors; 

¶ maintaining accurate quarterly financial records which transparently and honestly reflect the 

financial position of its business; and  

¶ endeavouring to maximise shareholder returns. 

 

A full programme of investor relations activity ensures appropriate contact with institutional 

and private shareholders, with regular meetings, presentations and disclosure of important 

information. Great care is taken to provide suitably detailed information on the Groupôs 

activities and results to enable various stakeholders to understand the performance and 

prospects of the Group. 
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT  

 

 The Group has 4 reportable segments, as described below, which are the Groupôs strategic business units. 

The strategic business units offer different types of real estate products and services and are managed 

separately because they require different marketing strategies as they address different types of clients. For 

each strategic business unit the Groupôs management reviews internal management reports on at least a 

monthly basis. The following summary describes the operation in each of the Groupôs reportable 

segments. 

 

¶ Development Projects ï Commercial projects: Include construction of property for future lease. 

¶ Development Projects ï Residential projects: Include construction and selling of residential properties. 

¶ Asset Management: Includes the operation of investment property for lease. 

¶ Other ï Land bank: Includes the investment and holding of property for future development. 

 

 Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured 

based on segment profit before income tax, as included in the internal management reports that are 

reviewed by the Groupôs management team. Segment profit is used to measure performance as 

management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain 

segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined 

on an armôs length basis.  
 

 Development projects Asset management Other - land bank   

 Commercial projects Residential projects   Total  
 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 
           

External revenues - 898 15,929 30,183 116,982 43,041 1,013 870 133,924   74,992 

Inter-segment revenue  2 6 3 5 445 370 372 290 822 671 

           

Interest revenue 7,313 4,641 46 24 533 246 342 2,173 8,234 7,084 

           
Interest expense (32) (6,750) (679) (30) (41,351) (1,635) (1,201) (412) (43,263) (8,827) 

           

Depreciation (466) (146) - (18) (1,149) (896) (255) (214) (1870) (1,274) 

Reportable segment 

profit before tax 

 

(3,309) 

 

(6,179) 

 

9,080 

 

8,974 

 

3,660 

 

23,610 

 

(28,858) 

 

(14,765) 

 

(19,427) 

 

11,640 
           

Other material  

non-cash items: 

          

Net valuation 

gains/(losses) on 

properties (52,062) 15,012 18,042 66,651 248,685 10,725 54,324 (34,291) 268,989 58,097 

Reportable segment 

assets 

 

563,820 

 

1,476,158 

 

202,049 

 

226,086 

 

1,922,926 

 

472,995 

 

52,584 

 

47,632 

 

2,741,379 

 

2,222,871 

Reportable segment 

liabilities 

 

690,876 

 

662,614 

 

12,280 

 

11,917 

 

295,745 

 

12,991 

 

1,477 

 

3,459 

 

1,000,378 

 

690,981 
 

 
 

Note:  

Development projects: investment projects under construction, including construction of residential properties. 

Asset management: yielding property management (all commercial properties). 
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT (continued) 

 

 Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other material 

items. 

 

 2011 2010 

 US$ô000 US$ô000 

Revenues   

Total revenue for reportable segments 133,740 74,787 

Other revenue 1,006 876 

Elimination of inter-segment revenue      (822)       (671) 

Consolidated revenue 133,924   74,992 

   

   

Profit or loss   

Total profit or loss for reportable segments (19,427) 11,640 

Other profit or loss (1,638) 557 

Valuation gain on investment property 267,978 93,917 

Impairment loss reversal/(recognition) on property, plant 

and equipment 1,320 (16,893) 

Impairment of prepayment for investments (1,178) (17,676) 

Impairment loss on trading properties       (414)      (1,251) 

Consolidated profit before tax 246,641     70,294 

   

   

Assets   

Total assets for reportable segments 2,741,379 2,222,871 

Other unallocated amounts    143,703    206,252 

Consolidated total assets 2,885,082 2,429,123 

   

   

Liabilities    

Total liabilities for reportable segments 1,000,378 690,981 

Other unallocated amounts     17,348        6,521 

Consolidated total liabilities 1,017,726    697,502 

 

 

 Reportable 

segment totals 

 

Adjustments 

Consolidated 

totals 

 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 

    

Other material items 2011    

Interest revenue 8,234 - 8,234 

Interest expense 43,263 (3,137) 40,126 

Net valuation gain on properties   268,989              -   268,989 
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT (continued) 

 

 Reportable 

segment totals 

 

Adjustments 

Consolidated 

totals 

 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 

    

Other material items 2010    

    

Interest revenue 7,084 - 7,084 

Interest expense 8,827 (1,798) 7,029 

Net valuation losses on properties    58,097               -      58,097 

 

Geographical segments 

Geographically the segments operate in Russia and Ukraine. In presenting information on the basis of 

geographical segments, segment revenue and segment assets are based on the geographical location of 

the properties. 

 

  

Revenues 

Non-

current  

Assets 

 

Revenues 

Non-

current  

Assets 

 2011 2011 2010 2010 

 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 

     

Russia 133,917 2,537,483 74,985 1,951,525 

Ukraine            7      13,507          7      13,519 

 133,924 2,550,990 74,992 1,965,044 

 

Major customer 

Revenues from one customer of the asset management segment, represents approximately 12% of the 

Groupôs total rental revenue. 

 

7. OTHER INCOME 

 2011 2010 

Other income consist of: US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 14 36 

Sundries    740     195 

    754     231 

 

8. OTHER EXPENSES 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

 
  

Prior yearsô VAT non recoverable (note17) 2,335   3,344 

Land lease expense - 2,197 

Listing expenses - 2,079 

Sundries        8      259 

 2,343   7,879 
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9. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Interest income on loans receivable 7,557 4,655 

Interest/investment income on bank deposits and cash equivalents 677 2,429 

Change in fair value of other investments            -    6,573 

Finance income    8,234  13,657 

   

Interest expense on loans and borrowings (691) (684) 

Interest expense on bank loans (57,604) (49,807) 

Interest capitalised 18,169 43,462 

Net change in fair value of financial assets (327) (1,463) 

Other finance costs (2,265) (324) 

Net foreign exchange loss   (6,154)   (7,977) 

Finance costs (48,872) (16,793) 

   

Net finance costs (40,638)   (3,136) 

 
Subject to the provisions of IAS23 ñBorrowing costsò the Group capitalised US$18,169 thousand 

(2010: US$43,462 thousand) financing costs to the projects that are in construction phase.  These were 

added to the cost of the Investment property under development, US$18,156 thousand (2010: 42,809 

thousand) see note 13, and to the cost of Trading properties under construction US$13 thousand (2010: 

US$653 thousand) see note 19. 

 

10. TAX EXPENSE 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Current tax expense   

Current year 12,737 7,226 

Adjustment for prior years        882        930 

  13,619    8,156 

Deferred tax expense   

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  61,479  36,260 

   

Total tax expense  75,098  44,416 
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10. TAX EXPENSE (continued)   

   

The provision for taxation either current or deferred is based on the tax rates applicable to 
the country of residence of each Group entity. Cypriot entities are subject to 10% corporate 
rate whereas Russian subsidiaries are subject to 20% corporate rates.  

 

  2011  2010 

 % US$ ô000 % US$ ô000 

     

Profit for the year after tax  171,543  25,878 

Total tax expense    75,098   44,416 

Profit before tax  246,641   70,294 

     

Tax using the Companyôs domestic tax rate 10.00 24,664 10.00 7,029 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (6.52) (16,075) (1.85) (1,301) 

Tax exempt income (15.80) (38,980) (16.62) (11,683) 

Non deductible expenses 42.41 104,607 71.20 50,046 

Over provided in prior years 0.36        882 0.46       325 

 30.45  75,098 63.19  44,416 

 

The current tax liability of US$203 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: current tax 

asset of US$689 thousand) represents the amount of income tax payable/receivable in respect of 

current and prior periods net of payments made up to the year end. 

 

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 2011 2010 

Basic earnings per share US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders    170,870       25,516 
   

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
Shares in 

thousands 

Shares in 

thousands 
   

Issued shares at 1 January 1,047,694 523,847 

Effect of bonus issued on 2 July 2010                -    523,847 

Weighted average number of shares  1,047,694 1,047,694 
   

Earnings per share (cent)        16.31          2.44 

 
Diluted earnings per share are not presented as their assumed conversion would have an anti-dilutive 

effect i.e. increase in earnings per share. 
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Balance 1 January 192,973 140,476 

Transfer from investment property under development 822,376 23,592 

Acquisitions 203,849 - 

Renovations/additional cost 5,736 1,371 

Fair value adjustment 247,663 29,506 

Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates     (69,017)    (1,972) 

Balance 31 December 1,403,580 192,973 

 

The carrying amount of investment property is the fair value of the property as determined by a 

registered independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent 

experience in the location and category of the property being valued. Fair values were determined 

having regard to recent market transactions for similar properties in the same location as the Groupôs 

investment property.  The same applies for investment property under development in note 13 below. 

The last valuation took place on 31 December 2011. 

 

On 10 March 2011 AFIMALL City opened to the public. On that date it was reclassified from 

investment property under development to investment property. Its fair value did not materially differ 

from its carrying amount, US$797,026 thousand, and therefore no fair value gain or loss was 

recognised. So as to ensure sufficient parking space is available for customers of the mall, while the 

main parking area is being completed, the Company rented the required amount of parking space from 

the owners of adjacent buildings.  

 

On 30 September 2011 the Company completed the acquisition of the 25% share in AFIMALL City 

from the City of Moscow for a consideration of RUR5 billion including VAT, equivalent to 

approximately US$157 million.  Upon completion of the transaction, management estimated the fair 

value of 100% of the asset as of 30 September 2011 to an amount equivalent to US$1,077 million. As a 

result, the Company recorded, on 30 September 2011, a gain on revaluation of approximately US$112 

million, before tax (US$90 million after tax). On 11 February 2012 the Company received US$21 

million VAT reimbursement from the Russian tax authorities on VAT incurred during the 25% share 

acquisition of AFIMALL City, which resulted in the recognition of an additional US$21 million 

revaluation profit (before tax) in the 4
th
 quarter of 2011. 

 

On 16 December 2011 the Company acquired the parking area under the AFIMALL City for a 

consideration of RUR4 billion including VAT, equivalent to approximately US$126 million. On 31 

December 2011, the Company, based on a valuation provided by independent appraisers which valued 

the AFIMALL City including the parking acquired at US$1,160 million, recognised a revaluation gain 

of US$40,725 thousand before tax (US$32,580 thousand after tax)  

 

During the year the Company also completed Paveletskaya phase I project and reclassified it to 

investment property.  At the date of reclassification its fair value did not materially differ from its 

carrying amount, US$25,350 thousand, and therefore no fair value adjustment was recognised. 
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTY UNDER DEVELOPMENT 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Balance 1 January 1,674,585 1,290,191 

Construction costs 58,860 152,951 

Capitalised interest 18,156 42,809 

Transfer to investment property (822,376) (23,592) 

Transfer to trading properties - (301) 

Transfer from assets classified as held for sale  - 144,035 

Transfer from/(to) VAT recoverable 8,256 (13,724) 

Fair value adjustment 20,315 85,100 

Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates   25,802       (2,884) 

Balance 31 December 983,598 1,674,585 

 

The transfer to investment property, which took place during the first quarter of 2011, comprises 

projects AFIMALL City and Paveletskaya phase I, which were completed during the period, see note 

12. 

 

During the year, the Company reached a non-binding agreement with the City of Moscow under which, 

the City of Moscow will re-approve and renew the Companyôs development rights and leasehold 

interests in land plots at Plaza Ic (part of Plaza I), Plaza IIa and Plaza IV projects (which were partly 

subject to termination at the end of 2011) with total gross buildable area of approximately 170,000 sq. 

m. This compared to the previous area of approximately 192,000 sq. m. In addition, the City would not 

charge AFI Development municipal development rights costs of approximately US$95 million, which 

the Company had expected to pay in the course of the initial construction. The City of Moscow 

confirmed that the land plots can be developed as office space. To enable the City to prepare approval 

documentation for the Plaza IV project, the Company had to waive itsô ownership to seven land plots 

with total area of 2,145 sq. m. at 11, Gruzinsky Val, in favour of the Moscow municipality. Based on 

the independent appraiserôs valuation report as at 31 December 2011, this settlement represented full 

compensation for the book value of the Tverskaya Zastava shopping centre project. The other projects 

in the Tverskaya Zastava area (Plaza II and Plaza Ib, totalling approximately 111,500 sq. m. of gross 

buildable area) are not affected by the agreement and remain in the Companyôs land bank unchanged. 

Based on the aforementioned non-binding agreement the Company has written-off Tverskaya Zastava 

shopping centre on during the 4
th
 quarter of 2011. The effect of the aforementioned had no material 

impact on the income statement to the year 2011. 

 

During the second quarter of 2011, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company recorded a revaluation 

gain at the amount of US$13,137 thousand for the Paveletskaya Phase II project. The initial cost of the 

project was fully written off in previous years due to the Moscow real estate market situation and the 

uncertainty of the project's development. With the improvement of the Moscow real estate market 

during the years 2010 and 2011, the Company reassessed the development of the project and it is now 

in the pre-development stage. Therefore a revaluation based on an independent appraiserôs opinion was 

recorded. On 31 December 2011 the value based on the updated valuation of the independent appraiser 

decreased to US$11,475 thousand.  
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 Buildings 

 under  

construction  

 

Land & 

 Buildings 

 

Office   

Equipment 

 

Motor 

Vehicles 

 

 

Total 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Cost      

Balance at 1 January 2011 24,494 62,736 3,044 2,152 92,426 

Additions 7,935 298 1,253 160 9,646 

Reversal of Impairment loss 1,320 - - - 1,320 

Disposals - (38) (133) (80) (251) 

Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates (2,178) (3,269)   (166)   (195)  (5,808) 

Balance at 31 December 2011 31,571 59,727 3,998 2,037 97,333 
 

     

Accumulated depreciation      

Balance at 1 January 2011 - 693 1,889 1,442 4,024 

Charge for the year - 914 585 330 1,829 

Disposals - (37) (58) (61) (156) 

Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates           -    (104)   (162)   (132)    (398) 

Balance at 31 December 2011           -  1,466 2,254 1,579  5,299 
 

     

Carrying amount      

At 31 December 2011 31,571 58,261 1,744    458 92,034 

      

Cost      

Balance at 1 January 2010 39,536 61,735 2,509 2,007 105,787 

Additions 2,090 1,695 763 186 4,734 

Impairment (16,893) - - - (16,893) 

Disposals (28) (59) (209) (27) (323) 

Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates     (211)     (635)      (19)     (14)      (879) 

Balance at 31 December 2010 24,494 62,736  3,044 2,152  92,426 
      

Accumulated depreciation      

Balance at 1 January 2010 - 248 1,669 1,121 3,038 

Charge for the year - 502 435 337 1,274 

Disposals - (53) (201) (7) (261) 

Effect of movement in foreign exchange rates           -       (4)      (14)       (9)        (27) 

Balance at 31 December 2010           -      693  1,889 1,442    4,024 
      

Carrying amount      

At 31 December 2010 24,494 62,043  1,155    710  88,402 

      

 

 

The impairment charge for the year ended 31 December 2010 represents the decrease in fair value of the 

Kislovodskôs area hotels ñKalininaò and ñVersaillesò.  Part of this impairment was reversed during the year 

ended 31 December 2011, as the ñKalininaò hotel is close to completion and its market valued increased based 

on the opinion of independent appraisers. 
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15. LOANS RECEIVABLE 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Long-term loans   

Loans to non-related companies    34     38 

   

Short-term loans   

Loans to non-related companies  786     79 

 

Terms and loan repayment schedule 
 

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows: 
 

  Currency Nominal Year of  2011 2010 
  interest rate maturity US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

 
     

Loans to non-related companies RUR CBR 

rate*1.1 

2014 34 38 

 USD 2.5% 2012 705 - 

 

RUR 11% 

On 

demand 

 

   81 

 

    79 

     820   117 
 

The above loans are unsecured. 
 

16. INVENTORY OF REAL ESTATE 

 

On 31 December 2011, the Company reclassified its project ñBotanic Gardensò from current assets 

ñTrading properties under constructionò to non-current assets as ñInventory of real estateò, because the 

project was held for future development of trading properties which are not expected to be constructed 

within the Companyôs 3-year operating cycle.  Comparative figures have been reclassified as well to match 

current yearôs presentation. 

 

17. VAT RECOVERABLE 

 

Represents VAT paid on construction costs and expenses which according to the Russian VAT law can 

be recovered upon completion of the construction.  This VAT is expected to be recovered after more 

than 12 months from the balance sheet date.  Due to the uncertainties in the Russian tax and VAT law, 

the management has assessed the recoverability of this VAT and has provided for any amounts that 

their recoverability was deemed doubtful or questionable (see note 8). 

 

Under a revised Russian VAT legislation, VAT can also be claimed during the period of construction 

provided that all required documentation is presented to the VAT authorities. The Group was 

successful in recovering VAT during the year, and it is estimated that part of the VAT recoverable as at 

the year-end will be recovered within the next 12 months, which is classified as trade and other 

receivables, note 20. 
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18. TRADING PROPERTIES 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Balance 1 January  21,386 42,050 

Transfer from investment property under development - 301 

Fair value adjustment (414) (1,251) 

Disposals (10,345) (19,785) 

Effect of movements in exchange rates       426          71 

Balance 31 December  11,053   21,386 

 

Trading properties comprise of Four Winds II complex and Ozerkovskaya emb. 26 residential building 

complex. The Group has sold during the year a number of the remaining flats and parking places.  

 

19. TRADING PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION 
 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Balance 1 January after reclassification of comparative 105,962 171,229 

Reclassification of comparative year   68,842            - 

Balance 1 January as previously stated 174,804 171,229 

Acquisitions 23,174 - 

Construction costs 837 3,758 

Transfer to VAT recoverable (1,227) - 

Capitalised interest 13 653 

Reclassified as Inventory of real estate (note 16) (66,221) (68,842) 

Effect of movements in exchange rates    (1,782)       (836) 

Balance 31 December 129,598 105,962 

 

Trading properties under construction comprise of ñBotanic Gardensò and ñOtradnoyeò projects. Both 

projects involve primarily the construction of residential properties. On 31 December 2011, ñBotanic 

Gardensò was reclassified as non-current asset in ñInventory of real estateò, see note 16. 

The acquisition amount in 2011 above, represents the part of the parking area under the AFIMALL 

City, acquired during the year see note 12, which is under negotiation to be sold to a third party. 

 

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Advances to builders 26,393 36,206 

Amounts receivable from related companies (note 33) 2,575 9,007 

Trade receivables net 13,290 19,411 

Other receivables 15,523 15,176 

VAT recoverable (note 17) 47,749 55,796 

Tax receivables     1,640     1,110 

 107,170 136,706 
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 

 

Advances to builders 

On 31 December 2010 Advances to builders included an amount of US$5,803 prepaid to Danya Cebus 

Rus LLC, related party of the Group, for the construction of the AFIMALL City.  This amount is now 

zero after the completion of the Mall during the current year. 

 

Trade receivables net 

Trade receivables are presented net of an accumulated provision for doubtful debts of US$9,510 

thousand (2010: US$NIL) . 

 

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 2011 2010 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Cash at banks 84,798 129,829 

Cash in hand        22          10 

 84,820 129,839 

 

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 2011 2010 

Share capital US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Authorised    

2,000,000,000 shares of US$0.001 each     2,000    2,000 

   

Issued and fully paid   

523,847,027 A ordinary shares of US$0.001 each 

523,847,027 B ordinary shares of US$0.001 each 

524 

      524 

524 

      524 

    1,048    1,048 

 

There were no changes to the authorised or the issued share capital of the Company during the year 

ended 31 December 2011. 

 

In 2010, pursuant to the resolutions of the Companyôs AGM on 21 May 2010 the Company: 

¶ increased its authorized share capital from 1,000,000,000 shares of US$0.001 each to 

2,000,000,000 shares of US$0.001 each by creation of 1,000,000,000 new shares of nominal value 

of US$0.001 each to rank pari passu with the existing shares in the capital of the Company, 

¶ designated the 523,847,027 held by the existing shareholders as ñAò ordinary shares, together with 

100,000,000 unissued shares forming the part of the authorised share capital of the Company to be 

designated as ñAò ordinary shares and the remaining 1,376,152,973 unissued shares were 

designated as ñBò ordinary shares, 

¶ capitalised out of the share premium account an amount of US$523,847 against the issuance of 

523,847,027 ñBò ordinary shares of US$0.001 each, fully paid up, which were allotted and 

distributed as bonus shares to and amongst the shareholders of Company of 2 July 2010, on the 

basis of one ñBò share for every one existing ordinary share. 
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22. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 

 

Share capital (continued) 
On 5 July 2010 the Companyôs 523,847,027 ñBò shares, issued as bonus shares to the existing 

shareholders, were admitted to a premium listing on the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and 

to trading on the main market of London Stock Exchange (ñLSEò). 

 

The Company retained its GDR listing as well.  Since then each GDR represents one ñAò ordinary 

share on deposit with BNY (Nominees) Limited, as custodian. 

 

Share premium 

It represents the share premium on the issued shares on 31 December 2006 for the conversion of the 

shareholdersô loans to capital US$421,325 thousand. It also includes the share premium on the issued 

shares which were represented by GDRs listed in the LSE in 2007.  It was the result of the difference 

between the offering price, US$14, and the nominal value of the shares, US$0.001, after deduction of 

all listing expenses. An amount of US$1,399,900 thousand less US$57,292 thousand transaction costs 

was recognised during the year 2007. On 5 July 2010 an amount of US$524 thousand was capitalised 

as a result of bonus issued as described in share capital note above.  

 

Employee Share option plan 

The Company has established an employee share option plan operated by the Board of Directors, which 

is responsible for granting options and administrating the employee share option plan.  Eligible are 

employees and directors, excluding independent directors, of the Company and employees and 

directors of the ultimate holding company, Africa Israel Investments Ltd and its subsidiaries.  The 

employees share option plan is discretionary and options will be granted only when the Board so 

determines at an exercise price derived from the closing middle market price preceding the date of 

grant. No payment will be required for the grant of the options. In any 10 year period not more that 10 

per cent of the issued ordinary share capital may be issued or be issuable under the employee share 

option plan. 

 

As for 31 December 2011, there were valid options over 1,593,676 GDRs granted with an exercise 

price of US$7 vesting one-third on the second anniversary of the date of grant, a further one-third on 

the third anniversary and the remaining one-third, on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant 

provided that the participants remain in employment until the vesting date.  The vesting is not subject 

to any performance conditions. All 1,593,676 options granted have vested and their contractual life is 

ten years from the date of grant. 

 

If a participant ceases to be employed his options will normally lapse subject to certain exceptions. In 

the event of a takeover, reorganisation or winding up vested options may be exercised or exchanged for 

new equivalent options where appropriate.  Shares/GDRs issued under the plan will rank equally with 

all other shares at the time of issue.  The Board of Directors may satisfy (with the consent of the 

participant) an option by paying the participant in cash or other assets the gain as an alternative of 

issuing and transferring the shares/GDRs.  The Board of Directors may amend the rules of the plan at 

any time. 
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22. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 
 

Translation reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations to the Group presentation currency and the foreign exchange 

differences on loans designated as loans to an investee company which are accounted for as part of the 

investorôs investment (IAS21.15) as their repayment is not planned or likely to occur in the foreseeable 

future.  These foreign exchange differences are recognised directly to Translation Reserve. 
 

Retained earnings 

The amount at each reporting date is available for distribution. No dividends were proposed, declared 

or paid during the year ended 31 December 2011. 

 

23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Non-current liabilities    

Secured bank loans 528,111 434,352 

Unsecured loan from non-related company            5             - 

 528,116 434,352 

Current liabilities    

Secured bank loans 84,436 9,112 

Secured loan from non-related company - 10,161 

Unsecured loans from other non-related companies  14,537   14,610 

  98,973   33,883 

The loans comprise of the following: 
 

(i) A non-revolving credit line which was obtained from VTB Bank for RUR 8,448 million on 28 

August 2008. This credit line carries interest of 11.5% (rouble terms). The funds drawn under the 

credit line were used to finance the construction of the AFIMALL City  project. The credit line is 

secured by a pledge over 100% of the shares of Bellgate Constructions Limited, a lien over the 

development rights regarding the project, and a mortgage of commercial spaces when completed. 

AFI Developmentôs guarantee is one of the elements of collateral for this credit line.  
 

(ii)  An additional agreement with VTB bank of RUR5 billion for the financing of the 25% buy-out of 

AFIMALL City from Moscow Government. The loan agreement provides for a two year loan 

repayable on 28 August 2013, carrying interest of 11.5% with a further reduction to 9.5% upon 

receipt of the ownership certificate for the property and the mortgage registration in favour of VTB 

Bank. 
 

(iii)  A non-revolving credit line which was obtained from Sberbank for US$280 million during the year 

ended 31 December 2007.  Up to 31 December 2011 US$78,277 (2010: US$77,565) were drawn.  

The funds drawn under the credit line were used to finance the construction of the Tverskaya 

Zastava Shopping Centre project. This credit line carries interest of 9,5% plus 6month LIBOR 

minimum 1.5%. The credit line is secured by a pledge over 51% of the shares in the asset 

company, a lien over the development rights regarding the Tverskaya Zastava shopping mall 

project, and a mortgage over the shopping mall and its parking when completed.  Due to the 

transfer of the project to the City of Moscow, see note 13, the loan is under refinancing 

negotiations. As a result, the loan was reclassified to current liabilities as based on management 

expectations, will be repaid within the next 12 months. 
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23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 
 

(iv) A five year US$74 million loan from Sberbank which was obtained during the year 2010 by the 

50% owned subsidiary Krown Investments LLC. The loan is denominated in Russian Roubles and 

is being used to complete construction works at the Ozerkovskaya Embankment project, Phase III. 

It carries an initial interest rate of 13% which will be reduced to 11.75% at date when mortgage 

agreement will be presented to Sberbank. Up to 31 December 2011 the subsidiary withdrew 

RUR1,726 million (2010: RUR 629 million). 
 

(v) A four year US$20 million loan from Sberbank which was obtained during the year 2010 by the 

100% owned subsidiary Eitan K LLC. The loan is denominated in Russian Roubles and is being 

used for the reconstruction of Kalinina project. The loan carries an annual interest rate of 13.5% 

and due to subsidy of Ministry of Economic Development of the Stavropol Territory the rate is 

decrease to 6,75%. Up to 31 December 2011 the subsidiary withdrew RUR377 million (2010: 

RUR 76 million). 
 

(vi) A credit line from MDM Bank which was obtained by the 50% owned subsidiary Dulverton 

Limited was refinanced, in 2011, through Nordea Bank. Under the refinancing terms, the credit 

line was increased from US$143 million to US$170 million at an interest rate of 3 months 

LIBOR+4.5%, compared to the interest rate of 10.5% under the agreement with MDM bank. Part 

of the loan proceeds were used to repay the loan with MDM bank. 
 

(vii)   A secured loan which was obtained from the non-related company, Quasar Capital Limited, for 

US$60 million on 13 February 2006 and carried interest of 2.4% above 6 months US$ LIBOR was 

repaid in full during the year. 
 

Terms and debt repayment schedule 
 

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows: 
 

  Currency Nominal Year of 2011 2010 

  interest rate maturity US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

      
Secured loan from VTB Bank RUR 11.5%  2013 420,191 278,983 

Secured loan from Sberbank USD 6m USD 

LIBOR + 

9.5% 

2012 73,400 77,782 

 USD 13% 2015 23,279 10,356 

 USD 6,75% 2014 11,740 2,508 

Secured loan from MDM Bank USD 10.5% 2017 - 73,835 

Secured loan from Nordea Bank USD 3m USD 

LIBOR + 

4.5% 

2018 83,937 - 

Secured loan from Quasar Capital Limited USD 6m USD 

LIBOR + 

2.4% 

2011 - 10,161 

Unsecured loans from non-related companies USD 12% 2012 1,027 1,036 

 USD 0% 2012 454 430 

 RUR 18.5% 2012 5,808 5,499 

 RUR 0% 2012 6,486 6,852 

 RUR 12% 2012 78 78 

 RUR 0.1% - 5% 2012       689       715 

    627,089 468,235 
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23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 

 

 2011 2010 

The loans and borrowings are payable as follows: US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Less than one year 98,973 33,883 

Between one and five years 469,254 380,352 

More than five years   58,862   54,000 

 627,089 468,235 

 

24. LONG TERM AMOUNTS PAYBLE 

  

Represents an amount payable to the City of Moscow, for the acquisition of the parking area under the 

AFIMALL Ci ty, see note 12 for more details.  The amount is payable in three yearly installments starting 

from February 2012 and with the last falling due in February 2014.  The amount payable within the next 

twelve months is presented as current liability in ñTrade and other payablesò, see note 26 below. 

 

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 

Deferred tax (assets) and liabilities are attributable to the following: 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Investment property 114,505 17,468 

Investment property under development 62,131 46,458 

Property, plant and equipment (6,890) 38,763 

Trading properties (701) 72 

Trading properties under construction 4,704 (4,222) 

Trade and other receivables (2,659) (1,026) 

Long term loans and borrowings (1,330) (319) 

Short term loans and borrowing 902 (197) 

Trade and other payables  3,061 2,776 

Other items (123) 1,583 

Tax losses carried forward (31,507) (20,162) 

Deferred tax liability 142,093  81,194 

 

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Trade payables 8,276 1,845 

Payables to related parties 6,893 1,751 

Amount payable to builders 6,056 10,650 

VAT and other taxes payable 7,245 2,299 

Receipts in advance from sale of investment 21,998 45,867 

Amount payable for the acquisition of properties (note 24) 41,473 - 

Other payables   62,151   57,422 

   154,092 119,834 

The above are payable within one year and bear no interest. 
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 
 

Payables to related parties 

Include an amount of US$5,066 thousand (31/12/10: US$NIL) payable to Danya Cebus Rus LLC, 

related party of the Group, for new contracts signed in relation to the completion of AFIMALL City. 
 

Receipts in advance from sale of investment 

Represents an amount refundable to the buyer of Kosinskaya project. In Novemebr 2011 the Company 

agreed to settle all mutual claims with Bedhunt Holdings Ltd, the buyer, by paying the total settlement 

amount of US$44 million. The settlement amount is payable to an escrow account in 10 tranches with 

the final tranche payable on 1 July 2012. Upon full payment of the settlement amount, the Company 

will be entitled to register the shares of Rognestar Finance Limited in its name.  Up to 31 December 

2011 the Company paid back US$22 million. 
 

Other payables  

Include an amount of US$48,869 thousand (2010: US$51,869 thousand) payable to the 50% partner of 

the joint venture Krown Investments LLC. 

 

27. DEFERRED INCOME 
 

Represents rental income received in advance, which corresponds to periods after the reporting date. 
 

28. JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 

Included in the consolidated financial statements are the following items that represent the Groupôs 

interests in the assets and liabilities, income and expenses of the joint ventures: 
 

  Current Non-current Current Non-current   Profit / 

 Ownership  assets assets liabilities liabilities Income Expenses (loss) 

  US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

2011:         

Nouana Limited 50% 138 3,779 48 10,640 - (1,401) (1,401) 

OOO Tirel 50% 1,965 12,291 954 9,767 4,169 (4,253) (84) 

ZAO Kama Gate 50% - - - - - - - 

OOO Krown Investments  50% 9,732 126,670 9,555 59,529 11,490 (9,248) 2,242 

Westec Four Winds Limited 50% 22,372 139,584 25,998 58,823 43,711 (35,469) 8,242 

Dulverton Limited 50%     9,353 251,091 21,252 104,947 114,578  (63,640)  50,938 

    43,560 533,415 57,807 243,706 173,948 (114,011)  59,937 

         

2010:         

Nouana Limited 50% 163 4,016 50 9,932 - (3,776) (3,776) 

OOO Tirel 50% 2,098 13,072 597 10,758 4,352 (2,913) 1,439 

ZAO Kama Gate 50% - - - - - - - 

OOO Krown Investments  50% 31,508 141,283 11,844 93,702 79,329 (22,919) 56,410 

Westec Four Winds Limited 50% 8,025 144,046 12,062 52,359 8,414 (17,919) (9,505) 

Dulverton Limited 50%   10,488 212,351   7,606   90,490   45,318 (18,922) 26,396 

    52,282 514,768 32,159 257,241 137,413 (66,449) 70,964 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Credit risk  

 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum 

exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

  Carrying amount  

  2011 2010 

 Note US$ô000 US$ô000 

    

Long term loans receivable 15 34 38 

Short term loans receivable 15 786 79 

VAT recoverable 17 53,119 64,689 

Cash and cash equivalents 21 84,798 129,829 

Trade and other receivables 20   33,028   44,704 

  171,765 239,339 

    

 

Liquidity risk  

 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 

payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements: 

 
31 December 2011 Carrying  Contractual 6 months 6-12   More than 

 Amount Cash flow or less months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years 

 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 

        

Secured bank loans 612,547 (755,725) (38,257) (39,763) (485,950) (128,657) (63,098) 

Secured loans 5 (5)  (5) - - - 

Unsecured loans 14,537 (15,153) (14,838) (315) - - - 

Long term payables 71,627 (82,946) - - (41,473) (41,473) - 

Trade and other payables 154,092 (154,092) (154,092) - - - - 

 
31 December 2010 Carrying  Contractual 6 months 6-12   More than 

 Amount Cash flow or less months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years 

 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 US$ô000 

        

Secured bank loans 443,464 (615,943) (29,310) (32,554) (63,994) (425,555) (64,530) 

Secured loans 10,161 (10,188) (10,188) - - - - 

Unsecured loans 14,610 (14,610) (14,468) (142) - - - 

Trade and other payables 73,967 (73,967) (73,967) - - - - 

 

 

Currency risk  

 

Sensitivity analysis 

The following shows the magnitude of changes in respect of a number of major factors influencing the 

Groupôs profit before taxes. The assessment has been made on the year-end figures. 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

Currency risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity analysis (continued) 

A 10% strengthening of the United States Dollar against the following currencies at 31 December 2011 

would have increased/ (decreased) equity and profit for the year by the amounts shown below. This 

analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is 

performed on the same basis for 2010. 

  

Equity 

Profit for 

the year 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

31 December 2011   

Russian Roubles 11,701 2,775 

Ukrainian Hryvnia 2,077 227 

   

31 December 2010   

Russian Roubles (24,265) 181 

Ukrainian Hryvnia 3,057 125 

 

A 10% weakening of the United States Dollar against the above currencies at 31 December 2011 

would have the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the 

basis that all other variables remain constant.  

 

Interest rate risk 

 

Profile 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Groupôs interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

 Carrying amount 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Fixed rate instruments   

Financial assets 85,584 111,932 

Financial liabilities (469,752) (380,292) 

 (384,168) (268,360) 

Variable rate instruments    

Financial assets 34 18,023 

Financial liabilities (157,337)   (87,943) 

 (157,303)   (69,920) 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/ (decreased) 

equity and profit for the year by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 

variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same 

basis for 2010. 

 

  

Equity 

Profit for 

the year 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

31 December 2011   

Variable rate instruments            - (1,573) 

   

31 December 2010   

Variable rate instruments           -   (699) 

 

A decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have the equal but opposite 

effect on the above instruments to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables 

remain constant.  

 

Fair values 

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 

between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation and is best evidenced by an active 

quoted market price. 

 

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available 

market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However judgement is 

required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. 

 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are not materially different than their carrying amount 

shown in the balance sheet.  

 

Russian Business Environment 

The Russian Federation continues to display some characteristics of an emerging market and economic 

conditions continue to limit the volume of activity in the financial markets. Market quotations may be 

outdated or reflect distress sale transactions and therefore not represent fair values of financial 

instruments. 
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30. OPERATING LEASES 
 

Leases as lessee 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

 
  

Less than a year 3,313 4,629 

Between one and five years 11,803 11,129 

More than five years 24,273 23,625 

 39,389 39,383 

 
  

Amount recognised as an expense during the year   2,521   3,261 

 

The ownership of land in the Russian Federation is rare and especially within Moscow region, in which 

all of the property with only a few exceptions, is owned by the City of Moscow. The majority of land is 

occupied by private entities pursuant to lease agreements between occupants, of the building located on 

the land, and the City of Moscow. The Group has several long-term operating leases for land. These 

leases are entered into with the intention and right to develop the land and carry out construction. 

Typically they run for an initial period of one to five years which is the period of development and 

upon completion of development the developer has the right to renew for a long term period of usually 

up to 49 years. Under both leases the lessee is required to make periodic lease payments, generally on a 

quarterly basis to the City of Moscow. 

 

There is also the option of long term land lease prior to commencement of construction which the 

developer can acquire with a lump sum payment that is determined from time to time by the City of 

Moscow and is based on the size of the land, its location and the proximity to amenities.  The Group 

has two such land rights and they run for period of 49 years. 

 

Leases as lessor 

The Group leases out investment property under operating leases.  The future minimum lease payments 

under non-cancellable leases are as follows: 

 

 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   

Less than a year 68,510 99,186 

Between one and five years 1,148,735 391,835 

More than five years    150,935   71,422 

 1,368,180 562,443 

   

Amount recognised as income during the year   116,989   43,946 
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31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS  
 

Up to 31 December 2011 the Group has entered into a number of contracts for the construction of 

investment or trading properties:  

 

Project name Commitment 
 2011 2010 
 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

   
AFIMALL City (ex Mall of Russia) 4,492 22,224 
Ozerkovskaya Embankment - Phase II 15,119 29,256 
Four Winds II              -      753 

 19,611 52,233 
 

The following is a summary of the most significant contracts giving rise to future capital commitments: 
 

AFIMALL City  project includes a contract with Danya Cebus Rus LLC who are acting as the general 

constructors of the project. The amount of future capital commitment according to the contract is 

US$4,492 thousand.  

 

Ozerkovskaya Embankment ï Phase II project includes a contract with Danya Cebus Rus LLC who is 

acting as the general constructor of the project. The amount of future capital commitment according to 

the contract is US$15,119 thousand. 
 

32. CONTINGENCIES 

 

There werenôt any contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2011. 

 

33. RELATED PARTIES 

 

Outstanding balances with related parties 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Assets   

Amounts receivable from joint ventures 2,546 4,388 

Advances issued to other related companies - 5,803 

Amounts receivable from other related companies       29 4,619 

   

Liabilities   

Amounts payable to ultimate holding company 38 157 

Amounts payable to other related companies 6,855 1,594 

 

All outstanding balances with these parties are priced at an armôs length basis and are to be settled in 

cash. None of the balances is secured. 
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33. RELATED PARTIES (continued) 

 

Transactions with the key management personnel 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Key management personnel compensation comprised:   

Short-term employee benefits 2,450 2,370 

 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director 

(whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. The person is a member of the key management 

personnel of the entity or its parent (includes the immediate, intermediate or ultimate parent). Key 

management is not limited to directors; other members of the management team also may be key 

management.  

 

Other related party transactions 2011 2010 

 US$ ô000 US$ ô000 

Revenue   

Joint venture ï consulting services 1,006 863 

Joint venture ï interest income 7,545 4,592 

 

Expenses   

Ultimate holding company ï administrative expenses    809     303 

 

34. GROUP ENTITIES 

 

Ultimate controlling party:  Lev Leviev Israel 

 

Ultimate holding company: Africa Israel Investments Limited Israel 

 

Holding company: Africa Israel Investments Limited Israel 

 

Significant Subsidiaries Ownership interest Country of incorporation  

2011  2010 
 

1. OOO Avtostoyanka Tverskaya Zastava  100 100  Russian Federation 

2. OOO MayStroy 100 100  Russian Federation 

3. OOO InzhStroy AG 100 100  Russian Federation 

4. OOO IncomStroy - 100  Russian Federation 

5. OOO Tain Investments - 100  Russian Federation 

6. OOO AFI Development  100 100  Russian Federation 

7. OOO Ozerkovka 100 100  Russian Federation 

8. OOO Corin Development 100 100  Russian Federation 

9. OOO LessyProf 100 100  Russian Federation 

10. OAO Moskovskiy Kartonazhno-poligraphiche 

skiy Kombinat (MKPK) 99.1 99.1  Russian Federation 

11. Bellgate Construction Limited  100 100  Cyprus 

12. Moscow City Centre PLC - 100  United Kingdom 



 

AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC  

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

124 
 

 

 

 

 

34. GROUP ENTITIES (continued) 

 

Significant Subsidiaries Ownership interest Country of incorporation 

2011 2010 

 

13. Slytherin Development Limited 100 100  Cyprus 

14. OOO Ultrastroy 100 100  Russian Federation 

15. OOO Ultrainvest 100 100  Russian Federation 

16. OOO Regionalnoe AgroProizvodstvennoe 

Objedinenie (RAPO) 100 100  Russian Federation 

17. Severus Trading Limited 100 100  Cyprus 

18. OOO Aristeya 100 100  Russian Federation 

19. Talena Development Limited 100 100  Cyprus 

20. Buildola Properties Limited 100 100  Cyprus 

21. Bugis Finance Limited  100 100  British Virgin Islands 

22. Borenco Enterprises Limited 100 100  Cyprus 

23. OOO StroyInkom-K 100 100 Russian Federation 

24. OOO PSO Dorokhovo 100 100 Russian Federation 

25. Scotson Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

26.  ZAO Armand 100 100 Russian Federation 

27.  OOO Project+ 100 100 Russian Federation 

28.  OOO Volga StroyInkom Development 100 100 Russian Federation 

29.  OOO Volga Land Development 100 100 Russian Federation 

30.  Krusto Enterprises Limited   100 100 Cyprus 

31.  Keyri Trading & Investments Ltd 100 100 Cyprus 

32.  OOO Favorit 100 100 Russian Federation 

33.  OOO KO Proekt 100 100 Russian Federation 

34.  ZAO Nedra Publishing 90.17 90.17 Russian Federation 

35.  OOO Titon 100 100 Russian Federation 

36.  ZAO UMM Stroyenergomekhani  

      zatsiya 100 100 Russian Federation 

37.  Rognerstar Finance Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

38.  Hermielson Investments Ltd 100 100 Cyprus 

39.  ZAO Firm Gloria 100 100 Russian Federation 

40.  Bundle Trading Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

41.  ZAO MTOK 99.38 99.38 Russian Federation 

42. Bioka Investments Limited 90 90 Cyprus 

43. OOO Nordservis 90 90 Russian Federation 

44.  AFI Development Hotels Limited  100 100 Cyprus 

45. Eitan (Cyprus) Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

46. OOO Eitan 100 100 Russian Federation 

47. OOO Eitan K 100 100 Russian Federation 

48.  Sherzinger Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

49.  Rubiosa Management Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

50. OOO Stroycapital 60 60 Russian Federation 

51. Bastet Estates Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

52.  OOO Semprex 100 100 Russian Federation 
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34. GROUP ENTITIES (continued) 

 

Significant Subsidiaries Ownership interest Country of incorporation  

2011  2010 

 

53.  Beslaville Management Limited    95 95 Cyprus 

54.  OOO Zheldoruslugi   95 95 Russian Federation 

55.  OOO RealProject   95 95 Russian Federation 

56. Amerone Development Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

57. Hegemony Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

58. OOO Extra Plus 100 100 Russian Federation  

59. Inscribe Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

60. OOO AFI RUS Parking Management 100 100 Russian Federation  

61. OOO Cristall Development 100 100 Russian Federation  

62. OOO North Investments 100 100 Russian Federation 

63.  OOO Region-K 100 100 Russian Federation 

64. Grifasi Investments Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

65. Occuper Holdings Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

66. OOO Adnera 100 100 Russian Federation 

67.  OOO AFI RUS  100 100 Russian Federation 

68.  LL Avia Management SA 100 100 British Virgin Islands 

69. OOO AFI Region 100 100 Russian Federation 

70. OOO AFI RUS Management 100 100 Russian Federation 

71. OOO Bizar 74 74 Russian Federation 

72. OOO Sever Region K  100 100 Russian Federation 

73. AFI Ukraine Limited 100  100 Cyprus 

74.  OOO AFI-DS 1 100 100 Ukraine 

75.  OOO AFI-DS 2 100 100 Ukraine 

76.  OOO AFI-DS 3 100 100 Ukraine 

77.  OOO Budinkom-Ukraine 100 100 Ukraine 

78.  Jaquetta Investments Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

79.  Amakri Management Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

80.  OOO OR-Avner 100 100 Ukraine 

81.  OOO ABG-Sozidatel 100 100 Ukraine 

82.  AFI D Finance SA 100 100 British Virgin Islands 

83. Falgaro Investments Limited 100 100 Cyprus 

84.  Ropler Engineering Limited 100 100 British Virgin Islands 

85. OOO CDM 100  100 Russian Federation 

86. LLC StroyInvest 100 - Russian Federation 

87. Ironaqua Holdings Ltd 100 - Cyprus 

Jointly controlled entities 

1.  OOO Krown Investments 50 50 Russian Federation 

2.  Westec Four Winds Limited 50 50 Cyprus 

3.  Dulverton Limited 50 50 Cyprus  

4.  Nouana Limited 50 50 Cyprus 

5.  OOO Tirel 50 50 Russian Federation 

6.  ZAO Kama Gate 50 50 Russian Federation 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2011 the Group did not acquire any subsidiaries. 

 

 



 

AFI DEVELOPMENT PLC  

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2011 

126 
 

 

 

 

 

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

 

Subsequent to 31 December 2011 there were no events that took place which have a bearing on the 

understanding of these financial statements except of the following: 

a. On 22 February, 2012, the Company announced that subsidiary Bellgate Construction Ltd 

("Bellgate") has obtained a loan facility from VTB Bank OJSC to finance Bellgate's recent 

acquisition of the parking area under AFIMALL City. The loan, which totalled RUR 4 billion 

(approximately US$134 million), was provided on terms essentially similar to those on the 

existing AFIMALL City loans provided by VTB Bank OJSC. On 28 February, Bellgate has 

drowned down the first tranche of the loan, in the amount of RUR 1.333 billion (approximately 

US$46 million).  

 

b. On 2 March, 2012, the Company announced that Bellgate had successfully registered the 

mortgage, related to the loans provided by VTB Bank OJSC, over the premises of AFIMALL 

City (excluding the parking). Under the existing loan facility agreements with VTB Bank OJSC, 

registration of the mortgage triggers an immediate decrease of about 2% in the interest rates 

charged on loans taken out on the Mall and its parking (terms of very significant bank loans are 

disclosed in note 23). 

 

c. In March 2012, the Company disposed the subsidiary Roppler Engineering Inc. and its Russian 

subsidiary Tsentr Dosuga Molodezhi LLC, which were part of ñKuntsevoò project, for nominal 

value, to a third party. The disposal was driven by cost cutting considerations, as the Russian 

subsidiary was part to an expensive lease contract of a building in ñKuntsevoò area of Moscow. 

Following the decision of the Moscow government dated 20 September 2011 to cancel the 

reconstruction programme of transportation hub near ñKuntsevskayaò metro station, the 

Company did not see further possibilities to secure any development rights to the disposed 

subsidiaries. 

 

d. In March 2012, the Company completed the disposal of ñOzerkovskaya Phase IVò project for 

total consideration of US$6 million. The project, consisting of freehold title to an office building 

with a total area of 1,864.3 sq.m. and leasehold rights to underlying land plot, located at 3, 

Ozerkovsky Lane, Moscow, had a book value of US$2,850 thousand as at the year end. 
 


